YEARBOOK OF THE INTERNATIONAL LAW COMMISSION

2005

Volume I Part One

Documents of the fifty-seventh session (Addendum)



YEARBOOK OF THE INTERNATIONAL LAW COMMISSION

2005

Volume II Part One

Documents of the fifty-seventh session (Addendum)



NOTE

Symbols of United Nations documents are composed of capital letters combined with figures. Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a United Nations document.

References to the *Yearbook of the International Law Commission* are abbreviated to *Yearbook* ..., followed by the year (for example, *Yearbook* ... 2005).

The Yearbook for each session of the International Law Commission comprises two volumes:

Volume I: summary records of the meetings of the session;

Volume II (Part One): reports of special rapporteurs and other documents considered during the session*:

Volume II (Part Two): report of the Commission to the General Assembly.

All references to these works and quotations from them relate to the final printed texts of the volumes of the *Yearbook* issued as United Nations publications.

*

* *

A/CN.4/SER.A/2005/Add.1 (Part 1/Add.1)

UNITED NATIONS PUBLICATION

Sales No.: E.21.V.2 ISBN: 978-92-1-130419-0 eISBN: 978-92-1-005506-2

> ISSN: 0082-8289 eISSN: 2412-1525

^{*} The Memorandum of the Secretariat, which was originally issued in mimeographed form, is reproduced in the present volume, incorporating the corrigenda issued by the Secretariat and the editorial changes required for the presentation of the final text.

CONTENTS

	Page
Effect of armed conflict on treaties (agenda item 8)	
Document A/CN.4/550. The effect of armed conflict on treaties: an examination of practice and doctrine. Memorandum by the Secretariat	1
Checklist of documents of the fifty-seventh session	59

THE EFFECT OF ARMED CONFLICT ON TREATIES

[Agenda item 8]

DOCUMENT A/CN.4/550*

The effect of armed conflict on treaties: an examination of practice and doctrine

Memorandum by the Secretariat

[Original: English] [1 February 2005]

CONTENTS

Abbrev	viatio	ns	
Note c	oncei	ning quotations	
Multila	ateral	instruments cited in the present document	
Summa	ary		
			Paragraphs
Introi	OUCT	ION	1–8
	A.	Nature of the topic	1–2
	В.	Difficulties inherent in the study of the topic	3–6
	C.	Past studies of the topic	7–8
Chapter	r	•	
I.		ORETICAL APPROACHES TO THE TOPIC	9–16
	Α.	Common tests	9–13
	В.	General conclusions.	14–16
II.	Сат	EGORIZATION OF THE EFFECT OF ARMED CONFLICT ON TREATIES	17–78
	A.	Treaties exhibiting a very high likelihoodof applicability	18–36
		1. Humanitarian law treaties	18–25
		2. Treaties containing express provisions on wartime applicability	26
		3. Treaties creating or regulating a permanent regime or status	27–30
		4. Treaties or treaty provisions codifying jus cogens rules	31
		5. Human rights treaties	32–34
		6. Treaties governing intergovernmental debt	35
		7. Diplomatic conventions	36
	B.	Treaties exhibiting a moderately high likelihood of applicability	37-51
		Reciprocal inheritance treaties.	37–46
		2. Multilateral "law-making" conventions	47-51
	C.	Treaties exhibiting a varied or emerging likelihood of applicability	52–76
		International transport agreements	53-57
		2. Environmental treaties	58–63
		3. Extradition treaties	64–66
		4. Border-crossing treaties	67
		5. Treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation.	68–74
		6. Intellectual property treaties	75
		7 Penal transfer treaties	76

^{*} Incorporating documents A/CN.4/550/Corr.1 and 2.

Chapter			Paragraphs Pa	age
	D.	Treaties exhibiting a low likelihood of applicability	77–78	32
		Treaties inapplicable through express provisions	77	32
		2. Treaties incompatible in practice	78	32
III.	Тні	E EFFECT OF THE SECOND WORLD WAR ON TREATIES	79–81	32
IV.	Мо	dern State practice	82–119	34
	A.	Selected countries	82–91	34
		1. Greece		34
		2. France		34
		3. Austria as permanent neutral		35
		4. Spain		35
		5. Australia		35
		United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland		35
		7. Seychelles		35
		8. Italy		35
		9. Netherlands	90	36
		10. Israel	91	36
	В.	Selected armed conflicts after the Second World War	92–119	36
		1. Korea, 1950 to 1953	92	36
		2. Suez Canal Base incident, 1956		36
		3. China and India, 1962		37
		4. India and Pakistan, 1965		37
		5. India and Pakistan, 1971		37
		6. Viet Nam war, 1957 to 1975		37
		7. Turkey and Cyprus, 1974		37
		8. Soviet Union and Afghanistan, 1979 to 1989		37
		9. Islamic Republic of Iran–Iraq war, 1980 to 1988		38
		10. Argentina and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, 1982	103–104	38
		11. Gulf war, 1991	105–107	39
		12. Sierra Leone civil war, 1991 to 2001	108–109	40
		13. Guinea-Bissau civil war, 1998	110	41
		14. Former Yugoslavia, 1998	111–113	41
		15. Afghanistan, 2001	114–116	42
		16. Iraq war, 2003	117	43
		17. Ethiopia and Eritrea, 1998 to the present	118	43
		18. Ethiopia and Somalia, present	119	43
V.	Rel	ATIONSHIP OF THE TOPIC TO OTHER LEGAL DOCTRINES	120–142	43
	A.	Rebus sic stantibus	121–126	43
	В.	Circumstances precluding wrongfulness in the law of State responsibility		45
	C.	Necessity and proportionality	136	47
	D.	Neutrality	137–138	47
	E.	Impossibility of performance	139	48
	F.	Martens clause	140–142	48
VI.	Оті	HER CONTEMPORARY ISSUES	143–159	49
	Α.	Armed conflict within operations under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations		49
	В.	Domestic hostilities		50
	D. С.	The distinction between bilateral and multilateral treaties		50
	C. D.	Separability of particular articles		50 51
	E.	Length of treaty suspension	158–159	52
VII.	Con	NCLUSION	160–164	53
Annex.	В	ibliography		54

ABBREVIATIONS

ICRC International Committee of the Red Cross

RUF Revolutionary United Front

*

AFDI Annuaire français de droit international (Paris)

AJIL American Journal of International Law (Washington, D.C.)
BYBIL The British Year Book of International Law (London)

AD Annual Digest [and Reports] of Public International Law Cases

I.C.J. Reports International Court of Justice, Reports of Judgments, Advisory Opinions and Orders. All the Court's

judgments, advisory opinions and orders are available on its website (www.icj-cij.org).

ILM International Legal Materials (Washington, D.C.)

ILR International Law Reports (Cambridge)

P.C.I.J., Series A Permanent Court of International Justice, Collection of Judgments (Nos. 1-24: up to and

including 1930)

P.C.I.J., Series A/B Permanent Court of International Justice, Collection of Judgments, Orders and Advisory Opinions

(Nos. 40-80: beginning in 1931)

UNRIAA United Nations, Reports of International Arbitral Awards

U.S. Stat. United States Statutes at Large

* *

In the present volume, "International Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia" refers to the International Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons Responsible for Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law Committed in the Territory of the Former Yugoslavia since 1991.

* *

NOTE CONCERNING QUOTATIONS

In quotations, words or passages in italics followed by an asterisk were not italicized in the original text.

Unless otherwise indicated, quotations from works in languages other than English have been translated by the Secretariat.

* *

The Internet address of the International Law Commission is http://legal.un.org/ilc/.

Multilateral instruments cited in the present document

Treaty of Breda (Breda, 31 July 1667)

Treaty between Great Britain, Russia and the Netherlands, relative to the Russian Dutch Loan (London, 19 May 1815)

Convention of Friendship, Commerce and Navigation between the United States of America and the Free Hanseatic Republics of Lübeck, Bremen, and Hamburg (Washington, D.C., 20 December 1827)

Treaty of Paris (Paris, 30 March 1856)

Declaration respecting maritime law (Declaration of Paris) (Paris, 16 April 1856)

Convention relative to the Navigation of the Rhine between Baden, Bavaria, France, Hesse-Damstadt, the Netherlands and Prussia (Mannheim, 17 October 1868)

Declaration of London (London, 17 January 1871)

Treaty of London (London, 13 March 1871)

Treaty establishing the General Postal Union (Berne, 9 October 1874), revised by the Convention establishing the Universal Postal Union (Paris, 1 June 1878)

Treaty of Berlin (Berlin, 13 July 1878)

First Treaty of Alliance between Austria-Hungary, Germany and Italy (Vienna, 20 May 1882)

General Act of the Conference of Berlin (Berlin, 26 February 1885)

Convention respecting the Free Navigation of the Suez Maritime Canal (Constantinople, 29 October 1888)

Convention concerning the Formation of an International Union for the Publication of Customs Tariffs (Brussels, 5 July 1890)

Conventions respecting the Laws and Customs of War on Land: Convention II (The Hague, 29 July 1899); Convention IV; Convention VI relating to the Status of Enemy Merchant Ships at the Outbreak of Hostilities (The Hague, 18 October 1907)

Regulations respecting the Laws and Customs of War on Land (annexed to the Hague Conventions II of 1899 and IV of 1907)

Convention relating to conflicts of laws concerning marriage (The Hague, 12 June 1902)

Convention relating to conflicts of laws and jurisdictions as regards divorce and separation (The Hague, 12 June 1902)

Source

C. Parry (ed.), *The Consolidated Treaty Series*, vol. 10 (1667–1668), Dobbs Ferry, New York, Oceana, 1969, p. 215.

British and Foreign State Papers, 1814–1815, vol. 2, London, James Ridgway and Sons, 1839, p. 378.

Treaties and Other International
Agreements of the United States
of America, 1776–1949, vol. 8,
Washington, D.C., U.S. Government
Printing Office, 1971, p. 41.

C. Parry (ed.), The Consolidated Treaty Series, vol. 114, Dobbs Ferry, New York, Oceana, 1969, p. 409.

British State Papers 1856, vol. LXI, p. 155.

British and Foreign State Papers, 1868–1869, London, William Ridgway, 1874, vol. 59, p. 470.

Ibid., 1870-1871, vol. 61, p. 1198.

C. Parry (ed.), *The Consolidated Treaty Series*, vol. 143, Dobbs Ferry, New York, Oceana, 1977, p. 99.

C. I. Bevans (ed.), Treaties and Other International Agreements of the United States of America 1776–1949, vol. 1, Washington, D.C., Department of State, 1969, pp. 29 and 51, respectively.

C. Parry (ed.), The Consolidated Treaty Series, vol. 153, Dobbs Ferry, New York, Oceana, 1977, p. 171.

Ibid., vol. 160 (1882), Dobbs Ferry, New York, Oceana, 1978, p. 238.

AJIL, vol. 3, Supp. (1909), p. 7.

F. Stoerk, Nouveau recueil général de traités et autres actes relatifs aux rapports de droit international: Continuation du grand recueil de G. Fr. de Martens, 2nd series, vol. XV, Göttingen, Dieterich, 1891, p. 557.

C. Parry (ed.), The Consolidated Treaty Series, vol. 173 (1890), Dobbs Ferry, New York, Oceana, 1978, p. 329.

The Hague Conventions and Declarations of 1899 and 1907, J. B. Scott (ed.), New York, Oxford University Press, 1016

Ibid. See also ICRC, Handbook of the International Red Cross and Red Crescent Movement, 12th ed., Geneva, 1983, p. 326.

F. Stoerk, Nouveau recueil général de traités et autres actes relatifs aux rapports de droit international. Continuation du grand recueil de G. Fr. de Martens, 2nd series, vol. XXXI, Leipzig, Theodor Weicher, 1904, p. 706.

Ibid., p. 715.

Source

Convention relating to the of minors (The Hague, 12 June 1902)

Convention relating to Civil Procedure (The Hague, 17 July 1905)

Convention for the Amelioration of the Condition of the Wounded and Sick in Armies in the Field (Geneva, 6 July 1906)

Peace Treaty between the Allied and Associate Powers and Germany (Treaty of Versailles) (Versailles, 28 June 1919)

Treaty of Spitsbergen (Paris, 9 February 1920)

Treaty of Peace between the British Empire, France, Italy, Japan, Greece, Romania, the Serb-Croat-Slovene State, and Turkey (Treaty of Lausanne) (Lausanne, 24 July 1923)

Protocol on Arbitration Clauses (Geneva, 24 September 1923)

International Labour Organization Convention (No. 17) concerning Workmen's Compensation for Accidents (Geneva, 10 June 1925)

Protocol for the prohibition of the use in war of asphyxiating, poisonous or other gases, and of bacteriological methods of warfare (Geneva, 17 June 1925)

Convention on the Execution of Foreign Arbitral Awards (Geneva, 26 September 1927)

General Treaty for Renunciation of War as an Instrument of National Policy (Kellogg-Briand Pact) (Paris, 27 August 1928)

International Load Line Convention (London, 5 July 1930)

Exchange of notes constituting an Agreement between the Governments of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Canada, the Commonwealth of Australia and New Zealand and the Government of Iraq regarding the service of documents (Baghdad, 8 and 28 February 1939)

Convention on International Civil Aviation (Chicago, 7 December 1944)

Treaty of Peace with Italy (Paris, 10 February 1947)

General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) (Geneva, 30 October 1947)

Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (Paris, 9 December 1948)

Geneva Conventions for the protection of war victims (1949 Geneva Conventions) (Geneva, 12 August 1949)

Geneva Convention for the Amelioration of the Condition of the Wounded and Sick in Armed Forces in the Field (Convention I)

Geneva Convention for the Amelioration of the Condition of Wounded, Sick and Shipwrecked Members of Armed Forces at Sea (Convention II)

Geneva Convention relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War (Convention III)

Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War (Convention IV)

Protocol additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the protection of victims of international armed conflicts (Protocol I); and Protocol additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the protection of victims of non-international armed conflicts (Protocol II) (Geneva, 8 June 1977)

Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (European Convention on Human Rights) (Rome, 4 November 1950)

Treaty of Peace with Japan (San Francisco, 8 September 1951)

Ibid., p. 724.

H. Triepel, Nouveau recueil général de traités et autres actes relatifs aux rapports de droit international. Continuation du grand recueil de G. Fr. de Martens, 3rd series, vol. II, Leipzig, Theodor Weicher, 1910, p. 243.

ICRC, Handbook of the International Red Cross and Red Crescent Movement, 12th ed., Geneva, 1983.

H. Triepel, Nouveau recueil général de traités et autres actes relatifs aux rapports de droit international. Continuation du grand recueil de G. Fr. de Martens, 3rd series, vol. XI, Leipzig, Theodor Weicher, 1922, p. 323.

League of Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. II, No. 41, p. 7.

Ibid., vol. XXVIII, No. 701, p. 11.

Ibid., vol. XXVII, No. 678, p. 157.

United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 38, No. 600, p. 229.

League of Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. XCIV, No. 2138, p. 65.

Ibid., vol. XCII, No. 2096, p. 301.

Ibid., vol. XCIV, No. 2137, p. 57.

Ibid., vol. CXXXV, No. 3119, p. 301.

Ibid., vol. CXCVII, p. 378.

United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 15, No. 102, p. 295.

Ibid., vol. 49, No. 747, p. 3.

Ibid., vol. 55, No. 814, p. 187.

Ibid., vol. 78, No. 1021, p. 277.

Ibid., vol. 75, Nos. 970-973.

Ibid., vol. 75, No. 970, p. 31.

Ibid., vol. 75, No. 971, p. 85.

Ibid., vol. 75, No. 972, p. 135.

Ibid., vol. 75, No. 973, p. 287.

Ibid., vol. 1125, Nos. 17512 and 17513, pp. 3 and 609.

Ibid., vol. 213, No. 2889, p. 221.

Ibid., vol. 136, No. 1832, p. 45.

	Source
Treaty of Peace with Japan (San Francisco, 8 September 1951)	Ibid., vol. 136, No. 1832, p. 45.
International Convention between the United States of America, Canada and Japan for the High Seas Fisheries of the North Pacific Ocean (Tokyo, 9 May 1952)	Ibid., vol. 205, No. 2770, p. 65.
Agreement between the Governments of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, the Union of South Africa, India and Pakistan and the Government of Iraq regarding War Cemeteries, Graves and Memorials of the British Commonwealth in Iraq resulting from the War of 1939–1945, amending Agreement of 15 March 1935 (Baghdad, 18 February 1954)	<i>Ibid.</i> , vol. 226, No. 3124, p. 297. For the Agreement signed at Baghdad on 15 March 1935, see League of Nations, <i>Treaty Series</i> , vol. CLXX, No. 3926, p. 9.
International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution of the Sea by Oil (London, 12 May 1954)	United Nations, <i>Treaty Series</i> , vol. 327, No. 4714, p. 3.
Convention for the Protection of Cultural Property in the Event of Armed Conflict (with Regulations for execution and Protocol) (The Hague, 14 May 1954)	Ibid., vol. 249, No. 3511, p. 215.
Second Protocol to the 1954 Hague Convention for the Protection of Cultural Property in the Event of Armed Conflict (The Hague, 26 March 1999)	Ibid., vol. 2253, No. 3511, p. 172.
State Treaty for the Re-establishment of an Independent and Democratic Austria (Vienna, 15 May 1955)	Ibid., vol. 217, No. 2949, p. 223.
Geneva Conventions on the Law of the Sea: Convention on the High Seas (Geneva, 29 April 1958)	Ibid., vol. 450, No. 6465, p. 11.
Antarctic Treaty (Washington, D.C., 1 December 1959)	Ibid., vol. 402, No. 5778, p. 71.
Convention on Third Party Liability in the Field of Nuclear Energy (Paris, 29 July 1960)	Ibid., vol. 956, No. 13706, p. 251.
Indus Waters Treaty 1960 (Karachi, 19 September 1960)	Ibid., vol. 419, No. 6032, p. 125.
Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations (Vienna, 18 April 1961)	Ibid., vol. 500, No. 7310, p. 95.
Vienna Convention on Consular Relations (Vienna, 24 April 1963)	Ibid., vol. 596, No. 8638, p. 261.
Vienna Convention on Civil Liability for Nuclear Damage (Vienna, 21 May 1963)	Ibid., vol. 1063, No. 16197, p. 265.
International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (New York, 16 December 1966)	Ibid., vol. 993, No. 14531, p. 3.
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (New York, 16 December 1966)	<i>Ibid.</i> , vol. 999, No. 14668, p. 171, and vol. 1057, p. 407.
Treaty on Principles Governing the Activities of States in the Exploration and Use of Outer Space, Including the Moon and Other Celestial Bodies (Moscow, London and Washington, D.C., 27 January 1967)	Ibid., vol. 610, No. 8843, p. 205.
Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property of 20 March 1883, revised at Brussels on 14 December 1900, Washington on 2 June 1911, The Hague on 6 November 1925, London on 2 June 1934, Lisbon on 31 October 1958 and Stockholm on 14 July 1967	Ibid., vol. 828, No. 11851, p. 305.
African Convention on the Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources (Algiers, 15 September 1968)	Ibid., vol. 1001, No. 14689, p. 3.
Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (1969 Vienna Convention) (Vienna, 23 May 1969)	Ibid., vol. 1155, No. 18232, p. 331.
American Convention on Human Rights: "Pact of San José, Costa Rica" (San José, 22 November 1969)	Ibid., vol. 1144, No. 17955, p. 123.
International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage (Brussels, 29 November 1969)	Ibid., vol. 973, No. 14097, p. 3.
Convention on Wetlands of International Importance especially as Waterfowl Habitat (Ramsar (Iran), 2 February 1971)	Ibid., vol. 996, No. 14583, p. 245.
International Convention on the establishment of an international fund for compensation for oil pollution damage (Brussels, 18 December 1971)	Ibid., vol. 1110, No. 17146, p. 57.
Convention for the prevention of marine pollution by dumping from ships and aircraft (Oslo, 15 February 1972)	Ibid., vol. 932, No. 13269, p. 3.
Convention on the prohibition of the development, production and stockpiling of bacteriological (biological) and toxin weapons and on their destruction (London, Moscow and Washington, D.C., 10 April 1972)	Ibid., vol. 1015, No. 14860, p. 163.
Convention for the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage (Paris, 16 November 1972)	Ibid., vol. 1037, No. 15511, p. 151.
Kuwait Regional Convention for cooperation on the protection of the marine environment from pollution (Kuwait, 24 April 1978)	Ibid., vol. 1140, No. 17898, p. 133.

Source

Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter
(London, Mexico City, Moscow and Washington, D.C., 29 December 1972), amended
on 12 October 1978

Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (Washington, D.C., 3 March 1973)

International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution by Ships, 1973 (MARPOL Convention) (London, 2 November 1973), as amended by the Protocol of 1978 (London, 17 February 1978)

Convention for the protection of the Mediterranean Sea against pollution and Protocol for the prevention of pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by dumping from ships and aircraft (Barcelona, 16 February 1976)

Convention on the Prohibition of Military or any other Hostile Use of Environmental Modification Techniques (New York, 10 December 1976)

Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage Resulting from Exploration for and Exploitation of Seabed Mineral Resources (London, 1 May 1977)

Vienna Convention on succession of States in respect of treaties (Vienna, 23 August 1978)

Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals (Bonn, 23 June 1979)

Convention on the Conservation of European Wildlife and Natural Habitats (Bern, 19 September 1979)

Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution (Geneva, 13 November 1979)

Convention on prohibitions or restrictions on the use of certain conventional weapons which may be deemed to be excessively injurious or to have indiscriminate effects (Geneva, 10 October 1980)

Protocol on non-detectable fragments (Protocol I); Protocol on prohibition or restrictions on the use of mines, booby-traps and other devices (Protocol II) (Geneva, 10 October 1980) and Protocol II as amended on 3 May 1996, annexed to the Convention (Geneva, 3 May 1996); Protocol on prohibitions or restrictions on the use of incendiary weapons (Protocol III) (Geneva, 10 October 1980)

Protocol on blinding laser weapons (Protocol IV) (Vienna, 13 October 1995)

Protocol on explosive remnants of war (Protocol V) (Geneva, 28 November 2003)

United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (Montego Bay, 10 December 1982)

Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (New York, 10 December 1984)

Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer (Vienna, 22 March 1985)

Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer (Montreal, 16 September 1987)

Convention for the Protection of the Natural Resources and Environment of the South Pacific Region and Protocol for the Prevention of Pollution of the South Pacific Region by Dumping (Noumea, 25 November 1986)

Convention on the Regulation of Antarctic Mineral Resource Activities (Wellington, 2 June 1988)

Agreement concerning the Mosul War Cemetery (Baghdad, 30 October 1989)

Convention on the Rights of the Child (New York, 20 November 1989)

Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the Involvement of Children in Armed Conflict (New York, 25 May 2000)

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (New York, 9 May 1992)

Convention on Biological Diversity (Rio de Janeiro, 5 June 1992)

Convention on the prohibition of the development, production, stockpiling and use of chemical weapons and on their destruction (opened for signature at Paris on 13 January 1993)

Convention on the prohibition of the use, stockpiling, production and transfer of anti-personnel mines and on their destruction (Oslo, 18 September 1997)

Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (Rome Statute) (Rome, 17 July 1998)

Ibid., vol. 1046, No. 15749, p. 120; ILM, vol. 18, No. 2 (1979), p. 508 (amended 1978).

United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 993, No. 14537, p. 243.

Ibid., vol. 1341, No. 22484, p. 3.

Ibid., vol. 1102, No. 16908, p. 27.

Ibid., vol. 1108, No. 17119, p. 151.

ILM, vol. 16 (1977), p. 1451.

United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1946, No. 33356, p. 3.

Ibid., vol. 1651, No. 28395, p. 333.

Ibid., vol. 1284, No. 21159, p. 209.

Ibid., vol. 1302, No. 21623, p. 217.

Ibid., vol. 1342, No. 22495, p. 137.

Ibid. Protocol II as amended on 3 May 1996 appears in *ibid.*, vol. 2048, p. 93.

Ibid., vol. 2024, No. 22495, p. 163.

Ibid., vol. 2399, No. 22495, p. 100.

Ibid., vol. 1834, No. 31363, p. 3.

Ibid., vol. 1465, No. 24841, p. 85.

Ibid., vol. 1513, No. 26164, p. 293.

Ibid., vol. 1522, No. 26369, p. 3.

Revue générale de droit international public, vol. 92 (1988), pp. 776 (Convention) and 784 (Protocol).

Ibid., vol. 93 (1989/1), p. 182. See also ILM, vol. 27 (1988), p. 859.

United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1648, No. 28337, p. 331.

Ibid., vol. 1577, No. 27531, p. 3.

Ibid., vol. 2173, No. 27531, p. 222.

Ibid., vol. 1771, No. 30822, p. 107.

Ibid., vol. 1760, No. 30619, p. 79.

Ibid., vol. 1975, No. 33757, p. 3.

Ibid., vol. 2056, No. 35597, p. 211.

Ibid., vol. 2187, No. 38544, p. 3.

Summary

The present study attempts a comprehensive examination of the effect of armed conflict on treaties, a new topic on the agenda of the International Law Commission. It begins with a theoretical assessment of the issue, including a comprehensive review of previous consideration of the topic, and a discussion of the major difficulties inherent in the study of the topic. These difficulties include: (a) diversification of the meaning of the term "armed conflict", making generalization difficult; (b) the increasingly informal nature of modern armed conflict and the resultant decrease in formal declarations by States about the effect on treaties; and (c) the delay between an armed conflict itself and when its effects are discussed by courts and political departments.

Two common tests have been developed by courts, commentators and political departments to determine the effect of armed conflict on treaties: (a) a subjective test of the intention of the parties towards the treaty and (b) an objective test of the compatibility of the treaty with national policy during the armed conflict. Modern consideration of the topic generally uses a combination of the two approaches. These analyses have come to three distinct conclusions. First, the traditional view held that treaties did not survive armed conflict. Second, a diametrically opposed view developed in the early twentieth century maintained that war does not affect treaties, subject to some exceptions. Third, the modern view is embodied in the general statement that armed conflict does not *ipso facto* terminate or suspend treaties. After an examination of the many exceptions to each view, however, they do not appear to differ drastically.

The study then engages in a comprehensive categorization of the effect of armed conflict on treaties on the basis of both State practice and doctrine. First, a large group of treaties exhibits a very high likelihood of applicability during armed conflict, including humanitarian law treaties; treaties with express provisions on wartime applicability; treaties regulating a permanent regime or status; treaties or treaty provisions codifying *jus cogens* rules; human rights treaties; treaties governing intergovernmental debt; and diplomatic conventions. Second, two kinds of treaties exhibit a moderately high likelihood of applicability: reciprocal inheritance treaties and multilateral "law-making" conventions. Third, a large group of treaties exhibits a varied, emerging or controversial likelihood of applicability, including international transport agreements; environmental treaties; extradition treaties; border-crossing treaties; treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation; intellectual property treaties; and penal transfer treaties. Fourth, two types of treaties have a low likelihood of applicability: treaties with express provisions stipulating that they do not apply and treaties which are incompatible in practice with the national policy during the armed conflict.

The effect of the Second World War on treaties is then considered. In addition to the type of treaty, another important factor in determining treaty applicability during armed conflict is the magnitude of the conflict. Thus, an examination of the effect of the Second World War on treaties helps to provide a ceiling of maximum potential effect. Presumably, the lower-magnitude armed conflicts of the modern era would have a correspondingly lesser effect on treaties. When the Second World War is examined in detail, however, it is surprising to note that many fewer treaties were suspended than one might imagine, and perhaps none was completely abrogated.

Publicly available material on modern State practice on the topic is quite limited, but not non-existent. First, there is significant evidence that domestic hostilities in a given State can affect inter-State treaties between that State and another, or potentially even between two or more completely different States. Other non-traditional forms of armed conflict have also been shown to affect treaties, such as the cold war and small bilateral conflicts. Second, although many other legal doctrines have effects that are substantially similar to that of armed conflict on treaties, a strong argument can be made that the latter is distinguishable on the basis that it occurs automatically, whereas doctrines such as *rebus sic stantibus* and impossibility must be invoked. Third, there is strong support for the proposition that operations carried out pursuant to Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations will suspend or abrogate inconsistent treaties. Finally, whereas it was traditionally understood that armed conflict had a greater effect on bilateral treaties than on multilateral treaties, there is evidence that this distinction has diminished.

Although significant State practice and doctrine exist, they are inconsistent and in flux. Moreover, as traditional warfare gives way to modern non-traditional, domestic or informal armed conflicts, the parameters of the effect of armed conflict on treaties are left in a state of considerable uncertainty. With input from States as to current governmental views, codification by the Commission could greatly advance international understanding on the topic and update a doctrine that has been written largely for another age.

References, citations and quotations are provided in the present memorandum with sole regard to the issue of the effects of armed conflicts on treaties and have no bearing on the characterization of an armed conflict; the subject matter of the dispute, including the issue of the status of disputed territories; or any other similar issue.

Introduction

A. Nature of the topic

- 1. The effect of armed conflict on treaties has remained an unsettled, unclear area of international law for at least a century. Sir Cecil J.B. Hurst wrote in 1921 that "[t]here are few questions upon which people concerned with the practical application of the rules of international law find the text-books less helpful than that of the effect of war upon treaties in force between belligerents." In the latest major research on the subject, Rapporteur Bengt Broms wrote in his report to the Institute of International Law that "[t]he effect of war on treaties has always belonged to the problem areas of international law. It has even been called an 'obscure' topic."
- 2. Article 73 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (hereinafter the "1969 Vienna Convention") is clear that it "shall not prejudge any question that may arise in regard to a treaty from ... the outbreak of hostilities between States." The Commission excluded the topic from its draft articles on the law of treaties in 1963 because "[t]he Commission considered that the study of this topic would inevitably involve a consideration of the effect of the provisions of the Charter concerning the threat or use of force upon the legality of the recourse to the particular hostilities in question; and it did not feel that this question could conveniently be dealt with in the

context of its present work upon the law of treaties." Moreover, the Commission stated in its commentary on draft article 69, which became article 73 of the 1969 Vienna Convention, that it "considered that in the international law of today the outbreak of hostilities between States must be considered as an entirely abnormal condition, and that the rules governing its legal consequences should not be regarded as forming part of the general rules of international law applicable in the normal relations between States." Although the article 73 savings clause is cast in very broad language—exempting any treaty question that may arise from the outbreak of hostilities—the present study does not deal with the question of the conclusion of treaties during armed conflict and is limited to the effect of armed conflict on existing treaties.

B. Difficulties inherent in the study of the topic

3. The question of the effect of armed conflict on treaties is a difficult one for several reasons. First, the term "armed conflict" has come to stand for a very diverse set of circumstances. Because each armed conflict involves vastly different circumstances in terms of the magnitude of the conflict, the strength of the treaties involved and the relations of the particular States concerned, it is difficult to formulate rules applicable to all situations. The result of these difficulties is a widely

¹ C. J. B. Hurst, "The effect of war on treaties", BYBIL *1921–1922*, vol. 2, p. 37, at p. 38.

² B. Broms, "Preliminary report to the Fifth Commission: The effects of armed conflicts on treaties", *Yearbook of the Institute of International Law*, vol. 59-I (Session of Dijon, 1981), p. 224, at p. 227 (citing D. P. O'Connell, *International Law*, 2nd ed., vol. I (London, Stevens and Sons, 1970), p. 268). For perhaps the most pessimistic view in modern scholarship, see J. Stone, *Legal Controls of International Conflict: A Treatise on the Dynamics of Disputes- and War-Law*, 2nd rev. imp. (London, Stevens and Sons, 1959), p. 447 (considering the topic to be "rather like seeking the principle on which life may be said to continue after death").

³ For a history of the drafting debate on article 73 of the 1969 Vienna Convention, see R.D. Kearney and R.E. Dalton, "*The treaty on treaties*", AJIL, vol. 64, No. 3 (1970), p. 495, at p. 557; and S. Rosenne, *Developments in the Law of Treaties 1945–1986* (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1989), pp. 68–70. See also article 75 of the Convention: "The provisions of the present Convention are without prejudice to any obligation in relation to a treaty which may arise for an aggressor State in consequence of measures taken in conformity with the Charter of the United Nations with reference to that State's aggression."

⁴ Yearbook ... 1963, vol. II, document A/5509, p. 189, para. 14 (reiterated in Yearbook ... 1966, vol. II, document A/6309/Rev.1 (Part II), p. 176, para. 29).

⁵ Yearbook ... 1966, vol. II, document A/6309/Rev.1 (Part II), p. 267, para. (2); see also Official Records of the United Nations Conference on the Law of Treaties, First and Second Sessions, Vienna, 26 March–24 May 1968 and 9 April–22 May 1969, Documents of the Conference (A/CONF.39/11/Add.2, United Nations publication, Sales No. E.70.V.5), p. 87. The Commission's original text for article 69 did not contain the reference to armed conflict. The express reference to armed conflict was added at the United Nations Conference on the Law of Treaties, a combination of amendments by Hungary, Poland and Switzerland, which was adopted by 72 votes to 5, with 14 abstentions; see Official Records of the United Nations Conference on the Law of Treaties, First Session, Vienna, 26 March-24 May 1968, Summary Records of plenary meetings and meetings of the Committee of the Whole (A/CONF.39/11, United Nations publication, Sales No. E.68.V.7), 76th meeting of the Committee of the Whole, 17 May 1968, pp. 451-453, paras. 9-30, citing amendments of Hungary and Poland (A/CONF.39/C.1/L.279) and Switzerland (A/ CONF.39/C.1/L.359); see also Official Records of the United Nations Conference on the Law of Treaties, First and Second Sessions... (A/ CONF.39/11/Add.2), p. 199, paras. 634-638.

divergent State practice that courts and political departments have treated with justifiable caution.

Second, and related, the typical armed conflict has become significantly less formalized. As a result of the prohibition on the use of force in Article 2, paragraph 4, of the Charter of the United Nations, States have moved away from formalized war in the traditional sense towards armed conflicts under the guise of police actions, limited acts of self-defence or humanitarian intervention.6 Traditional warfare was often accompanied by formal treaty denunciations and was concluded with a peace treaty, which one can use to infer the effect of armed conflict on treaties;7 modern armed conflict almost always lacks these official proclamations. The informal, lower-magnitude conflicts of the modern era have proved far less likely to generate commentary from courts and political departments than the wars of the past. For example, whereas the Annuaire français de droit international included almost yearly entries

of French practice on the topic in the aftermath of the Second World War, it has recorded no incident of French practice since 1957.8 The same is true of the *American Journal of International Law*, which included regular entries on United States practice after the Second World War, but nothing after 1957.9 Without official declarations from courts or political departments, it is extremely difficult to separate non-performance of a treaty during armed conflict—including potentially justifiable non-performance 10—from an actual legal effect of armed conflict on the treaty itself.11

5. Third, it is very difficult to get a current assessment of the effect of armed conflict on treaties. Political departments are understandably reticent to announce the effect of armed conflicts on treaties when they are currently embroiled in a conflict, and considerable time often

⁶ J. Delbrück, "War, effect on treaties", in R. Bernhardt (ed.), Encyclopedia of Public International Law, vol. 4 (Amsterdam, Elsevier, 2000), p. 1367, at p. 1371 ("A review of the use of military force in the decades following World War II reveals a remarkable shift away from the traditional concept of war as a phenomenon characterized by the formal commencement of hostilities by declaration of war or other action clearly indicating the intention of a State to go to war with another State. Instead, the use of armed force has in many instances gradually developed into a state of war which, however, more often than not has been referred to by governments as a 'police action', a 'limited act of self-defence' or a 'humanitarian intervention', thereby indicating that a full-fledged war is not intended to be recognized. In the present context it may well be asked whether such armed conflicts have the same effect on treaties as war does in the above more limited understanding of the traditional concept"); see also J. H. W. Verzijl, International Law in Historical Perspective, part VI, Juridical Facts as Sources of International Rights and Obligations (Leiden, Sijthoff, 1973), p. 387: "The question of whether a particular bilateral treaty had lapsed as a consequence of the outbreak of war could sometimes be left on one side by the court on the ground that no technical state of war had existed between the parties" (citing ILR, vol. 21 (1954), p. 262: France-Austria (Heller v. La Soie de Paris, France, Commercial Tribunal of the Seine, 12 November 1954); ILR, vol. 28 (1959), p. 492: France-Romania (Ovize and Belard v. Gartenberg, France, Court of Cassation, 9 July 1959)).

⁷ One can infer the effect of the armed conflict on pre-war treaties by examining whether the peace treaty provides that pre-war treaties are "revived" or that they "continue in force". But McIntyre notes that even these express provisions "avoided taking a definite stand on the actual effect of war on the treaties and their status while the war was in progress" (S.H. McIntyre, Legal Effect of World War II on Treaties of the United States (The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1958), p. 309). See also ibid., p. 312 ("An examination of the confusing and sometimes contradictory statements of the legal advisers [in the Paris Peace Conference] can lead only to the conclusion that they did not take a definite stand as to the effect of war on the prewar treaties and were only concerned with what treaties should exist after peace was restored"); and ibid., p. 313 (arguing that the language of article 289 of the 1919 Peace Treaty between the Allied and Associate Powers and Germany (Treaty of Versailles) concluding the First World War "is ambiguous and can be interpreted to mean either that war terminated those agreements that came to an end or that the Treaty of Versailles itself performed that function"). Several United States cases support the view that the war itself terminated the treaties, not the Peace Treaty following it. See *ibid.*, pp. 316–317 (clarifying that several United States cases discussing the effect of war on treaties "were concerned with the effect of the war itself and not with the status of the treaties under Article 289 [of the Treaty of Versailles] and the Treaty of Berlin; therefore, what they had to say on treaties not specifically revived was unfortunately only dicta"). For the text of the Treaty concerning the re-establishment of Peace between Germany and the United States of America (Treaty of Berlin), signed at Berlin on 25 August 1921, see League of Nations, Treaty Series, vol. XII, No. 310, p. 192.

⁸ J. Robert, "Chronique de jurisprudence", AFDI, vol. 4 (1958), p. 723, at p. 776 (citing *Dornen Erika v. Batzenschlager*, Blida Civil Court, 13 March 1957, *Journal du droit international* (Clunet), vol. 85 (1958), p. 128).

⁹ B. MacChesney, "Judicial decisions", AJIL, vol. 51 (1957), p. 632, at pp. 634 *et seq.* (discussing *Argento v. Horn*, 241 F. 2d 258 (6th Cir. 1957)). The *Argento* case is discussed at footnote 234 below and accompanying text.

¹⁰ See footnote 452 below and accompanying text.

¹¹ In the case of non-performance, the treaty is unaffected by armed conflict and legally in force, but States do not perform their obligations under it either because no situation arises where the treaty applies, or because the State breaches its obligations. McIntyre discusses this problem: "In making the assumption that activities based on a treaty bear upon its legal validity, one must avoid inferring from this that the lack of operation necessarily means impairment of the validity of the treaty. In Artukovic v. Boyle (1952) Judge Hall stated that evidence indicating that no person had ever been extradited under the extradition treaty [between the United States and Serbia, signed at Belgrade on 25 October 1901 showed that the treaty was no longer valid. Representative Cannon referred in 1946 to the Permanent Court of Arbitration as 'obsolete,' 'defunct,' and 'non-existent,' since the United States had not made use of the machinery since 1932. But such statements are not well founded. If occasion does not arise for the application of a particular treaty, it cannot be said the treaty has therefore lost its legal validity" (McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 10 (citing Artukovic v. Boyle, 107 F. Supp. 11 (195[2]); Hearings on the Third Deficiency Appropriation Bill, 1946, before the Subcommittee of the Committee on Appropriations, House of Representatives, 79th Cong., 2d Sess.; and H. Kelsen, General Theory of Law and State (Cambridge, Massachusetts, Harvard University Press, 1946), pp. 29-47 and 118-119)). McIntyre also cites a decision of the International Military Tribunal in 1946, which "refused to assess punishment against [admirals accused of violating rules of submarine warfare] ... in view of the widespread violation of the rules on both sides. The Tribunal regarded [the rules on submarine warfare] as continuing in force, nonetheless" (McIntyre (ibid.), p. 61). Similarly, "defendants before the International Military Tribunal did not argue that the Pact of Paris [General Treaty for Renunciation of War as an Instrument of National Policy (Kellogg-Briand Pact)] had ceased to be binding at any time, but did deny that their interpretation of self-defense was in violation of it" (ibid., p. 84). See also *ibid.*, p. 87 ("The existence of war may be sufficiently incompatible with the nature and purposes of a particular political treaty so that its enforcement during the war proves impossible, but the war may not prevent the continued legal existence of the treaty"); ibid., p. 134 (discussing labour treaties during the Second World War and noting that "[f]rom a legal standpoint the obligations and rights of all the members continued as before, but from a practical standpoint some of them were difficult or impossible of [sic] enforcement"); ibid., pp. 156-157 (noting that many treaties "resulted in such a small degree of activity during World War II it might reasonably be assumed that they were regarded by the member States as in a state of suspension"); and ibid., p. 353 ("Even though the convention relating to the sovereignty of Norway over Spitsbergen [Spitsbergen Treaty] (1920) was violated in some respects in World War II, it continued in force and none of the parties lost their rights under it").

passes before the effect of a given armed conflict on a treaty becomes an issue in the judiciary. For example, it was not until 1983 that the British Government declared that the Convention between Great Britain and Spain of 1790, which settled certain issues of fishing, navigation and trade in the Pacific Ocean and South Seas (Nootka Sound Convention), had been terminated in 1795 as a result of war between Britain and Spain, almost 200 years after the fact.¹² Similarly, an Italian court did not rule on the effect of the Second World War on extradition treaties until 1970, ¹³ and a British court did not assess the effect of the Second World War on the Convention on the Execution of Foreign Arbitral Awards of 1927 until it became an issue in a 1976 case.14 This lag makes it difficult to assess the effect that new forms of armed conflict are having on treaty relations.

6. As a result, the effect of armed conflict on treaties remains as problematic an area of law as ever before. It has been suggested that codification, although no easy task, would benefit the international community significantly. To that end, the present study attempts a modern summary of doctrine and State practice on the effect of armed conflict on treaties, attempting either to flesh out reliable rules or conclude that none exist. It is meant to serve as a comprehensive summary of the existing public information on the topic. Because of the lack of such publicly available information, however, effective codification will also require submissions from Governments, particularly concerning their practice after the Second World War.

C. Past studies of the topic

7. Many studies on the effect of armed conflict on treaties have been carried out in the past, several of which have been accorded special significance by States and commentators. The first such study was that carried out by the Institute of International Law in 1912. 16 Second, the Harvard Research on the Law of Treaties of 1935 included a significant analysis of the effect of armed conflict on treaties as part of its more general work on treaties. 17 Third, the Institute of International Law attempted a major study of the topic from

1981 to 1985,¹⁸ culminating in a resolution in 1985.¹⁹ The British Institute of International and Comparative Law has proposed a comprehensive study, aimed at the production of a treatise of over 300 pages on the topic,²⁰ but the project is temporarily on hold due to resource constraints.²¹

8. Books on the topic have been written by Robert Jacomet in 1909,²² Harold Tobin in 1933,²³ Lambertus Erades in 1938,²⁴ Richard Ränk in 1949,²⁵ Stuart McIntyre in 1958,²⁶ and Agostino Gialdino in 1959.²⁷ Innumerable treatises discuss the topic,²⁸ the most significant treatments of the subject appearing in *Oppenheim's International Law*,²⁹ *The Encyclopedia*

- ¹⁹ "The effects of armed conflicts on treaties", resolution of the Institute of International Law (Helsinki, 1985), *Yearbook of the Institute of International Law*, vol. 61, No. 2, pp. 278–283; available from the website of the Institute: www.idi-iil.org, *Resolutions* (hereinafter the "Institute of International Law resolution of 1985 on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties").
- ²⁰ "The effects of war on treaties", proposed study by the British Institute of International and Comparative Law (noting that the editors of the latest draft edition of *Oppenheim's International Law*, vol. II (Sir Arthur Watts and Christopher Greenwood) have not yet begun work on the topic and are content for the Institute to carry out the study).
- ²¹ E-mail exchange with Susan C. Breau, Dorset Fellow in Public International Law and Director of the Commonwealth Legal Advisory Service, British Institute of International and Comparative Law, 22 March 2004.
- ²² R. Jacomet, *La guerre et les traités: Étude de droit international et d'histoire diplomatique* (Paris, H. Charles-Lavauzelle, 1909).
- ²³ H. J. Tobin, *The Termination of Multipartite Treaties* (New York, Columbia University Press, 1933), pp. 13–193.
- ²⁴ L. Erades, *De Invloed van Oorlog op de Geldigheid van Verdragen* (Rijksuniversiteit, Leiden, 1938) (an exhaustive 400-page doctoral thesis on the effect of armed conflict on treaties surveying all available provisions governing the issue up to 1938, abundant data on State practice, official Government statements, and case law going back to the seventeenth century. Contrary to the title, the study relates more to the suspension/termination of treaties in armed conflict than to their validity).
- ²⁵ R. Ränk, *Einwirkung des Krieges auf die nichtpolitischen Staatsverträge* (Uppsala, Svenska Institutet för Internationell Rätt, 1949).
 - ²⁶ McIntyre (footnote 7 above).
- ²⁷ A. C. Gialdino, *Gli Effetti della Guerra sui Trattati* (Milan, Giuffrè, 1959).
- ²⁸ See, for example, H. W. Briggs (ed.), *The Law of Nations: Cases, Documents, and Notes*, 2nd ed. (New York, Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1952), pp. 934–946; P. Malanczuk, *Akehurst's Modern Introduction to International Law*, 7th rev. ed. (London, Routledge, 1997), pp. 145–146; I. A. Shearer (ed.), *Starke's International Law*, 11th ed. (London, Butterworths, 1994), pp. 492–494; I. Brownlie, *Principles of Public International Law*, 6th ed. (Oxford, Oxford University Press, 2003), p. 592; J. G. Starke, *An Introduction to International Law*, 5th ed. (London, Butterworths, 1963), pp. 408–410; Rosenne, *Developments in the Law of Treaties...* (footnote 3 above); A. Aust, *Modern Treaty Law and Practice* (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 2000), pp. 243–244; H. Kelsen, *Principles of International Law*, 2nd rev. ed. (R. W. Tucker, ed.) (New York, Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1966), pp. 499–501.
- ²⁹ L. Oppenheim, *International Law: A Treatise*, 7th ed. (ed. H. Lauterpacht), vol. II, *Disputes, War and Neutrality* (London, Longmans, 1952), pp. 302–306. See also R. Jennings and A. Watts (eds.), *Oppenheim's International Law*, 9th ed., vol. I, *Peace* (Harlow, Longman, 1992), p. 1310 (current edition, which includes very little material and refers to 7th edition).

¹² Reported in BYBIL *1983*, vol. 54, p. 370. For the text of the Nootka Sound Convention, signed at San Lorenzo el Real on 28 October 1790, see *British and Foreign State Papers*, *1812–1814*, vol. I, Part I (London, James Ridgway and Sons, 1841), p. 663.

¹³ In re Barnaton Levy and Suster Brucker, Court of Appeal, Milan, 30 October 1970, reported in *Italian Yearbook of International Law*, vol. 1 (1975), p. 233.

¹⁴ See J. Crawford, "Decisions of British Courts during 1976–1977 involving questions of public and private international law: A. Public international law", BYBIL 1976–1977, vol. 48, p. 333 (citing *Masinimport v. Scottish Mechanical Light Industries Ltd.*, Scotland, Court of Session, Outer House, Lord Keith, reported in *Scots Law Times*, 1976, p. 245, case No. I).

¹⁵ See, for example, C. M. Chinkin, "Crisis and the performance of international agreements: the outbreak of war in perspective", *Yale Journal of World Public Order*, vol. 7 (1980–1981), p. 177, at p. 207 ("An authoritative international body should continue work on this incomplete and confused area of the law of international agreements").

¹⁶ "Effects of war upon treaties and international conventions: a project adopted by the Institute of International Law at its session in Christiania, in August 1912" (editorial comment), AJIL, vol. 7 (1913), p. 149. See also *Yearbook of the Institute of International Law*, vol. 25 (Session of Christiania, 1912), p. 648.

 $^{^{17}\,}Harvard$ Research in International Law (J. W. Garner, Reporter), "Law of treaties", AJIL, vol. 29 (1935), supplement, p. 973, at pp. 1183–1204 .

¹⁸ "The effects of armed conflict on treaties", *Yearbook of the Institute of International Law*, vol. 59-I (footnote 2 above), pp. 201–284; *ibid.*, vol. 59-II ("Deliberations of the Institute during plenary meetings: the effects of armed conflicts on treaties", B. Broms, Rapporteur), pp. 175–245; *ibid.*, vol. 61-I (Session of Helsinki, 1985) (B. Broms, "Supplementary report to the Fifth Commission: the effects of armed conflicts on treaties"), pp. 1–27; *ibid.*, vol. 61-II ("Deliberations of the Institute during plenary meetings: the effects of armed conflicts on treaties", B. Broms, Rapporteur), pp. 199–255 (hereinafter the "Institute of International Law study", volume, page).

of Public International Law,³⁰ Verzijl's International Law in Historical Perspective³¹ and Marjorie Whiteman's Digest of International Law.³² Significant articles or chapters on the subject have been written by Sir Cecil J. B. Hurst in 1921,³³ Richard Rank in 1953,³⁴ Lord McNair in 1937³⁵ and 1961³⁶ and Christine Chinkin

³⁰ Delbrück (footnote 6 above), pp. 1367–1373.

in 1981,³⁷ among many others.³⁸ The present study will attempt to add to this body of literature,³⁹ both by incorporating these varied sources into one piece of research and by seeking modern examples not yet discussed elsewhere.

CHAPTER I

Theoretical approaches to the topic

A. Common tests

- 9. Two general schools of thought have developed as to how to approach the effect of armed conflict on treaties. As explained by Starke, "[t]he first is a subjective test of intention—did the signatories of the treaty intend that it should remain binding on the outbreak of war? The second is an objective test—is the execution of the treaty incompatible with the conduct of war?" This section will address each of these schools of thought in turn.
- 10. First, the intention school holds that the effect of armed conflict on treaties should be determined by the intent—either express or implied—of the parties towards those treaties. Proposed by Sir Cecil Hurst in his influential 1922 treatment of the subject,⁴¹ the intention test has been espoused to various degrees by a number of other commentators, including McNair, Borchard, Garner, Rank, Lenoir and Hyde.⁴²

The second school of thought focuses on the compatibility of the treaty with national policy during armed conflict. This school was born out of dissatisfaction with the intention school in the light of the lack of express provisions on intention, combined with the difficulties inherent in inferring the intention of the parties. 43 Those supporting the compatibility school argue that it can "supplement the intent of the parties when the intent is not readily discernible". 44 The compatibility school has received detailed consideration in several well-known American cases on the effect of armed conflict on treaties. In the case of Techt v. Hughes, Justice Cardozo argued that courts should determine the validity of a given treaty provision subject to a dispute before them by examining whether "the provision is inconsistent with the policy or safety of the nation in

³¹ Verzijl (footnote 6 above).

³² M. M. Whiteman (ed.), *Digest of International Law*, vol. 14 (Washington, D.C., Department of State Publications, 1970), pp. 490–510.

³³ Hurst (footnote 1 above).

³⁴ R. Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties: a comparative study (part I)", *Cornell Law Quarterly*, vol. 38, No. 3 (1953), p. 321; R. Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)", *ibid.*, vol. 38, No. 4 (1953), p. 511.

³⁵ A. D. McNair, "Les effets de la guerre sur les traités", *Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye, 1937-I*, vol. 59 (1937), p. 527.

³⁶ A. D. McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1961), pp. 695–728.

³⁷ Chinkin (footnote 15 above).

³⁸ For an exhaustive list of material on the subject, see the bibliography (annex) below.

³⁹ Although many of the previous studies deal with the effect of war on treaties, this study adopts the modern trend of considering the broader question of the effect of armed conflict on treaties. See R. Layton, "The effect of measures short of war on treaties", *University of Chicago Law Review*, vol. 30 (1962–1963), p. 96, at p. 109–110: "In the major armed conflicts that have taken place since World War II formal declarations of war have not been issued. The prospects are that this tendency will continue. ... To a large extent the doctrine of legal, or justifiable, war has been outlawed in the international community. The Charter [of the United Nations] directs itself to 'threats to the peace, breaches of the peace, and acts of aggression.' In a sense, past concern over the effect of war on treaties may be said to be obsolete. Of course, many of the concepts employed in that inquiry are directly analogous and, provisionally at least, authoritative as to the consequences which may be expected from the outbreak of major hostilities no longer termed war" (footnotes omitted).

 $^{^{\}rm 40}$ Starke, An Introduction to International Law (footnote 28 above), p. 409.

⁴¹ Hurst (footnote 1 above), p. 40 ("I submit that just as the duration of contracts between private persons depends on the intention of the parties, so also the duration of treaties between States must depend on the intention of the parties, and that the treaties will survive the outbreak of war or will then disappear, according as the parties intended when they made the treaty that they should so survive or disappear"). The doctrine of intention is also discussed in Rank, "*Modern war and the validity of treaties: a comparative study (part I)*" (footnote 34 above), pp. 325–333.

⁴² McIntyre (footnote 7 above), pp. 16–17 (citing A. D. McNair, "The functions and differing legal character of treaties", BYBIL 1930, vol. 11, p. 100); A. D. McNair, "La terminaison et dissolution des traités", Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye, 1928-II, vol. 22, p. 463, at p. 511; E. M. Borchard, "The effect of war on the Treaty of 1828 with Prussia", AJIL, vol. 26 (1932), p. 582, at p. 585 [Treaty of Commerce and Navigation between the United States of America and Prussia, concluded at Washington, D.C., on 1 May 1928, U.S. Stat., vol. VIII (1848), p. 378]; Harvard Research

in International Law (J. W. Garner, Reporter), "Law of treaties" (footnote 17 above), p. 1186; Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)" (footnote 34 above), p. 538; J. J. Lenoir, "The effect of war on bilateral treaties, with special reference to reciprocal inheritance treaty provisions", *Georgetown Law Journal*, vol. 34, No. 2 (1946), p. 129, at p. 173; C. C. Hyde, *International Law Chiefly as Interpreted and Applied by the United States*, vol. 2, 2nd rev. ed. (Boston, Little, Brown and Co., 1945) p. 1547).

⁴³ Professor Myres McDougal, for example, argued it was "'wholly fantastic' to assume that the framers had specific intentions with regard to all future events and that intentions can be accurately interpreted later" (McIntyre (footnote 7 above), at p. 19 (citing M. S. McDougal, "International law, power, and policy: a contemporary conception", *Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye, 1953-I*, vol. 82, p. 137, at p. 152)). McDougal attributes this difficulty to the "great variety of actors (negotiators, drafters, approvers, ratifiers), expressing agreement though verbal forms of all degrees of generality or precision, by all the methods known to international law, for implementation of a great variety of both short-run and long-run objectives and perspectives of their day, and with certain designed and undesigned effects upon the expectations of all the parties and the distribution of values among them."

⁴⁴ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 19.

the emergency of war, and hence presumably intended to be limited to times of peace."⁴⁵ This approach was followed by the United States Supreme Court in *Clark v. Allen*, holding that "[w]here the relevant historical sources and the instrument itself give no plain indication that it is to become inoperative in whole or in part on the outbreak of war, we are left to determine, as *Techt v. Hughes ...* indicates, whether the provision under which rights are asserted is incompatible with national policy in time of war."⁴⁶ This combination of intention and compatibility has become the standard in the United States of America to measure the effect of armed conflict on treaties.⁴⁷

- 12. The compatibility doctrine was also espoused at the international level by the dissenting opinion in *The S.S. "Wimbledon"* case of 1923 in the Permanent Court of International Justice. ⁴⁸ In that case, Judges Anzilotti and Huber argued that "if duties of national defence or neutrality conflict with those arising from conventions in fields such as commerce and communications, the intention of the parties must have been to treat the latter as being of lesser importance." Finally, the compatibility doctrine has also received support from numerous commentators. ⁵⁰
- 13. Modern thinking on the effect of armed conflict on treaties generally uses a combination of these two approaches. For example, Starke uses the two tests to

distinguish six kinds of treaty categories.⁵¹ Other commentators such as McNair,⁵² Shearer⁵³ and Verzijl⁵⁴ have created even more classifications. It is one goal of the present study to synthesize all approaches into a comprehensive classification of the effect of armed conflict on treaties.

B. General conclusions

14. Analysis of the effect of armed conflict on treaties has progressed through three distinct conclusions. The traditional view among jurists, confirmed by a large body of traditional State practice, is that treaties did not survive armed conflict.⁵⁵ For example, Charles II, King of England and Scotland, informed Scottish judges in 1673 that war with the Dutch "certainly" voided the 1667 Treaty of Breda.⁵⁶ Similarly, in 1801 Lord Stowell "assumed without discussion" in *The Frau Ilsabe* that war between Great Britain and the Netherlands abrogated treaties between them.⁵⁷ In 1817, Lord Stowell said treaties "are perishable things, and their obligations are dissipated by the first hostility."⁵⁸ United States President Polk stated in 1847 that "[a] state of war abrogates treaties previously existing between the belligerents".⁵⁹

Starke, An Introduction to International Law (footnote 28 above), pp. 409–410 (footnotes omitted).

⁴⁵ Techt v. Hughes, Court of Appeals of New York, 229 NY 222, 243, 128 NE 185, 192 (1920).

⁴⁶ Clark v. Allen, United States Supreme Court, 331 U.S. 503, 513 (1947). See also *Brownell v. San Francisco*, California Court of Appeals, 271 P.2d 974 (Cal. 1954) (following *Clark*).

⁴⁷ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), pp. 20 and 53. See also Whiteman (ed.) (footnote 32 above), p. 504 (citing letter from the Department of State to the Department of Justice, 18 March 1949, MS. Department of State, file 311.643/2-949: "With respect to the effect of war on the operation of treaty provisions generally, the Department considers that the determinative factor is whether or not there is such incompatibility between the treaty provisions in question and the maintenance of a state of war as to make it clear that a given provision should not enforced"); see also *ibid.*, p. 508 (citing Letter of the Chief of Protocol of the State Department (Woodward) to the Tax Commissioner of Ohio, 29 March 1949, MS. Department of State, file 702.6511 Taxation/2-1949) (using identical language).

⁴⁸ The S.S. "Wimbledon", Judgment of 17 August 1923, P.C.I.J. Series A, No. 1, p. 14, at pp. 35 et seq., dissenting opinion of Judges Anzilotti and Huber.

⁴⁹ G. Schwarzenberger, *International Law as Applied by International Courts and Tribunals*, vol. II, *The Law of Armed Conflict* (London, Stevens and Sons, 1968), p. 72.

⁵⁰ Briggs goes so far as to claim that "the legal right of a belligerent State to ... regard as terminated ... or regard as suspended ... treaties ... incompatible with a state of war" is as well established as the doctrine that treaties containing express provisions on wartime applicability will be honoured (Briggs (ed.), *The Law of Nations...* (footnote 28 above), pp. 942–943). See also Delbrück (footnote 6 above), p. 1370 (noting that treaties "in the field of private international law and other treaties regulating private interests" are often unaffected by armed conflict); Aust (footnote 28 above), p. 244 (arguing that "treaties [continue] to apply except in so far as their continuation or operation is not possible during a period of hostilities"); and Shearer (footnote 28 above), p. 493. Treaties compatible with national policy during war are alternatively referred to as "non-political" treaties. See, for example, Whiteman (ed.) (footnote 32 above), pp. 508–509 (citing letter of the United States Department of State Legal Adviser (E.A. Gross) to Richard Ränk, Svenska Institutet för Internationell Rätt (Iohnson-Institutet), Uppsala (Sweden), 29 January 1948, MS. Department of State, file 500/12-1947).

⁵¹ "(1) Treaties between the belligerent States which presuppose the maintenance of common political action or good relations between them, for example, treaties of alliance, are abrogated.

[&]quot;(2) Treaties representing completed situations or intended to set up a permanent state of things, for example, treaties of cession or treaties fixing boundaries, are unaffected by war and continue in force.

[&]quot;(3) Treaties to which the belligerents are parties relating to the conduct of hostilities, for example, the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907 and other treaties prescribing rules of warfare, remain binding.

[&]quot;(4) Multilateral Conventions of the 'law-making' type relating to health, drugs, protection of industrial property, etc., are not annulled on the outbreak of war but are either suspended, and revived on the termination of hostilities, or receive even in wartime a partial application.

[&]quot;(5) Sometimes express provisions are inserted in treaties to cover the position on the outbreak of war. ... [These provisions will be honoured.]

[&]quot;(6) With regard to other classes of treaties, e.g., extradition treaties in the absence of any clear expression of intention otherwise, *prima facie* these are suspended."

⁵² McNair, The Law of Treaties (footnote 36 above).

⁵³ Shearer (footnote 28 above), p. 493.

⁵⁴ Verzijl (footnote 6 above).

⁵⁵ McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), pp. 698–702. Noting that "the farther back we go, the more sweeping and undiscriminating are the assertions that all treaties are abrogated by the outbreak of war between the contracting parties", McNair states that "[t]his is probably due to the ancient practice of *diffidatio*, whereby upon the outbreak of war it was customary for each belligerent to proclaim solemnly that all treaties existing between them had thereby ceased. ... The effect of this practice appears to have survived the practice itself" (p. 698, footnote 2 and accompanying text). See also Oppenheim (footnote 29 above), p. 302; and Delbrück (footnote 6 above), p. 1369.

⁵⁶ McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), p. 698.

⁵⁷ *Ibid.*, p. 699. For *The Frau Ilsabe*, see C. Robinson, *Reports of Cases Argued and Determined in the High Court of Admiralty*, vol. IV (London, Butterworth and White, 1804), pp. 63 *et seq.*

⁵⁸ McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), p. 699.

⁵⁹ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 34. But see decision of the Claims Commission established under the United States Act of 3 March 1849: "[A]s a general principle, the breaking out of war puts

Sir J. D. Harding, the Queen's Advocate in Great Britain in 1854, wrote that "by the Law of Nations War abrogates all Treaties between the belligerents."60 The British blockade of Zanzibar in 1873 was considered by Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty in Britain as an act of war that would annul the Treaty of 1845 between Britain and Zanzibar.⁶¹ After the blockade of Venezuelan ports by Great Britain, Germany and Italy in 1902, Great Britain and Venezuela exchanged formal notes confirming that this blockade "created, ipso facto, a state of war between Great Britain and Venezuela", and as a result there was a need to formally renew and confirm the Treaty of 18 April 1825 between them.⁶² The United States Court of Claims held in 1894 that "war supersedes treaties of peace and friendship, and makes the subjects of contending sovereignties enemies in law."63 The Spanish Government proclaimed in 1898 that the state of war existing

(Footnote 59 continued.)

an end to all treaties between the belligerents, yet it is not universally so ... [T]he expulsion of citizens of the United States from their places of residence and business in Mexico, during the existence of the late war, before the expiration of the period limited in the treaty, by the public authorities of Mexico, was in violation of their rights secured by treaty" (*ibid.*).

60 McNair, The Law of Treaties (footnote 36 above), p. 700.

⁶¹ *Ibid.*, p. 701. For the Agreement between Great Britain and the Sultanate of Muscat on the Termination of the Export of Slaves, signed at Zanzibar on 2 October 1845, see *British and Foreign State Papers*, 1846–1847, vol. 35 (London, James Ridgway, 1860), p. 632.

62 McNair, The Law of Treaties (footnote 36 above), pp. 701–702. For the Treaty of Amity, Commerce and Navigation between Great Britain and Colombia, signed at Bogotá on 18 April 1825, see British and Foreign State Papers, 1824-1825, vol. 12 (London, James Ridgway, 1846), p. 661. United States and, to a lesser extent, United Kingdom case law dealing with the performance of private rights is a major exception to the traditional view. As early as 1823, in Society for the Propagation of the Gospel v. New Haven and Wheeler, the United States Supreme Court said in dicta that "treaties stipulating for permanent rights, and general arrangements, and professing to aim at perpetuity, and to deal with the case of war as well as of peace, do not cease on the occurrence of war, but are, at most, only suspended while it lasts" (H. Wheaton, Reports of Cases Argued and Adjudged in the Supreme Court of the United States: February Term, 1823, vol. VIII (New York, R. Donaldson, 1823), p. 464, at pp. 494-495 (discussed in McNair, The Law of Treaties (footnote 36 above), pp. 699-700)). A British court reached a similar result seven years later in Sutton v. Sutton (1830) (The English Reports, vol. 39 (London, Stevens and Sons, 1904), p. 255). These cases form the beginning of a long line of jurisprudence in those countries upholding treaties guaranteeing reciprocal private rights during armed conflict; rather than representative of the traditional view, they are the precursor to the modern view, and are discussed below. United States practice at the conclusion of the War of 1812 between the United States and Great Britain also differed from the traditional view. John Quincy Adams argued that the Treaty of 1783 between Great Britain and the United States had not been annulled by the War of 1812. Lord Bathurst responded: "To a position of this novel nature Great Britain cannot accede. She knows of no exception to the rule, that all treaties are put an end to by a subsequent war between the same parties." Adams replied that there were "many exceptions" to the absolute termination doctrine, including all treaties which "are in the nature of a perpetual obligation". McIntyre argues that although "the United States may be said to have acquiesced in' the British position", strong evidence supports the proposition that the United States never abandoned its point of view and that United States practice in the early nineteenth century allowed for major exceptions to the absolute abrogation doctrine (McIntyre (footnote 7 above), pp. 29-30 and p. 30, footnote 1). For the Definitive Treaty of Peace between Great Britain and the United States, signed at Paris on 3 September 1783, see H. Miller (ed.), Treaties and Other International Acts of the United States of America, vol. 2 (Washington, D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1931), p. 151.

⁶³ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 34 (citing *Valk v. United States*, 29 Ct. Cl. 62 (1894), affirmed in 168 US 703 (1897)).

between Spain and the United States of America terminated all treaties between them.⁶⁴

15. In the early twentieth century, a second, diametrically opposed view emerged that war does not affect treaties, subject to some exceptions. Proposed by N. Politis of France in his report to the Institute of International Law, 65 the idea was incorporated into the draft regulations adopted by the Institute at its 1912 meeting in Christiania, which stated that war "does not affect the existence of treaties, conventions and agreements, whatever their title or object, between the belligerent States. The same holds for special obligations derived from these treaties, conventions and agreements."66 Similarly, the Harvard Research on the Law of Treaties in 193567 argued that war may suspend some treaties but does not abrogate any of them. ⁶⁸ This trend away from ipso facto abrogation also received support in an international tribunal of the early twentieth century. The arbitral tribunal in North Atlantic Coast Fisheries stated that "[i]nternational [l]aw in its modern development recognizes that a great number of treaty obligations are not annulled by war, but at most suspended by it".69 At first glance, this school may appear diametrically opposed to the traditional view that war *ipso facto* terminates treaties; after an examination of the many exceptions to each view, however, they do not appear to differ drastically.

16. The modern view espoused by the Institute of International Law in its 1985 study and resolution is that "armed conflict does not *ipso facto* terminate or suspend the operation of treaties in force between the parties to the armed conflict." Although this broad statement is perhaps one of the only common denominators that can be drawn from the vastly divergent practice and doctrine, its overly general nature is unsatisfactory. The following chapter will attempt a detailed examination of different types of treaties, in an effort to determine whether any more specific standards can be drawn.

⁶⁴ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 34.

⁶⁵ *Ibid.*, p. 37 (citing *Yearbook of the Institute of International Law*, vol. 24 (Session of Madrid, 1911), p. 200). McIntyre notes that the same view had been proposed three decades earlier in J. C. Bluntschli, *Das moderne Völkerrecht der civilisirten Staten*, 3rd ed. (Nördlingen, C. H. Beck, 1878), pp. 538 and 402. The same year Politis made his report, Turkey declared war on Italy and proclaimed all bilateral treaties terminated (McIntyre, p. 37).

⁶⁶ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 37 (citing *Yearbook of the Institute of International Law*, vol. 25 (Session of Christiania, 1912), p. 611).

⁶⁷ Harvard Research in International Law (J. W. Garner, Reporter), "Law of Treaties" (footnote 17 above).

⁶⁸ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), pp. 14–15.

⁶⁹ The North Atlantic Coast Fisheries Case (Great Britain, United States of America), Award of 7 September 1910, United Nations, Reports of International Arbitral Awards, vol. XI (Sales No. 61.V.4), p. 167, at p. 181 (cited in McNair (footnote 36 above), p. 702, footnote 2; Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 377).

⁷⁰ Institute of International Law study and resolution of 1985 on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties (footnotes 18–19 above), art. 2. Malanczuk made an interesting point as to the new view that armed conflict does not *ipso facto* terminate treaties, arguing that "[m]aybe it is not so much the rule which has changed, as the nature of the treaties to which the rule applies. It was sensible to say that war ended all treaties between belligerent States when most treaties were bilateral 'contract treaties'; the rule has to be altered when many treaties are multilateral 'law-making treaties', to which neutrals as well as belligerents are parties" (Malanczuk (footnote 28 above), pp. 145–146).

CHAPTER II

Categorization of the effect of armed conflict on treaties

17. The modern view of the effect of armed conflict on treaties is that "the question of whether treaties survive the outbreak of hostilities is resolved according to the type of treaty involved." The task of the modern jurist, therefore, has been to determine which types of treaties continue in force during and after armed conflict, which are suspended and which are abrogated. Judicial decisions in several countries support the categorization theory, 2 and multiple modern commentators have adopted the approach. The present chapter, the main substantive analysis of the study, attempts a comprehensive examination to this effect.

A. Treaties exhibiting a very high likelihood of applicability

1. Humanitarian law treaties

18. It is well established that armed conflict can have no effect on international humanitarian law, such as the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907 respecting the laws and customs of war on land and the Geneva Conventions for the protection of war victims (1949 Geneva Conventions) and Additional Protocols, 74 those treaties dealing with the use of

particular weapons⁷⁵ and other treaties dealing with aspects of armed conflict,⁷⁶ since all such treaties were specifically designed to deal with an aspect of armed hostilities.⁷⁷ Of all the kinds of treaties discussed in this study, international humanitarian law treaties have the highest record of continued vitality during armed conflict. As far back as 1785, article XXIV of the Treaty of Friendship and Commerce between Prussia and the United States of America clearly stated that armed conflict had no effect on its humanitarian law provisions, 78 and throughout history even the weakest treaty regimes in international humanitarian law have been "relatively well observed" during armed conflict. 79 The current view espoused in the Restatement (Third) of the Foreign Relations Law of the United States is that "[u]nder traditional international law, the outbreak of war between [S]tates terminated or suspended agreements between them. However, ... agreements governing the conduct of hostilities survived, since they were designed for application during war."80 If this humanitarian exception existed even under the traditional understanding of the effect of armed

armed conflicts (Protocol I); article 1 of the Protocol additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the protection of victims of non-international armed conflicts (Protocol II); and the Hague Convention of 1907 respecting the laws and customs of war on land (Convention IV) and annex of Regulations.

⁷⁵ See, for example, Convention on the prohibition of the development, production and stockpiling of bacteriological (biological) and toxin weapons and on their destruction, 1972; Convention on prohibitions or restrictions on the use of certain conventional weapons which may be deemed to be excessively injurious or to have indiscriminate effects, 1980 (including its five optional protocols); Convention on the prohibition of the development, production, stockpiling and use of chemical weapons and on their destruction, 1993; Convention on the prohibition of the use, stockpiling, production and transfer of antipersonnel mines and on their destruction, 1997.

⁷⁶ See, for example, Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court, 1998; Convention for the Protection of Cultural Property in the Event of Armed Conflict, 1954 (plus its two protocols); Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the involvement of children in armed conflict, 2000.

⁷⁷ Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 371; Delbrück (footnote 6 above), p. 1370; Brownlie (note 28 above), p. 592; Whiteman (ed.) (footnote 32 above), p. 519; Oppenheim (footnote 29 above), p. 304; Aust (footnote 28 above), p. 244; Tobin (footnote 23 above), p. 29; Kelsen, *Principles of International Law*, 2nd rev. ed. (Tucker, ed.) (footnote 2 above), pp. 499–500; Stone (footnote 2 above), pp. 447–450; "Study of the legal validity of the undertakings concerning minorities", Commission on Human Rights, sixth session (1950) (E/CN.4/367 and Corr.1 and Add.1), p. 7, footnote 1; Starke (footnote 28 above), p. 409.

⁷⁸ Article XXIV of the Treaty of Friendship and Commerce entered into by Prussia and the United States at The Hague, 10 September 1785: "Les deux Puissances Contractantes ont déclaré en outre, que ni le prétexte que la guerre rompt les Traités, ni tel autre motif quelconque, ne seront censés annuler ou suspendre cet Article et le précédent, mais qu'au contraire le temps de la guerre est précisément celui pour lequel ils ont été stipulés" ["the two Contracting Powers have declared, that neither the pretence that war dissolves all treaties, nor any other whatever, shall be considered as annulling or suspending this and the next preceding article, but on the contrary, that the state of war is precisely that for which they are provided"] (U.S. Stat., vol. VIII (1848), p. 84, at pp. 96 and 98) (cited in Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 371).

⁷⁹ Tarasofsky (footnote 71 above), p. 56 (discussing the 1925 Geneva Protocol for the prohibition of the use in war of asphyxiating, poisonous or other gases, and of bacteriological methods of warfare).

⁸⁰ American Law Institute, *Restatement (Third) of the Foreign Relations Law of the United States*, vol. 1 (St. Paul, Minnesota, 1987), sect. 336 (e).

⁷¹ R. G. Tarasofsky, "Legal protection of the environment during international armed conflict", *Netherlands Yearbook of International Law*, vol. 24 (1993), p. 17, at p. 62.

⁷² In the United Kingdom, see *Sutton v. Sutton* (footnote 62 above). In the United States, see *In re Meyer's Estate*, California Court of Appeals, 107 Cal. App. 2d 799, 804–805 (1951) ("whether the stipulations of a treaty are annulled by war depends upon their intrinsic character"). See also *Clark v. Allen* (footnote 46 above), 331 U.S. 503 (1947); *Society for the Propagation of the Gospel* (footnote 62 above), 8 Wheat 464, 494–495 (U.S. 1823); *Karnuth v. U.S.*, United States Supreme Court, 279 U.S. 231 (1929); *Techt* (footnote 45 above), 229 N.Y. 222, 128 N.E. 185 (1920), *certiorari denied*, 254 U.S. 643 (1920); *State ex. rel. Miner v. Reardon*, Supreme Court of Kansas, 120 Kan. 614, 245 Pac. 158 (1926); *Goos v. Brocks*, Supreme Court of Nebraska, 117 Neb. 750, 223 N.W. 13 (1929); *The Sophie Rickmers*, 45 F.2d 413 (S.D.N.Y. 1930).

⁷³ See footnotes 51-53 above and accompanying text. But see Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 372. Verzijl is critical of this "statistical" approach to the problem, arguing that "even if it were feasible to state with exactitude in how many cases treaties were held to have automatically lapsed as a consequence of the outbreak of war ... , how many were considered as having only become automatically suspended ..., and how many remained in force, this numerical result would only be a mere statistical statement of fact and would not necessarily and automatically imply a corresponding normative judgment. Such a statement would not, to my mind, by itself justify the conclusion that there exists a rule of law in conformity with it, but would at the utmost give an indication of what might be held to be the law in cases where there are no positive data about the intentions of the belligerents available." See also ibid., p. 377 ("I do not feel ... that there is sufficient foundation for ... a sharp distinction between various groups of treaties, and I do not, therefore, agree with authors who assert that, e.g., commercial treaties do, but extradition treaties do not automatically revive").

⁷⁴ See, for example, article 2 of the Geneva Convention for the Amelioration of the Condition of the Wounded and Sick in Armed Forces in the Field (Convention I); article 2 and article 47 of the Geneva Convention for the Amelioration of the Condition of Wounded, Sick and Shipwrecked Members of Armed Forces at Sea (Convention II); article 2 of the Geneva Convention relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War (Convention III); article 2 of the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War (Convention IV); articles 51 to 56 of the Protocol additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the protection of victims of international

conflict on treaties, it is even more likely that it exists under the modern approach, which allows for more cases where treaties are unaffected by armed conflict.

- 19. A similarly significant test is the effect of world wars: whereas world wars have historically had the most significant effects on treaties,81 humanitarian law continued to operate in the First World War. The Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907 regulating the conduct of war were treated as in force during the First World War; many Prize Court decisions, as well as the Declaration of Paris of 1856, gave effect to these Conventions. 82 In 1923, the Government of the United Kingdom, responding to a query from another Government as to whether it regarded the Geneva Red Cross Convention of 6 July 1906 (Convention for the Amelioration of the Condition of the Wounded and Sick in Armies in the Field) as still in force between ex-belligerents of the First World War, replied: "[I]n the view of His Majesty's Government this convention, being of a class the object of which is to regulate the conduct of belligerents during war, was not affected by the outbreak of war."83 Similarly, in 1925 the Government of the United Kingdom denounced the 1907 Hague Convention VI, which would not have been necessary if it had been abrogated by the First World War.84
- 20. The vitality of international humanitarian law during armed conflict has also been underscored by the International Court of Justice. In its advisory opinion on the *Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons*, the Court cited international humanitarian law as the prime example of treaties applicable in armed conflict.⁸⁵
- 21. Despite this general applicability of international humanitarian law during armed conflict, even this law has a threshold of applicability. Because this threshold may prove relevant to the general question of the effect of armed conflict on treaties, it is discussed in some detail here. Meron explains these thresholds as they relate to international armed conflict, non-international armed conflict and lower-intensity violence not rising to the level of non-international armed conflict:

The Geneva Conventions distinguish between international conflicts, as defined in common Article 2, and conflicts not of an international character under common Article 3. Conflicts involving lower-intensity violence that do not reach the threshold of an armed conflict are implicitly distinguished from noninternational armed conflicts to which the provisions of that article are applicable. Article 8(2)(d) of the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court, drawing on the language of Article 1(2) of Additional Protocol II, makes this distinction explicit for the purposes of this statute by providing that paragraph 1(c), which tracks the language of common Article 3, applies to armed conflicts and not to situations of internal disturbances and tensions, such as riots, isolated and sporadic acts

of violence, and other acts of a similar nature. The Additional Protocols distinguish between international armed conflicts as defined in Article 1 of Protocol I, noninternational armed conflicts as defined in Article 1 of Protocol II, and "situations of internal disturbances and tensions," which fall below the threshold of applicability of Protocol II. Article 8(2)(f) of the ICC statute has further complicated the question. It declares that the provisions in paragraph 2(e), which go beyond common Article 3 and include some additional Geneva and Hague law, apply to "armed conflicts that take place in the territory of a State when there is a protracted armed conflict between governmental authorities and organized armed groups or between such groups."⁸⁶

- 22. Because "[t]he characterization of the conflict ... determines which rules of international humanitarian law, if any, will be applicable", the door is open for Governments to characterize the conflict in the way most favourable to them, potentially decreasing the applicability of international humanitarian law.⁸⁷ This problem is exacerbated by the extent of "mixed" or "internationalized" conflicts" characteristic of the current era.⁸⁸ The non-application of the whole of international humanitarian law to non-international armed conflict is particularly problematic because the Protocol dealing specifically with non-international armed conflict, Protocol II, requires a very high threshold to trigger its applicability and has seldom been applied.⁸⁹ Thus, the characterization of the armed conflict as a non-international one can have the effect of rendering all humanitarian law inapplicable.⁹⁰
- This trend separating different thresholds of applicability of international humanitarian law appears to be dissipating. A recent study by the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) "seeks a broader recognition that many rules are applicable to both international and noninternational conflicts."91 Most military manuals do not distinguish between the two, and the chairman of the United States Joint Chiefs of Staff explicitly states that the "Armed Forces of the United States will comply with the law of war during the conduct of all military operations and related activities in armed conflict, however such conflicts are characterized."92 The regulations promulgated by the Secretary-General of the United Nations regarding the observance of international humanitarian law by United Nations forces also make no distinction between international and non-international conflicts.93 A growing number of new

⁸¹ See chapter III below.

⁸² McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), p. 696. See also *ibid.*, p. 704.

⁸³ *Ibid.*, p. 704.

⁸⁴ Ibid.

⁸⁵ Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion, I.C.J. Reports 1996, p. 226, at p. 265, para. 105 (8 July 1996). The Court also makes clear that any treaty codifying the principle of neutrality would also continue to apply: "The Court finds that as in the case of the principles of humanitarian law applicable in armed conflict, international law leaves no doubt that the principle of neutrality, whatever its content, which is of a fundamental character similar to that of the humanitarian principles and rules, is applicable (subject to the relevant provisions of the United Nations Charter), to all international armed conflict, whatever type of weapons might be used" (ibid., p. 261, para. 89).

⁸⁶ T. Meron, "The humanization of humanitarian law", AJIL, vol. 94 (2000), p. 239, at p. 260 (citing humanitarian law treaties (see footnote 74 above)).

 $^{^{87}\,\}text{Meron},$ "The humanization of humanitarian law" (footnote 86 above), pp. 260–261.

⁸⁸ *Ibid*.

⁸⁹ Ibid., p. 261.

⁹⁰ *Ibid.* (citing R. R. Baxter, "Some existing problems of humanitarian law", in *The Concept of International Armed Conflict: Further Outlook* (Proceedings of the International Symposium on Humanitarian Law, Brussels, 1974)). Similar to this characterization issue, Meron also discusses how the redefinition of "protected persons" under article 4 of Geneva Convention IV can lead to non-applicability of that convention in armed conflicts in which it should otherwise apply (see Meron (footnote 86 above), pp. 256–260).

⁹¹ Meron, "The humanization of humanitarian law" (footnote 86 above), p. 261.

⁹² *Ibid.* (citing chairman, Joint Chiefs of Staff, Instruction 5810.01, *Implementation of the DOD Law of War Program* (1996), quoted in Corn, "When does the law of war apply: analysis of Department of Defense policy on application of the law of war", in *The Army Lawyer* (June 1998), p. 16, at p. 17).

⁹³ Meron, "The humanization of humanitarian law" (footnote 86 above), pp. 261–262 (citing document ST/SGB/1999/13, reprinted in ILM, vol. 38 (1999), p. 1656).

international humanitarian law conventions apply to noninternational conflicts.⁹⁴ Moreover, the Appeals Chamber of the International Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia has strongly questioned the distinction between international and non-international armed conflict:

Why protect civilians from belligerent violence, or ban rape, torture or the wanton destruction of hospitals, churches, museums or private property, as well as proscribe weapons causing unnecessary suffering when two sovereign States are engaged in war, and yet refrain from enacting the same bans or providing the same protection when armed violence has erupted "only" within the territory of a sovereign State? If international law, while of course duly safeguarding the legitimate interests of States, must gradually turn to the protection of human beings, it is only natural that the aforementioned dichotomy should gradually lose its weight.⁹⁵

- 24. Finally, Meron notes that "the codification in the [Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court] of the principles that crimes against humanity can be committed in all situations, without regard to the thresholds of armed conflicts, and that they can be committed not only in furtherance of state policy, but also in furtherance of the policy of non-state entities, is a signal achievement." Thus, although international humanitarian law has historically enjoyed only limited applicability during non-international or non-State armed conflict, the recent trend is a clear break from this tradition.
- 25. Another area in which an examination of international humanitarian law can prove useful to the general question of the effect of armed conflict on treaties is in the distinction between treaty violation, on the one hand, and the legal effect of armed conflict on treaties, on the other. For example, although it is well established that international armed conflict has ostensibly no effect on international humanitarian law,⁹⁷ and the extent to which international humanitarian law applies during non-international conflict is increasing, 98 a review of State practice nevertheless reveals many cases where international humanitarian law, although it applied, was violated. In Bosnia, Kosovo, Sierra Leone, the Congo, Somalia, Afghanistan, Cambodia, Kuwait and elsewhere, the "contrast between the normative framework and the harsh, often barbaric reality of the battlefield" is bitterly apparent.⁹⁹ The Secretary-General of the United Nations

⁹⁴ Meron, "The humanization of humanitarian law" (footnote 86 above), p. 262 (citing Convention on prohibitions or restrictions on the use of certain conventional weapons which may be deemed to be excessively injurious or to have indiscriminate effects, 1980, and its Protocol on prohibitions or restrictions on the use of mines, booby-traps and other devices, as amended on 3 May 1996 (Protocol II); Convention on the prohibition of the use, stockpiling, production and transfer of anti-personnel mines and on their destruction, 1997; Convention on the prohibition of the development, production and stockpiling of bacteriological (biological) and toxin weapons and on their destruction, 1972; Convention on the prohibition of the development, production, stockpiling and use of chemical weapons and on their destruction, 1993; and the Second Protocol to the Hague Convention of 1954 for the Protection of Cultural Property in the Event of Armed Conflict, 1999).

⁹⁵ Prosecutor v. Tadić, case No. IT-94-1-AR72, decision on the defence motion for interlocutory appeal on jurisdiction, 2 October 1995, para. 97 (*Judicial Reports 1994–1995*, vol. I, p. 353); see also ILM, vol. 35 (1996), p. 32 (cited in Meron, "The humanization of humanitarian law" (footnote 86 above), p. 262).

 96 Meron, "The humanization of humanitarian law" (footnote 86 above), p. 263.

97 See footnotes 77-85 above and accompanying text.

recognized this dichotomy in a recent report to the Security Council on the protection of civilians in armed conflict:

Despite the adoption of the various conventions on international humanitarian and human rights law over the past 50 years, hardly a day goes by where we are not presented with evidence of the intimidation, brutalization, torture and killing of helpless civilians in situations of armed conflict. Whether it is mutilations in Sierra Leone, genocide in Rwanda, ethnic cleansing in the Balkans or disappearances in Latin America, the parties to conflicts have acted with deliberate indifference to those conventions. Rebel factions, opposition fighters and Government forces continue to target innocent civilians with alarming frequency. 100

Similarly, the ICRC states that "[s]adly, there are countless examples of violation of international humanitarian law." Thus, a clear distinction exists between the effect of armed conflict on treaties, on the one hand, and treaty violation, on the other hand. Because international humanitarian law unquestionably applies during armed conflict, it is easy to separate a legal effect of armed conflict on international humanitarian law (there is none) from a violation of international humanitarian law by the parties to the conflict. With other treaties whose status during armed conflict is less clear, the two become more difficult to separate, and one should take care not to mistake treaty violation as evidence of an effect of armed conflict on that treaty.

2. Treaties containing express provisions on wartime applicability

26. Treaty provisions expressly confirming the applicability of the treaty during armed conflict or war will generally be honoured. ¹⁰² For example, the British Government continued to pay Russia loan payments despite the outbreak of war between the two parties because the treaty establishing the loan, the Treaty of 19 May 1815, expressly provided that such payments should continue during times of war. ¹⁰³ A recent example of such an ex-

¹⁰³ McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), pp. 696–697. Sir William Molesworth, speaking for the British Government in the House of Commons on 1 August 1854, said: "[I]n consequence of our being at war with Russia, I hold that we are more bound in honour to pay this debt than if we were at peace" (*ibid.*, p. 697). Attorney General Alexander Cockburn said in the House of Commons that if Britain ceased its payments, it "would stand before Europe in the position of a country which took advantage of war to violate engagements to which they were bound by the most solemn consideration of honour and good faith to adhere" (*ibid.*).

⁹⁸ See footnotes 91–96 above and accompanying text.

⁹⁹ Meron, "The humanization of humanitarian law" (footnote 86 above), p. 276.

 $^{^{100}}$ S/1999/957, para. 2 (cited in Meron, "The humanization of humanitarian law" (footnote 86 above), p. 277).

¹⁰¹ ICRC, "What is international humanitarian law?" Advisory Service on International Humanitarian Law; available from www.icrc.org/en/doc/assets/files/other/what is ihl.pdf.

¹⁰² See para. (4) of the commentary to article 21 of the articles on responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts, adopted by the Commission at its fifty-third session, which explains that even a State acting under its inherent right to self-defence "is 'totally restrained' by an international obligation if that obligation is expressed or intended to apply as a definitive constraint even to States in armed conflict" (Yearbook ... 2001, vol. II (Part Two) and corrigendum, p. 75); see also Institute of International Law resolution of 1985 on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties (footnote 19 above), art. 3 ("The outbreak of an armed conflict renders operative, in accordance with their own provisions, between the parties treaties which expressly provide that they are to be operative during an armed conflict or which by reason of their nature or purpose are to be regarded as operative during an armed conflict"); see likewise Oppenheim (footnote 29 above), p. 304; Briggs (ed.), The Law of Nations... (footnote 28 above), p. 942; Starke, An Introduction to International Law (footnote 28 above), p. 409.

press provision is article 6 (1) of the 1986 Treaty between the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and France, which states: "In the event of any exceptional circumstances, such as ... armed conflict, or the threat thereof, each Government, after consultation with the other if circumstances permit, may take measures derogating from its obligations under this Treaty, its supplementary Protocols and arrangements, or the Concession." Such cases of express provision are easy, because the intent of the parties that the treaty continue in force during armed conflict is clear.

3. Treaties creating or regulating a permanent regime or status

27. There is broad consensus that treaties declaring, creating or regulating a permanent regime or status will be unaffected by the outbreak of armed conflict between some or all of the members thereof. This includes treaties providing sovereignty, ceding territory, creating servitudes, administering a territory, ¹⁰⁶ establishing a boundary. and creating an international organization. ¹⁰⁸

- 28. For example, in *In re Meyer's Estate*, an appellate court in the United States of America addressed the permanence of treaties dealing with territory—the so-called "transitory" or "dispositive" treaties—holding that "[t]he authorities appear to be in accord that there is nothing incompatible with the policy of the government, with the safety of the nation, or with the maintenance of war in the enforcement of dispositive treaties or dispositive parts of treaties. Such provisions are compatible with, and are not abrogated by, a state of war."¹⁰⁹
- 29. Similarly, "there can be no doubt that in the British view State rights of a permanent character, connected with sovereignty and status and territory, ... are not affected by the outbreak of war". 110 Reporting in 1900 on the effects of war on the treaties establishing the Orange Free State and the South African Republic, law officers Webster and Finlay stated that "in our opinion, the action of the Orange Free State in taking part in the present war has not, ipso facto, had the effect of putting an end to the instrument constituting its independence. The arrangement made by that instrument set up a state of things intended to be permanent by an act done once for all. Instruments of this kind are not, ipso facto, abrogated by war." 111
- 30. Finally, the Vienna Convention on succession of States in respect of treaties of 1978 reaches a similar conclusion about the resilience of boundary treaties, stating that "[a] succession of States does not as such affect: (a) a boundary established by a treaty; or (b) obligations and rights established by a treaty and relating to the régime of a boundary." Although not directly relevant to the question of the effect of armed conflict on treaties, many cases of succession of States have come about through armed conflict.

4. Treaties or treaty provisions codifying *Jus Cogens* rules

31. A *jus cogens* norm is defined as "a norm accepted and recognized by the international community of States as a whole as a norm from which no derogation is permitted".¹¹³ Thus, by definition, norms belonging to the category of *jus cogens* apply in all situations and are unaffected by the outbreak of armed conflict.¹¹⁴

¹⁰⁴ Treaty between the United Kingdom and France concerning the construction and operation by private concessionaires of a channel fixed link, signed 12 February 1986, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1497, No. 25792, p. 325, art. 6 (1) (cited in *R. v. Secretary of State for the Environment, Transport and the Regions*, Court of Appeal of England and Wales (Civil Division), decision of 23 July 2001, [2001] EWCA Civ 1185).

¹⁰⁵ See McNair (footnote 36 above), pp. 704 and 720; Delbrück (footnote 6 above), p. 1370; Aust (footnote 28 above), p. 244; Verzijl (footnote 6 above), pp. 371-372; Oppenheim (footnote 29 above), p. 304; Kelsen, *Principles of International Law*, 2nd rev. ed. (Tucker, ed.) (footnote 28 above), p. 501; McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 53 ("[T]he practice of the United States indicates that treaties which are intended to create perpetual arrangements ... (the exercise of which would not be inconsistent with national policy during the war) are generally regarded as surviving the outbreak of war between the parties"); Stone (footnote 2 above), p. 448; "Study of the legal validity of the undertakings concerning minorities" (E/CN.4/367 and Corr.1 and Add.1) (footnote 77 above), p. 9. But see Stone (footnote 2 above), p. 449 (arguing that "multilateral instruments of international legislation ... are at least suspended during the war between opposed belligerents" and that "State practice has ... tend[ed] ... to treat all inter-belligerent treaty relations, including those of a multilateral and legislative character, as abrogated by war"); see also Starke, An Introduction to International Law (footnote 28 above), p. 409.

¹⁰⁶ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), pp. 70–71 ("Since the inception of the trusteeship system, the United Nations has acted on the assumption that the Congo Basin treaty [see General Act of the Conference of Berlin, 1885] continued in force for all of the parties to it despite the war ... even though a political treaty The multilateral character of the agreement undoubtedly contributed to the maintenance of this convention").

¹⁰⁷ Tobin (footnote 23 above), p. 50 ("There appears to be unanimous opinion that war has no effect on boundary provisions either during or subsequent to hostilities"); McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), p. 705; *Restatement (Third)*, (footnote 80 above), sect. 336, reporters' note 2; Stone (footnote 2 above), p. 448; Oppenheim (footnote 29 above), p. 304. See also K.H. Kaikobad, "The Shatt-al-Arab river boundary: a legal reappraisal", BYBIL *1985*, vol. 56, p. 49, at pp. 67–69, 80–85 and 95. But see G. Ténékidès, "La condition internationale de la République de Chypre", AFDI, vol. 6 (1960), p. 133, at p. 140 (describing and criticizing Great Britain's unilateral annexation of Cyprus in 1914 based on the proposition that the war between Great Britain and Turkey had rendered the treaty concerning Cyprus invalid).

¹⁰⁸ Institute of International Law resolution of 1985 on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties (footnote 19 above), art. 6 ("A treaty establishing an international organization is not affected by the existence of an armed conflict between any of its parties"); see also Briggs (ed.), *The Law of Nations*... (footnote 28 above), p. 945. Practice and doctrine in this area have changed considerably. The traditional belief was that

armed conflict had a more substantial effect on such treaties. See also Tobin (footnote 23 above), pp. 74-82.

¹⁰⁹ In re Meyer's Estate (see footnote 72 above), 107 Cal. App. 2d 799, 805 (1981).

¹¹⁰ McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), p. 705.

¹¹¹ *Ibid.*, pp. 706–710, especially p. 709.

¹¹² Vienna Convention on succession of States in respect of treaties, art. 11

^{113 1969} Vienna Convention, art. 53.

¹¹⁴ Chinkin (footnote 15 above), p. 184 ("Even at times of severe crisis seriously threatening group values, humanitarian limits must restrict the options available to national elites. This policy underlies the principle of *jus cogens*"). Some commentators have made the same argument with respect to obligations *erga omnes*, or confused *jus cogens* norms with obligations *erga omnes*. See Tarasofsky (footnote 71 above), pp. 19–20; S. N. Simonds, "Conventional warfare and environmental protection: a proposal for international legal reform", *Stanford Journal of International Law*, vol. 29 (1992), p. 165, at p. 190. Contrary to the above, an obligation is not necessarily *jus cogens* merely by virtue of being *erga omnes*.

5. Human rights treaties

32. Although the debate continues as to whether human rights treaties apply *to* armed conflict, 115 it is well established that non-derogable 116 provisions of human rights

115 See, for example, W. Heintschel von Heinegg, "Introductory remarks to fusion or co-existence of international human rights law and international humanitarian law", Symposium held in Kiel (Germany), 19-22 September 2002, German Yearbook of International Law, vol. 45 (2002), p. 55, at p. 56 ("With the strict distinction between the law of war and the law of peace gradually vanishing—this is one understanding—the classic law of armed conflict seems to be supplemented or even modified by human rights law. While human rights are, in principle, designed to protect individuals against their governments in times of peace, their relevance also in times of armed conflict has gradually increased in the last two decades"). See also H.-J. Heintze, "The European Court of Human Rights and the implementation of human rights standards during armed conflicts", ibid., p. 60; R. Kolb, "The relationship between international humanitarian law and human rights law: A brief history of the 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the 1949 Geneva Conventions", International Review of the Red Cross, vol. 38, No. 324 (September 1998), p. 409; R. Quentin-Baxter, "Human rights and humanitarian law—confluence or conflict?", Australian Year Book of International Law, vol. 9 (1985), p. 94; resolution 2444 (XXIII) of the General Assembly (19 December 1968) on respect for human rights in armed conflicts; G. I. A. D. Draper, "The relationship between the human rights regime and the law of armed conflict", in Proceedings of the International Conference on Humanitarian Law -Sanremo, 24/27.IX.1970 (Lugano, Grassi, 1970), pp. 141; A. Migliazza, L'évolution de la réglementation de la guerre à la lumière de la sauvegarde des droits de l'homme, Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye, 1972-III, vol. 137, p. 141; "Respect for human rights in armed conflicts", report of the Secretary-General (A/8052), paras. 20 and 28 (1970); H. Meyrowitz, "Le droit de la guerre et les droits de l'homme", Revue du droit public et de la science politique en France et à l'etranger, vol. 88 (1972), p. 1059; A.H. Robertson, "Humanitarian law and human rights", in C. Swinarski (ed.), Studies and Essays on International Humanitarian Law and Red Cross Principles in Honour of Jean Pictet (Geneva/The Hague, ICRC/Martinus Nijhoff, 1984), p. 793; M.A. Meyer and H. McCoubrey (eds.), Reflections on Law and Armed Conflicts. The Selected Works on the Laws of War by the Late Professor Colonel G.I.A.D. Draper, OBE (The Hague, Kluwer Law International, 1998), p. 121; R. Provost, International Human Rights and Humanitarian Law (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 2002).

116 For examples of derogation clauses, see International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, 1966, art. 4; American Convention on Human Rights: "Pact of San José, Costa Rica", 1969, art. 27; Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (European Convention on Human Rights), 1950, art. 15. See also Y. Dinstein, "The reform of the protection of human rights during armed conflicts and periods of emergency and crisis", in The Reform of International Institutions for the Protection of Human Rights: First International Colloquium on Human Rights, La Laguna, Tenerife, 1st-4th November 1992 (Brussels, Bruylant, 1993), p. 337; M.C. Bassiouni, "States of emergency and states of exception: human rights abuses and impunity under color of law", in D. Prémont (ed.), Non-Derogable Rights and States of Emergency (Brussels, Bruylant, 1996), p. 125; S. P. Marks, "Principles and norms of human rights applicable in emergency situations: underdevelopment, catastrophes and armed conflicts", in K. Vasak and P. Alston (eds.), The International Dimensions of Human Rights, vol. 1 (Paris, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, 1982), p. 175; R. St. J. Macdonald, "Derogations under article 15 of the European Convention on Human Rights", Columbia Journal of Transnational Law, vol. 36 (1997), p. 225. Professor Heintze argues that the absence of such provisions in contemporary human rights treaties "marks the expansion of human rights, which clearly have to be seen as nonderogable. Even during public emergencies—including war—they cannot be disregarded" (Heintze (footnote 115 above), p. 62). He notes that "[t]he UN Secretary General made specific reference to this development by comparing the [International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights], which contains those rights to be assured even in emergencies in Article 4, and the more recent UN Human Rights treaties, which contain absolutely no restrictions for rights in times of public emergency" (ibid.). See report of the Secretary-General (E/ CN.4/1999/92), para. 20.

treaties apply during armed conflict. First, the International Court of Justice stated in its advisory opinion on Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons that "the protection of the International Covenant of Civil and Political Rights does not cease in times of war, except by operation of Article 4 of the Covenant whereby certain provisions may be derogated from in a time of national emergency."117 The nuclear weapons opinion is the closest that the Court has come to examining the effects of armed conflict on treaties, including significant discussion of the effect of armed conflict on both human rights and environmental treaties.¹¹⁸ Second, the Commission stated in its commentary to the articles on responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts that although the inherent right to self-defence may justify non-performance of certain treaties, "[a]s to obligations under international humanitarian law and in relation to non-derogable human rights provisions, self-defence does not preclude the wrongfulness of conduct." Finally, commentators are also in agreement that non-derogable human rights provisions are applicable during armed conflict. 120 Because non-derogable human rights provisions codify jus cogens norms, 121 the application of non-derogable human rights provisions during armed conflict can be considered a corollary of the rule expressed in the preceding section, that treaty provisions representing jus cogens norms must be honoured notwithstanding the outbreak of armed conflict.

¹¹⁷ Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion (footnote 85 above), para. 25. Several countries had advanced similar arguments in their written submissions to the Court. The United States argued that the "use of nuclear weapons in the exercise of legitimate self-defense would not be in any way inconsistent with" the international human right to life, tacitly accepting its applicability in armed conflict (Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, written submission of the United States, p. 43 (20 June 1995)). In the same way, the Russian Federation tacitly accepts the applicability of the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide of 1948 and of human rights law to situations of armed conflict (Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, written submission of the Russian Federation (19 June 1995), p. 9). France similarly tacitly accepted the applicability of human rights law to situations of armed conflict (Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, written submission of France (20 June 1995), p. 38). The above written pleadings are available from www.icj-cij.org/en /case/95/written-proceedings.

weapons is illegal under international law because it would violate provisions of environmental or human rights treaties—is premised on the assumption that these treaties continue to apply in armed conflict. For an additional discussion of the opinion, see E. Kristjánsdóttir, "The legality of the threat or use of nuclear weapons under current international law: the arguments behind the World Court's advisory opinion", *New York University Journal of International Law and Politics*, vol. 30 (1997–1998), p. 291.

¹¹⁹ Yearbook ... 2001, vol. II (Part Two) and corrigendum, p. 74 (para. (3) of commentary to draft article 21).

¹²⁰ M. C. Bassiouni, "International crimes: jus cogens and obligatio erga omnes", Journal of Law and Contemporary Problems, vol. 59, No. 4 (1996) p. 63, at p. 65 (arguing that jus cogens norms "are non-derogable in times of war as well as peace") (citing Bassiouni, "States of emergency and states of exception..." (footnote 116 above), p. 125); see also, for example, S. Vöneky, "A new shield for the environment: peacetime treaties as legal restraints on wartime damage", Review of European Community and International Environmental Law, vol. 9, No. 1 (2000), p. 20, at p. 23 (arguing that human rights treaties are "commonly regarded as applicable during war" and citing, inter alia, W. Kälin and L. Gabriel, "Human rights in times of occupation: an introduction", in W. Kälin (ed.), Human Rights in Times of Occupation: The Case of Kuwait (Berne, Stämpfli, 1994), p. 1, at pp. 26 and 79).

¹²¹ The 1969 Vienna Convention, in article 53, defines *jus cogens* norms by their non-derogable character.

- 33. Although the effect of armed conflict on derogable human rights provisions is not as clear as with the nonderogable provisions, there is growing acceptance of the proposition that these provisions may also apply during armed conflict. First, as early as 1950, before the existence of the modern human rights conventions, the United Nations Commission on Human Rights concluded in a study on treaties concerning minorities—precursors to human rights treaties—that they were not terminated by war. 122 It reached its conclusion by arguing that such treaties fitted into the two classes of treaties then believed to withstand the outbreak of war, namely treaties "to which belligerents and neutral countries are parties ... [and treaties creating] ... permanent situations of general interest". 123 Second, one of the 11 substantive articles of the resolution of the Institute of International Law is devoted to the subject, stating: "The existence of an armed conflict does not entitle a party unilaterally to terminate or to suspend the operation of treaty provisions relating to the protection of the human person, unless treaty otherwise provides."124 Finally, the International Court of Justice stated, in its advisory opinion on Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, that with regard to derogable provisions the test "falls to be determined by the applicable lex specialis, namely, the law applicable in armed conflict which is designed to regulate the conduct of hostilities."125 The Court thus left open the possibility that derogable human rights provisions could apply during armed conflict to the extent that international humanitarian law so provides.
- 34. In conclusion, it is well established that non-derogable human rights provisions apply during armed conflict, and there is a growing consensus that derogable provisions may apply as well. With these results in mind, a caveat is in order: a clear distinction must be drawn between the effect armed conflict has on human rights treaties—that is, the continued legal vitality of the treaty provision itself—and the effect armed conflict has on State behaviour as measured by these treaties. While armed conflict often results in increased breaches of human rights treaties, this is distinct from the legal status of the treaty provisions themselves. As discussed previously with respect to humanitarian treaties, 126 an examination of the effect of armed conflict on human rights treaties makes clear the need to distinguish between the legal effect armed conflict

 122 "Study of the legal validity of the undertakings concerning minorities" (E/CN.4/367 and Corr.1 and Add.1) (see footnote 77 above), p. 9.

has on the vitality of these treaties, which appears to be minimal, and violations of these treaties during armed conflict, which, unfortunately, may be quite significant.

6. Treaties governing intergovernmental debt

There is strong support for the proposition that treaties regulating intergovernmental debt continue to apply during armed conflict. According to McIntyre, it is "a well-established principle ... that an intergovernmental debt based on treaty is not impaired by war between the parties."127 For example, the United States of America never regarded such treaties "as even suspended as a result of World War II, although actual payment may have been rendered impossible during the period of hostilities."128 Similarly, during the Spanish-American War of 1898, "[w]hile Spain did not make any payments on her debt to the United States while the war was in progress, she did resume payments, including the one for the year of actual hostilities, shortly after the return of peace."129 Finally, Great Britain continued loan payments to Russia during the Crimean War, thus honouring a treaty expressly providing for continued payments during war. 130 McIntyre concludes that "[t]his is perhaps the most outstanding example of what is now a well-established principle, namely that an intergovernmental debt based on treaty is not impaired by war between the parties."¹³¹

7. DIPLOMATIC CONVENTIONS

36. It is well established that armed conflict should have no effect on diplomatic conventions. In the case concerning United States Diplomatic and Consular Staff in Tehran (United States of America v. Iran), 132 the International Court of Justice issued a very clear opinion on the effect of conflict on treaties concerning diplomatic immunity, "resoundingly affirm[ing] the global importance of the protection of diplomats and of diplomatic communications for the maintenance of a minimum public order."133 In the words of Christine Chinkin, "[i]t appears from this unanimous decision that no degree of crisis between the States and no threat to internal group values would support derogation from the performance of [diplomatic conventions]."¹³⁴ Although the Court issued its decision in the context of undeclared hostilities, it extended its ruling to all forms of armed conflict, stating in the clearest possible terms that "[e]ven in the case of armed conflict or in the case of a breach in diplomatic relations, [the Vienna Conventions on Diplomatic and

¹²³ *Ibid.*, pp. 8–9.

¹²⁴ Institute of International Law resolution of 1985 on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties (footnote 19 above), art. 4.

¹²⁵ Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion (see footnote 85 above), para. 25. Commentators have also emphasized the importance of the lex specialis doctrine when discussing the effect of armed conflict on environmental treaties. See, for example, Vöneky (footnote 120 above), p. 25; Simonds (footnote 114 above), p. 188. At least one commentator has noted weaknesses with the lex specialis doctrine. First, "the traditional dichotomy between the international law of war on the one hand and the law of peace on the other hand is dissolving" (Vöneky, p. 25). Second, "there is no evidence that States commonly hold that the protection of the environment during war shall be determined only by the laws of war. ... [A]s some States argue against the application of peacetime environmental law and some States argue in favour of it, there is no common opinio iuris that the applicability of peacetime environmental treaties during armed conflict is excluded" (ibid.).

¹²⁶ See paragraph 25 above and accompanying footnotes.

¹²⁷ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 215.

¹²⁸ *Ibid.*, p. 214.

¹²⁹ *Ibid.*, p. 215.

¹³⁰ *Ibid*.

¹³¹ *Ibid*.

¹³² United States Diplomatic and Consular Staff in Tehran (United States v. Iran), Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1980, p. 3.

¹³³ Chinkin (footnote 15 above), p. 195. The Court also ruled that other treaties, such as the Treaty of Amity, Economic Relations, and Consular Rights between the United States of America and Iran (signed at Tehran on 15 August 1955, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 284, No. 4132, p. 93), were unaffected by the hostilities. See P. H. F. Bekker (D. D. Caron, ed.), "International decision: *Oil Platforms (Iran v. United States)*, International Court of Justice, 6 November 2003", AJIL, vol. 98 (2004), p. 550, footnote 2. For an additional discussion of this treaty, see paragraph 70 below and accompanying footnote.

¹³⁴ Chinkin (footnote 15 above), p. 195.

Consular Relations] require that both the inviolability of the members of a diplomatic mission and of the premises ... must be respected by the receiving State."135

B. Treaties exhibiting a moderately high likelihood of applicability

1. RECIPROCAL INHERITANCE TREATIES

- 37. The present section outlines State practice with regard to reciprocal inheritance treaties, finding that although a strong line of cases in the United States of America supports their continued applicability during armed conflict, a significant body of jurisprudence in France holds them to be absolutely abrogated.
- 38. As part of the United States practice that treaties "which involve private rights (the exercise of which would not be inconsistent with national policy during the war) are generally regarded as surviving the outbreak of war between the parties", 136 a large body of jurisprudence exists in the United States of America supporting the proposition that "the treaty right of acquiring real estates [sic] in the United States from a deceased American, either dying intestate or in virtue of his will, is not denied to heirs who have become enemy aliens as a consequence of the outbreak of war."137 In Society for the Propagation of the Gospel v. New Haven and Wheeler in 1823, the United States Supreme Court said in dicta that "treaties stipulating for permanent rights, and general arrangements, and professing to aim at perpetuity, and to deal with the case of war as well as peace, do not cease on the occurrence of war, but are, at most, only suspended while it lasts". 138
- 39. In 1920, in the case of *Techt v. Hughes*, Judge Cardozo of the Court of Appeals of New York held that reciprocal inheritance provisions in the 1848 treaty between the United States and Austria–Hungary survived the outbreak of war between the two countries.¹³⁹ In what has become the most celebrated passage in all of the commentary on the effect of armed conflict on treaties, Judge Cardozo wrote:

International law to-day does not preserve treaties or annul them regardless of the effects produced. It deals with such problems pragmatically, preserving or annulling as the necessities of war exact. It establishes standards, but it does not fetter itself with rules. When it attempts to do more, it finds that there is neither unanimity of opinion nor uniformity of practice. ... When I ask what that principle or standard is, and endeavour to extract it from the long chapters in the books, I get this, and nothing more, that provisions compatible with a state of hostilities, unless expressly terminated, will be enforced, and those incompatible rejected. 140

- 40. Judge Cardozo concluded by finding nothing incompatible with the policy of the Government, with the safety of the nation or with the maintenance of the war in the enforcement of a mutual inheritance treaty, and held that the treaty was not abrogated.¹⁴¹
- 41. In 1926, the Kansas Supreme Court, in *State ex rel*. Miner v. Reardon, also held that the reciprocity inheritance clause of the treaty of 1828 between the United States of America and Prussia survived the outbreak of war, stating "we regard the reciprocal privilege of inheritance as not so related to the carrying on of a war as to create a presumption of an intention it should operate only in time of peace."¹⁴² This conclusion was quite extraordinary in the light of the language of article 289 of the Treaty of Versailles, concluding the First World War, which stated that the United States of America must notify Germany of all treaties which it wished to revive, and that all other treaties "are and shall remain abrogated". The Court reasoned that the ability of the United States of America to revive treaties under article 289 was a privilege, not a requirement, and that "it is difficult to believe there was a purpose to withdraw the privilege of individuals to inherit, which is not incompatible with hostilities, and which the war itself had not disturbed."143
- 42. In 1947, the United States Supreme Court held, in *Clark v. Allen*, that the Second World War did not abrogate the Treaty of Friendship, Commerce and Consular Rights of 8 December 1923 granting certain reciprocal inheritance rights to American and German nationals regarding

¹³⁵ United States Diplomatic and Consular Staff in Tehran (see footnote 132 above), p. 40, para. 86 (cited in Chinkin (footnote 15 above), p. 195, footnote 70). See also R. Falk, "The Iran hostage crisis: easy answers and hard questions", AJIL, vol. 74 (1980), p. 411 (noting that "[e]ven Hitler, it is alleged, never violated the diplomatic immunity of his enemies. In fact, one has to search the books of diplomatic history to find [evidence of non-performance of diplomatic conventions], and in each instance the challenge to diplomatic decorum came from a source that can be credibly dismissed as 'barbarian'"); see also letter of Acting Legal Adviser (Tate) to the Attorney General (Clark), 10 November 1948, MS. Department of State, file 711.622/9-1648 (stating United States Government position that treaties regulating property used for consular purposes continue in effect during armed conflict) (reproduced in Whiteman (ed.) (footnote 32 above), pp. 502–503).

¹³⁶ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 53.

¹³⁷ Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 382. For a detailed description of the effect of armed conflict on reciprocal inheritance treaties, see Lenoir (footnote 42 above) (pre-Second World War decisions); Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)" (footnote 34 above), pp. 511–521 (post-Second World War decisions). See also McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), pp. 711–714.

 $^{^{138}\,}Society$ for the Propagation of the Gospel (see footnote 62 above), pp. 494–495.

¹³⁹ Techt (see footnote 45 above). For the Treaty of Commerce and Navigation between the United States and Austria, signed at Washington, D.C., on 8 May 1848, see U.S. Stat., vol. IX (1851), p. 944.

¹⁴⁰ Techt (see footnote 45 above), pp. 241–243.

¹⁴¹ *Ibid.*, p. 244. In addition to being a holding and not mere dicta, the Techt decision is broader than Society for the Propagation of the Gospel (see footnote 62 above). Because the proprietary rights accrued before the war in Society for the Propagation of the Gospel, the dicta in that case can really be relevant only as to the vested rights created by treaty. In the *Techt* case, however, the rights were acquired after the war in question, and thus the holding is relevant to the effect of armed conflict on the treaty itself, not merely the rights it creates. See footnote 149 below. See also Goos (footnote 72 above) (Nebraska Supreme Court following Techt and holding that reciprocal inheritance provisions in a treaty between the United States and Prussia (see footnote 42 above) survived the outbreak of war). For a discussion of both Techt and Goos, see Lenoir (footnote 42 above), pp. 163-164 (noting that "[t]he chief distinction between the two cases is that in Goos v. Brocks the decision was rendered several years after the Treaty of Peace with Germany, while the Techt case was decided before the Treaty of Peace, and thus technically, before the war was at an end").

¹⁴² Reardon (see footnote 72 above).

¹⁴³ *Ibid.*, p. 619. At about this same time, a United States District Court held in 1928 in *Hempel v. Weedin* that certain stipulations in the Treaty of 1828 with Prussia providing for reciprocal security of private citizens survived war between the United States and Germany (23 F.2d 949 (W.D. Wash. 1928)). See also *The Sophie Rickmers* (footnote 72 above) (holding that treaties with Germany relating to reciprocal tonnage duties were not annulled by the outbreak of the First World War).

property situated in the other country.¹⁴⁴ The Court used the test of "compatibility with national policy" and held that provisions guaranteeing reciprocal inheritance rights would not be incompatible and that the treaty should be honoured.¹⁴⁵ In 1951, a California Appeals Court held in In re Meyer's Estate that the First World War did not abrogate reciprocal inheritance provisions in the Convention of Friendship, Commerce and Navigation between the United States of America and the Free Hanseatic Republics of Lübeck, Bremen and Hamburg of 1827; like the Reardon court, this court argued that the clear language in article 289 of the Treaty of Versailles, stating that all treaties not subject to notification by the United States of America were abrogated, did not apply. Instead, it held that the language "all the others are and shall remain abrogated" in article 289 did not intend to "absolutely wipe out all former treaties between the United States and the German states."146 The Court called the provision "equivocal and uncertain" and concluded that "[i]n the absence of express words to that effect, it is difficult to infer that it was the purpose of the contracting parties to withdraw the privilege of individuals to inherit, which was not incompatible with hostilities, and which the war had not disturbed."147

43. The Courts of other countries have reached similar conclusions. In the well-known English decision in *Sutton v. Sutton*, Sir John Leach, the Master of the Rolls, held that the outbreak of the War of 1812 between Great Britain and the United States of America had no effect upon article 9 of the Jay Treaty of 19 November 1794 between the two countries, allowing for reciprocal rights to hold, sell, pass on and acquire title to land. The Master of Rolls said: "It is a reasonable construction that it was the intention of the Treaty that the operation of the Treaty should be permanent, and not depend upon the continuance of a state of peace."

- 44. The situation in Germany appears unsettled. On the one hand, the German Reichsgericht held twice that commercial treaties between Germany and Russia providing for reciprocity of treatment regarding the acquisition of real property were abrogated by the First World War. ¹⁵⁰ On the other hand, German courts have held that "if a treaty has been abrogated by war, its provisions still remain in force in the body of the domestic law". ¹⁵¹
- 45. Although the jurisprudence of the French courts has varied with time, 152 it has now settled on the abrogation doctrine. Before and during the First World War, French courts "generally followed the absolute abrogation doctrine, holding that all treaties, including those of a purely [private law character], were abrogated by war. In a few cases they made exceptions and held that treaties of a private law character were not abrogated, but only suspended."153 After the Second World War, the courts wavered somewhat on the general abrogation rule. Although multilateral treaties guaranteeing private rights were generally honoured, 154 the decisions on private law treaties are inconsistent. After an initial period in which French lower courts held that bilateral treaties guaranteeing private rights were abrogated by war,155 French courts adopted a more liberal view for five years, most notably in the decision of the Court of Cassation (Social

above) concerned proprietary rights accruing before the war, it cannot stand for the proposition that proprietary rights accruing after a war would also be protected, as does the United States decision in *Techt* (see footnote 45 above). In this way, the United States decision in *Techt* goes beyond both the United States decision in *Society for the Propagation of the Gospel* (see footnote 62 above) and the English decision in *Sutton*, because both of the latter cases concern only the effect of armed conflict on vested rights, not the treaties that created those vested rights.

- 150 Decision of 20 October 1922 (AD 1919–1922, case No. 169) and decision of 23 May 1923 (AD 1925–1926, case No. 331) (cited in Verzijl (footnote 6 above), pp. 382–383). See also Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)" (footnote 34 above), pp. 531–532, describing a split in the German decisions but noting that "[t]he general view of German courts seems to be that *bilateral* treaties, even those concerning private rights, are abrogated by war" (citing *Neue juristische Wochenschrift*, vol. 4 (1951), p. 831).
- ¹⁵¹ J. G. Castel, comment, "International law—Effect of war on bilateral treaties—Comparative study", *Michigan Law Review*, vol. 51 (1952–1953), p. 566, at p. 569, footnote 19 (citing 85 *Entscheidungen des Reichsgerichts in Zivilsachen* (neue Folge), vol. 85 (1915), p. 374).
- ¹⁵² See, for example, a French court's early decision in *Isnard Blank* v. *Pezzales*, S. 1859.2.606 (Aix, 8 December 1858) (supporting "modern" view) (cited in Castel (footnote 151 above), p. 568, footnote 13).
- 153 Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)" (footnote 34 above), p. 521.
- 154 See French National Railway Company v. Chavannes, Court of Appeal of Aix (9 February 1943), reported in La Semaine juridique, vol. 2 (1943), p. 2417; and Compagnie des Assurances maritimes, aériennes et terrestres (C.A.M.A.T.) c. Scagni, Court of Appeal of Agen (19 November 1946), Revue critique de droit international privé, vol. 36, No. 1 (1947), p. 294 (or AD 1946, p. 232). For a further discussion of such cases, see Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)" (footnote 34 above), pp. 521–523.
- 155 Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)" (footnote 34 above), p. 524 (citing, for example, S. v. P., Peace Tribunal of Marseilles, 5th Canton (26 October 1943), reported in Gazette du Palais, Supplément provincial (1943), p. 170, holding that the First World War abrogated the Treaty on Establishment between France and Italy, signed at Rome on 3 June 1930, according Italian citizens resident in France national treatment concerning private rights without any requirement of reciprocity; and C. v. B., Civil Court of Toulouse (18 November 1943), reported in Gazette du Palais (14 December 1943), reaching same result with respect to same treaty). For the text of the Treaty, see Journal officiel de la République française, 20 January 1935, p. 643.

¹⁴⁴ Clark v. Allen (see footnote 46 above). Similarly, in 1948 the Supreme Court of California held in Estate of Knutzen that the Treaty of 1923 between the United States and Germany allowing reciprocal inheritance was in force and not abrogated or suspended by the outbreak of the Second World War (31 Cal. 2d 573, 191 P.2d 747 (1948)). See also Blank v. Clark, 79 F. Supp. 11 (1954) (E.D. Pa. 1948) (different court reaching same result as to same treaty). For the text of the Treaty of Friendship, Commerce and Consular Relations between Germany and the United States of America, signed at Washington, D.C., on 8 December 1923, see League of Nations, Treaty Series, vol. LII, No. 1254, p. 133.

 $^{^{145}}$ Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)" (footnote 34 above), p. 512.

¹⁴⁶ In re Meyer's Estate (footnote 72 above), pp. 808–809.

¹⁴⁷ *Ibid.*, p. 809. The United States' position was also stated by Acting Secretary of State Grew in 1945 in response to an inquiry by Attorney General Biddle as to the effect of the Second World War on the reciprocal inheritance provisions of the Treaty of Friendship, Commerce and Consular Relations between Germany and the United States of America (see footnote 144 above). After outlining much of the case law discussed above, the Acting Secretary of State concludes: "In the light of the foregoing the Department perceives no objection to the position which you are advancing to the effect that Article IV of the Treaty of December 8, 1923, with Germany remains in effect despite the outbreak of war" (Whiteman (ed.) (footnote 32 above), pp. 495–497 (citing letter of the Acting Secretary of State (Grew) to the Attorney General (Biddle), 21 May 1945, MS. Department of State, file 740.00113 EW/4-1245).

¹⁴⁸ Sutton v. Sutton (footnote 62 above), p. 255 (discussed in McNair, The Law of Treaties (footnote 36 above), pp. 711–713). For the Treaty of Amity, Commerce and Navigation between Great Britain and the United States of America (Jay Treaty), signed at London on 19 November 1794, see Miller (ed.) (footnote 62 above), p. 245.

¹⁴⁹ Cited in McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), p. 712. McNair emphasizes that because *Sutton* (see footnote 62

Chamber) in Bussi v. Menetti, holding that the Treaty of Establishment of 3 June 1930 between France and Italy was not abrogated by the First World War because "treaties of a purely private law nature, which do not involve any intercourse between the enemy Powers and which have no connection with the conduct of hostilities, ... are not, by the mere fact of war, suspended in their effects". 156 Five years after the Social Chamber's change of course in the Bussi decision, the Civil Chamber of the Court of Cassation opted for the absolute abrogation doctrine in Artel v. Seymand, 157 stating that "the existence of a state of war renders null and void all reciprocal obligations assumed by the High Contracting Parties in a treaty concluded on matters of private law affecting relationships in times of peace."158 The same treaty, the Treaty of Establishment between France and Italy, was at issue, yet the Court provides no reasons for this dramatic reversal of doctrine. 159 The Civil Chamber of the Court of Cassation, sitting in plenary assembly, upheld this conclusion, and settled the split between the Civil Chamber and the Social Chamber, with its definitive decision in Lovera v. Rinaldi, on 22 June 1949.160 The Court "finally settled the conflicting views of the French Supreme Court departments and established the old rule of absolute abrogation as the sole legal doctrine of France."161

46. In conclusion, there is a very significant line of cases in the United States of America, supported by case law in the United Kingdom, that reciprocal inheritance treaties continue to apply during armed conflict. This jurisprudence is consistent with the general thesis among many courts and commentators that treaties consistent with national policy during armed conflict should be upheld, since the treaties in question concern only private

rights. ¹⁶² However, the French Court of Cassation has come to the opposite conclusion, leaving this an unsettled area of international law. Although the French decisions could be distinguished on the grounds that the treaty concerned is not reciprocal, this is unsatisfying; the most important characteristic of the treaties concerned in this section would not appear to be their reciprocity but rather the fact that they deal with private rights not incompatible with the maintenance of armed conflict. With respect to such treaties, the French abrogation doctrine is at odds with an otherwise strong trend favouring their continued vitality during armed conflict. ¹⁶³

2. Multilateral "law-making" conventions

47. Some commentators on the effect of armed conflict on treaties make a distinction between treaties that attempt to create a general policy affecting a broad spectrum of international relations and those with a much narrower focus on resolving a specific problem, usually between a much smaller group of States. The former category includes mostly multilateral treaties.

48. In his analysis of the effect of armed conflict on treaties, McNair uses the term "law-making" treaties to mean "treaties which create rules of international law for regulating the future conduct of the parties without creating an international régime, status, or system."164 McNair argues that such law-making treaties "survive a war, whether all the contracting parties or only some of them are belligerents."165 Among such treaties, he specifically mentions "[c]onventions creating rules as to nationality, marriage, divorce, [and] reciprocal enforcement of judgments". 166 Similarly, Starke states, "Multilateral conventions of the 'law-making' type relating to health, drugs, protection of industrial property, etc., are not annulled on the outbreak of war but are either suspended, and revived on the termination of hostilities, or receive even in wartime a partial application."167

¹⁵⁶ Bussi v. Menetti, France, Court of Cassation (5 November 1943), AD 1943-1945, case No. 103, p. 304 (discussed in Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)" (footnote 34 above), p. 525). See also I. v. I., Civil Court of Marseilles (26 October 1943), reported in Gazette du Palais, Supplément provincial (November 1943), p. 169 (noting that although the outbreak of hostilities often terminates treaties, "those treaties remain in force which relate to the enjoyment of private rights existing before the outbreak of hostilities. In particular treaties dealing with contracts relating to debts or pecuniary obligations, the transfer of movable or immovable property, mortgages, leases, and tenancy agreements, especially if they were entered into force before the declaration of war, remain in full force"); Marie v. Capello, Civil Court of Caen (9 April 1941), reported in Gazette du Palais (29 May 1941); Poet v. Deleuil, Court of Cassation, Social Chamber (21 April 1944), reported in Gazette du Palais (9 June 1944); Rosso v. Marro, Civil Court of Grasse (18 January 1945), AD 1943-1945, case No. 104, p. 307. Professor Rank lists the following other decisions of the Court of Cassation (Social Chamber) to the same effect: Hutard v. Margerit (25 July 1946); Juidi v. Fassin (21 March 1947); Pinna v. Crépillon (20 May 1947); and Amadio v. Diduant (13 February 1948). See Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)" (footnote 34 above), pp. 525-526.

¹⁵⁷ Artel v. Seymand, France, Court of Cassation (10 February 1948), AD 1948, p. 437, case No. 133 (discussed in Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)" (footnote 34 above), pp. 527–528).

¹⁵⁸ Cited in Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)" (footnote 34 above), pp. 527–528.

¹⁵⁹ Ibid., p. 528.

¹⁶⁰ Lovera v. Rinaldi, reported in Journal de droit international, vol. 7 (1950), p. 125. See additional cases cited in AFDI, vol. 4 (1958), pp. 775–776.

¹⁶¹ Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)" (footnote 34 above), p. 528.

¹⁶² See footnotes 43–49 above and accompanying text. For a contrary scholarly view, see Stone (footnote 2 above), p. 450 (arguing that "the only safe course is to assume that … treaties concerning the reciprocal treatment of the parties' nationals, are abrogated on the outbreak of war").

¹⁶³ Treaties governing other private rights such as marriage, guardianship, divorce and nationality are also generally upheld provided they are consistent with the maintenance of armed conflict. For example, the ability of a Muslim religious authority to appoint a guardian under the terms of article 11 of the Greco-Turkish Peace Treaty signed at Athens on 14 November 1913 (the Treaty of Athens) (H. Triepel, Nouveau recueil général de traités et autres actes relatifs aux rapports de droit international: Continuation du grand recueil de G. Fr. de Martens, 3rd series, vol. VIII (Leipzig, Theodor Weicher, 1915) p. 93) was unaffected by the outbreak of war in 1914; see Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 385 (citing Court of Appeal of Saloniki, AD 1919-1922, case No. 272 (Guardianship)). Similarly, a French court held that article 13 of the Franco-Italian Convention of 1896 dealing with nationality (Consular and Establishment Convention, signed at Paris on 28 September 1896, F. Stoerk, Nouveau recueil général de traités et autres actes relatifs aux rapports de droit international: Continuation du grand recueil de G. Fr. de Martens, 2nd series, vol. XXIII (Leipzig, Theodor Weicher, 1898), p. 363) did not lapse with the outbreak of war in 1940; see Verzijl (footnote 6 above) (citing Court of Appeal of Paris, case No. 156 (In re Barrabini), ILR, vol. 18 (1951), p. 507).

¹⁶⁴ McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), p. 723.

¹⁶⁵ *Ibid*.

¹⁶⁶ *Ibid*.

¹⁶⁷ Starke, *An Introduction to International Law* (footnote 28 above), p. 409.

- 49. Although the term "law-making" is somewhat problematic—since all treaties create international law—State practice seems to confirm the premise that multilateral treaties governing specific areas are often given partial application during armed conflict, sometimes with considerable difficulty. For example, during the Second World War, treaties of public health, narcotics, labour, the control of liquor in Africa, slavery, the trade in white women, the suppression of obscene publications and the safety of life at sea continued in force. 168 Multilateral maritime and air transport agreements, as well as communications conventions, were partially inoperative but received partial application. 169 A Scottish court held in 1976 that "[i]t was an accepted principle of public international law that multipartite law-making treaties survived a war". 170 Similarly, Verzijl argues that treaties regulating labour rights do not lapse during armed conflict. 171 Thus, although not as resilient as treaties creating a permanent regime or status, 172 multilateral law-making treaties creating rules governing a particular substantive area are moderately likely to withstand armed conflict.
- 50. The issue of law-making treaties was discussed by the Commission in drafting the 1978 Vienna Convention on succession of States in respect of treaties. Article 16 establishes a general "clean-slate" principle to the effect that a newly independent State is not bound by treaties formerly in force in respect of the territory to which the succession of States relates. In its commentary on the draft article, the Commission concluded, after an extensive review of State practice, that no exception to the clean-slate principle applies to general multilateral treaties and multilateral treaties of a law-making character. ¹⁷³ In the context of the clean-slate doctrine, therefore, the Commission refused to create a special exception for law-making treaties.
- 51. The issue resurfaced late in the Commission's work when Commission member Mr. Ushakov proposed draft article 12 *bis*, entitled "Multilateral treaties of universal character".¹⁷⁴ This proposal defined such a treaty as "an international agreement which is by object and purpose of worldwide scale, open to participation by all States, concluded between States in written form and governed by international law, whether embodied in a single instrument or in two or more related instruments and whatever its particular designation." ¹⁷⁵ It stated that any such treaty "in

force in respect of the territory to which the succession of States relates shall remain in force between a newly independent State and the other States parties to the treaty until such time as the newly independent State gives notice of termination of the said treaty for that State."¹⁷⁶ Consideration of the draft article was suspended because there was not sufficient time to discuss its implications, and instead it was mentioned and reproduced in the introductory part of the report of the Commission to the General Assembly.¹⁷⁷

C. Treaties exhibiting a varied or emerging likelihood of applicability

52. The present section examines treaties which exhibit either a controversial, varied or emerging likelihood of applicability during armed conflict, including international transport agreements; environmental treaties; extradition treaties; border-crossing treaties; treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation; intellectual property treaties; and penal transfer treaties.

1. International transport agreements

53. The State practice related to international transport agreements is contradictory. Chinkin notes that "[u]nlike diplomatic relations between States, restrictions on any given route do not threaten the entire structure of interstate communications. If acceptable alternative routes exist, the demands of the transit States are more likely to be deemed reasonable." She distinguishes a split in State practice between air agreements pertaining to overflight or landing rights, evincing a moderate or low applicability during armed conflict, and sea agreements pertaining to international oceanic canals, evincing a somewhat higher degree of applicability during armed conflict. Here each will be treated in turn.

(a) Air agreements

54. History is replete with examples of armed conflict causing the suspension of international air agreements. 180 First, as a result of the 1967 Middle East war, the Syrian Arab Republic, Iraq, the Sudan and Egypt closed airports and seaports to the United States of America and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. 181 Chinkin notes that although these actions cannot generally be justified on the grounds of military necessity, an argument could be made that they were justifiable as collective self-defence in their war against Israel. 182 Second, airports in Senegal, Guinea and Canada were closed to Soviet aircraft bound for Havana in 1962 in response to the United States-led quarantine of Cuba. 183 Third, the Turkish invasion of Cyprus in 1974 and the continuing dispute over the delimitation of the continental shelf in the Aegean Sea caused Greece and Turkey to suspend overflight rights

¹⁶⁸ See footnote 283 below and accompanying text.

¹⁶⁹ See footnotes 272–290 below and accompanying text.

¹⁷⁰ Masinimport v. Scottish Mechanical Light Industries Ltd., Scotland, Court of Session, Outer House, 30 January 1976, ILR, vol. 74, p. 559, at p. 560; see also footnote 14 above.

¹⁷¹ Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 391: "Accessions of States to the Convention on Workmen's Compensation of 10 June 1925 do not lapse as a result of war: such Conventions are not simple bilateral or multilateral agreements on the subject, but affiliation to a regime established by an international organization in the interest of the workers of all countries. They are therefore not *ipso facto* annulled by the state of war" (citing Court of Appeal of Aix, case No. 155 (*Établissements Cornet*), 7 May 1951, ILR, vol. 18 (1951), p. 506).

¹⁷² See footnotes 105–111 above and accompanying text.

¹⁷³ Yearbook ... 1974, vol. II (Part One), document A/9610/Rev.1), pp. 212–213 (paras. (8)–(14) of the commentary to draft art. 15).

 $^{^{174}}$ *Ibid.*, vol. I, summary record of the 1293rd meeting, pp. 243–245, paras. 54–75, and summary record of the 1294th meeting, p. 246, para. 9.

¹⁷⁵ *Ibid.*, summary record of the 1293rd meeting, p. 244, para. 54.

¹⁷⁶ *Ibid*.

¹⁷⁷ *Ibid.*, vol. II (Part One), document A/9610/Rev.1, pp. 172–173, para. 75 and footnote 57.

¹⁷⁸ Chinkin (footnote 15 above), p. 196.

¹⁷⁹ Ibid., pp. 196-205.

¹⁸⁰ See B. Cheng, *The Law of International Air Transport* (London, Stevens and Sons, 1962), pp. 113–115 and 483–484.

¹⁸¹ Chinkin (footnote 15 above), p. 197.

¹⁸² *Ibid.*, footnote 75.

¹⁸³ *Ibid.*, p. 198, footnote 76.

until September 1976, when they were formally reinstated. 184 Fourth, India claimed that two multilateral aviation conventions and a bilateral treaty providing Pakistan with overflight and landing rights in India had been suspended in 1971 by the hostilities between India and Pakistan that began in 1965. 185 Pointing to the periodic outbreaks of conflict between the two States since 1947, India argued that Pakistan could not possibly have legitimate expectations of continued air passage rights when further conflict would likely erupt. 186 Pakistan claimed that India, as an aggressor, could not lawfully suspend the agreements. 187 Chinkin argues that

States may suspend the agreements when conflict threatens their security. The military hostilities of 1965, although limited both in purpose and arenas, were intense and severe. It would be disruptive and possibly even destructive to a State to insist that it must allow the enemy to fly over and land in its territory. ... While Pakistan did suffer considerable economic loss and severe inconvenience, the existence of alternative routes, even though expensive and much less direct, did make India's action more reasonable. ¹⁸⁸

55. Noting two other agreements that continued in effect, including a sea transport agreement, ¹⁸⁹ Chinkin concludes that "States might perceive air agreements as potentially more prejudicial to their security interests and thus expect that such agreements will be subject to special consideration." ¹⁹⁰ In fact, the Chicago Convention on International Civil Aviation has a provision stipulating that "[i]n case of war, the provisions of this Convention shall not affect the freedom of action of any of the contracting States affected, whether as belligerents or as neutrals." ¹⁹¹

(b) Sea agreements

56. The effect of armed conflict on agreements establishing inter-oceanic canals such as the Suez, Panama and Kiel Canals has varied. 192 On the one hand, several examples exist supporting the proposition that conventions allowing access to canals withstand conflict situations. First, when Germany refused to allow passage through the Kiel Canal to a ship carrying munitions to Poland during the Polish–Prussian war of 1920, the Permanent Court of International Justice said in dicta that when a waterway has been "dedicated to international use", the riparian can no longer exclude other States at its discretion. 193 Second,

the international community reacted unfavourably to Egypt's closure of the Suez Canal to Israeli shipping beginning in 1948, as closing the Canal was not necessary for Egypt's defence. 194 Third, the 1868 Revised Convention on the Navigation of the Rhine "appears to have been considered in force" during the First World War. 195

57. On the other hand, Great Britain restricted the passage of enemy ships through the Suez Canal throughout the First and Second World Wars, ¹⁹⁶ and the United States of America partially or fully restricted the use of the Panama Canal during the two World Wars. ¹⁹⁷ Chinkin argues that sea transport agreements should be honoured during armed conflict because of "the need for reliable and secure communications for international trade and security". ¹⁹⁸ In the modern world, however, air transport is also becoming increasingly important to trade and very relevant to security issues in the light of its connection with international terrorism.

2. Environmental treaties

58. Recent scholarly consideration of the applicability of peacetime environmental treaties during armed conflict has spawned the most significant discussion of the effect of armed conflict on treaties since the Second World War.¹⁹⁹ This renewed interest can be attributed both to the

Court's strong language may have been influenced by the fact that the Treaty of Versailles specifically declared the Canal "free and open to the vessels of commerce and of war of all nations at peace with Germany on terms of entire equality" (*ibid.*) (citing the Treaty of Versailles of 1919, art. 380). She also believes that Germany would have been afforded greater freedom of action had it been at war, arguing that the riparian's security interest should take priority.

194 Chinkin (footnote 15 above), p. 204 (citing R. R. Baxter, "Passage of ships through international waterways in time of war", BYBIL 1954, vol. 31, p. 187; M. Khadduri, "The closure of the Suez Canal to Israeli shipping", Law and Contemporary Problems, vol. 33, No. 1 (1968), p. 147; J. A. Obieta, The International Status of the Suez Canal, 2nd ed. (The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1970), pp. 13-17; L. Gross, "Passage through the Suez Canal of Israel-bound cargo and Israeli ships", AJIL, vol. 51, No. 3 (July 1957), p. 530; and R. Lapidoth, "The reopened Suez Canal in international law", *Syracuse Journal of International Law and* Commerce, vol. 4 (1976), p. 1). Dietrich Schindler reports to the Institute of International Law that "[w]ith regard to the Suez Incident of 1956 between Britain, France and Egypt, it has been reported that 'as a result of that incident a law was passed in Egypt (Law No. 1 of 1957) stating that the British aggression had put an end to the Anglo-Egyptian Agreement of 1954' (... regarding the Suez Canal Base) (signed at Cairo on 19 October 1954, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 210, No. 2833, p. 3). Apart from this agreement there was probably no effect on treaties" (Institute of International Law study (footnote 18 above), vol. 59-I, p. 267 (citing A.D. McNair and A.D. Watts, The Legal Effects of War, 4th ed. (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1966), p. 20,

¹⁹⁵ See Tobin (footnote 23 above), p. 89. The same is true of the conventions regulating traffic on the Danube (Treaty of Paris of 1856, Treaty of London of 1871 and Treaty of Berlin of 1878) (*ibid.*, pp. 92–94).

¹⁸⁴ *Ibid.*, pp. 198–199 (noting that the actions do not seem justifiable by the doctrine of military necessity).

¹⁸⁵ *Ibid.*, p. 200.

¹⁸⁶ *Ibid*.

¹⁸⁷ *Ibid*.

¹⁸⁸ *Ibid.*, pp. 200–201 (footnotes omitted).

¹⁸⁹ The Indus Waters Treaty 1960 and the Agreement to submit the Rann of Kutch dispute to arbitration (Agreement between the Government of India and the Government of Pakistan relating to a cease-fire and the restoration of the *status quo* as at 1 January 1965 in the area of Gujarat/West Pakistan border and concerning the arrangements for the determination of the border in that area, signed at New Delhi on 30 June 1965, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 548, No. 7983, p. 277).

¹⁹⁰ Chinkin (footnote 15 above), p. 202.

¹⁹¹ Convention on International Civil Aviation 1944, art. 89.

¹⁹² Chinkin (footnote 15 above), pp. 202–205 (citing R. R. Baxter, *The Law of International Waterways—With Particular Regard to Interoceanic Canals* (Cambridge, Massachusetts, Harvard University Press, 1964) for a full discussion of the effect of war on transit though waterways).

¹⁹³ Chinkin (footnote 15 above), p. 203 (citing *The S.S. "Wimbledon"* (1923) (see footnote 48 above)). Chinkin notes, however, that the

¹⁹⁶ See Chinkin (footnote 15 above), p. 203, footnote 96.

¹⁹⁷ See R. H. Smith, "Beyond the treaties: limitations on neutrality in the Panama Canal", *Yale Studies in World Public Order*, vol. 4 (1977–1978), p. 1, at pp. 16–20.

¹⁹⁸ Chinkin (footnote 15 above), p. 205.

¹⁹⁹ See, for example, Vöneky (footnote 120 above); Tarasofsky (footnote 71 above); M. Bothe, "The protection of the environment in times of armed conflict: legal rules, uncertainty, deficiencies and possible developments", *German Yearbook of International Law*, vol. 34 (1991), p. 54; M. N. Schmitt, "Green war: an assessment of the environmental law of international armed conflict", *Yale Journal of*

considerable environmental destruction caused by the first Gulf war²⁰⁰ and to the growth and development of international environmental law itself.²⁰¹ Whatever the cause, the effect of armed conflict on international environmental law has received more modern attention than the effect of armed conflict on any other kind of treaty and marks the most significant development in the topic since the 1985 study by the Institute of International Law.²⁰²

59. Reviewing the extensive body of new scholarly commentary on the effect of armed conflict on environmental treaties, ²⁰³ it is clear that not all environmental treaties react to armed conflict in the same way, and one commentator has categorized them into four distinguishable groups. First, environmental treaties including express terms providing for their application during armed conflict will continue to apply, such as the small class of treaties protecting specific areas, including the Antarctic, the Spitsbergen archipelago and outer space. ²⁰⁴ Although some commentators support this approach, ²⁰⁵ others argue that to treat environmental treaties as objective regimes ²⁰⁶ not subject to suspension during armed conflict would be contrary to the intention of the framers of those treaties. ²⁰⁷ Second, a group of environmental

(Footnote 199 continued.)

International Law, vol. 22, No. 1 (1997), p. 1, at pp. 37–41; Simonds (footnote 114 above), pp. 188–198; A. Roberts, "Environmental issues in international armed conflict: the experience of the 1991 Gulf War", in R.J. Grunawalt and others (eds.), International Law Studies, vol. 69 (1996), Protection of the Environment during Armed Conflict, p. 222; K. Hulme, War Torn Environment: Interpreting the Legal Threshold (Leiden, Martinus Nijhoff, 2004).

²⁰⁰ In the two years following the 1991 Gulf war, there were five major conferences on the subject, the Sixth Committee of the General Assembly began deliberations on it, the General Assembly adopted a resolution on it, and it was addressed at the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, leading to the Rio Declaration on Environment and Development (Rio Declaration) as well as Agenda 21 (Tarasofsky (footnote 71 above), p. 19). For the Rio Declaration and Agenda 21, adopted at Rio de Janeiro on 14 June 1992, see *Report of the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, Rio de Janeiro*, 3–14 June 1992, vol. I: *Resolutions Adopted by the Conference* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.93.I.8 and corrigenda), resolution 1, annex I, p. 2, and annex II, p. 7, respectively.

²⁰¹ For example, Professor Tarasofsky argues that the modern legal understanding of the environment, based on the interdependence of multiple ecosystems, makes it impossible to maintain "different rules of environmental protection for peacetime and wartime" (Tarasofsky (footnote 71 above), p. 21).

- ²⁰² See footnote 18 above.
- ²⁰³ See works cited in footnote 199 above.

²⁰⁴ Simonds (footnote 114 above), p. 193 (citing the Antarctic Treaty of 1959, art. 1; the Treaty of Spitsbergen of 1920; and the Treaty on Principles Governing the Activities of States in the Exploration and Use of Outer Space, Including the Moon and Other Celestial Bodies, 1967, art. 4. Also in this group, Simonds includes the 1982 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, which reserves the high seas and the deep seabed exclusively for "peaceful purposes", contradicting the traditional principle of freedom of warfare on the high seas (Simonds (footnote 114 above), p. 194, citing articles 88 and 141 of the Convention).

- ²⁰⁵ See, for example, Simonds (footnote 114 above), p. 190.
- $^{206}\,\mbox{See}$ discussion of permanent regimes in chapter II, section A, above.

²⁰⁷ See, for example, Vöneky (footnote 120 above), p. 23: "Whether any peacetime environmental treaties create 'objective regimes' ... is questionable. Treaties for the use and protection of areas beyond national jurisdiction—such as the high seas, the deep sea-bed, outer space and Antarctica—are similar to treaties providing for objective regimes, since they regulate State conduct in a certain territory as well. But only some commentators support the view that

treaties contains express language making them wholly or partly inapplicable in times of armed conflict. For example, a great number of conventions limiting ocean pollution do not apply to government ships or warships. ²⁰⁸ Third, an intermediate group of treaties, although lacking express language on applicability, will generally apply during armed conflict because their terms will most likely be compatible with national policy during the armed conflict. In this group Simonds places environmental treaties containing general provisions encouraging environmental protection, ²⁰⁹ treaties protecting certain sectors of the environment "not inherently necessary to war", ²¹⁰ treaties

the Antarctic Treaty and its supplementing Conventions fall into this category. Others deny this with the convincing arguments that it was not the intention of the Parties of the Antarctic Treaty to establish an order with effect erga omnes, and besides this the Antarctic Treaty does not provide a territorial order. It is therefore under strong dispute whether the rule of general international law that treaties providing for objective regimes bind belligerents is directly applicable to environmental treaties" (citing E. Klein, Statusverträge im Völkerrecht (Berlin, Springer, 1980), pp. 18, 62 et seq. and 116 et seq. (supporting objective regime theory for environmental treaties); A. Verdross and B. Simma, Universelles Völkerrecht, 3rd ed. (Berlin, Duncker and Humblot, 1984), pp. 745 and 488 et seq. (supporting objective regime theory for environmental treaties); Tarasofsky (footnote 71 above), p. 63 (supporting objective regime theory for environmental treaties); R. Wolfrum, Die Internationalisierung staatsfreier Räume (Berlin, Springer, 1984), p. 96, footnote 253 (critical of theory); Klein (ibid.), pp. 111 et seq. and 122 et seq. (critical of theory)).

²⁰⁸ Simonds (footnote 114 above), pp. 194-195 (citing the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution of the Sea by Oil, 1954; the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution by Ships, 1973 (MARPOL Convention), art. 3, para. 3; the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage, 1969, arts. III (2) (a) and XI; the Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter, 1972, art. VII, para. 4, amended 12 October 1978; and the Kuwait Regional Convention for Cooperation on the Protection of the Marine Environment from Pollution, 1978). Although the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea was discussed above in the context of environmental treaties explicitly applying during armed conflict, it also contains one provision specifically exempting warships and other ships or aircraft used by a State in non-commercial service from its provisions dealing with the protection and preservation of the marine environment (Simonds (*ibid.*), p. 195 (discussing article 32 of the Convention))

²⁰⁹ Simonds (footnote 114 above), p. 195 (citing a non-binding resolution, a non-binding declaration and articles 24 and 25 of the Convention on the High Seas, 1958).

²¹⁰ Simonds (footnote 114 above), p. 196 (citing the Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter; the Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer, 1985; and the Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer, 1987). Silja Vöneky has also examined this classification, arguing that "another important category of peacetime treaties that bind belligerents during an armed conflict limiting their military activities ... [are those] aimed at the protection of a common good in the interest of the State community as a whole" (Vöneky (footnote 120 above), p. 27). In addition to human rights treaties, Vöneky cites several environmental treaties in this category, including the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 1992; the Convention on Biological Diversity, 1992; the Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer; the Convention for the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage, 1972; the Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals, 1979; the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora, 1973; the Convention on Wetlands of International Importance especially as Waterfowl Habitat, 1971; the Convention on the Conservation of European Wildlife and Natural Habitats, 1979; and the African Convention on the Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources, 1968 (Vöneky (ibid.), pp. 28-29). Vöneky also argues that "treaties for the use and protection of shared natural resources will continue to apply only if they are aimed at protecting an environmental good in the common interest of the State community as a whole" (*ibid.*, p. 29). Contrary to Simonds, Vöneky argues that treaties aimed at the protection of a common good may continue to apply during armed conflict notwithstanding an incompatibility with the armed conflict (ibid.).

permitting derogation in times of emergency²¹¹ and treaties setting aside certain areas of the world for special environmental protection.²¹² Fourth, treaties which require "advance notification, consultation, or public environmental assessments before engaging in ... military actions are often incompatible with military secrecy",²¹³ despite the lack of express language to this effect.

60. The effect of armed conflict on environmental treaties was also a significant source of discussion in the course of the International Court of Justice advisory opinion on *Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons*, both in the submissions of the parties and in the opinion of the Court. The United States of America argued, on the basis of the language of the treaties, that "[n]o international environmental instrument is expressly applicable in armed conflict."²¹⁴ France similarly denied the applicability of environmental treaties.²¹⁵ The United Kingdom did not comment on the effect of armed conflict on environmental treaties at all, instead arguing that such treaties would be inapplicable under their terms.²¹⁶

61. In a brief submitted to the Court by the Government of Solomon Islands, the question of the effects of armed

²¹⁶ For example, the United Kingdom argued that the 1976 Convention on the Prohibition of Military or any other Hostile Use of Environmental Modification Techniques would not apply, as it only protects against the deliberate manipulation of the environment as a method of war, not environmental degradation as a side-effect of warfare itself (Kristjánsdóttir (footnote 118 above), pp. 359-360, citing Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons (see footnote 85 above), written submission of the United Kingdom (16 June 1995), para. 3.75 (referring to the 1977 Convention on the Prohibition of Military or any other Hostile Use of Environmental Modification Techniques)). Similarly, the United Kingdom argued that environmental treaty provisions were of an overly general nature, and that it is a fundamental principle of the law of treaties that a prohibitive rule, purporting to exclude a particular activity from the scope of permissible State practice, must be clearly stated. As a basic proposition, one cannot, therefore, infer from general words, or a treaty of general application, a prohibitive rule of specific content that would have the effect of limiting the scope of otherwise permissible State conduct. It would be neither sound practice nor sufficient to rely upon general provisions of international law on human rights or the environment for the purpose of conjuring up a rule prohibiting the threat or use of nuclear weapons by way of legitimate self-defence (see written submission of the United Kingdom (footnote 215 above), paras. 3.88– 3.89 (citing McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), p. 463: "Treaties ... are not to be understood as altering or restraining the Practice generally received, unless the Words do fully and necessarily infer an Alteration or Restriction")). Both of these arguments rely on the underlying premise that environmental treaties apply during armed conflict. The submission of the United Kingdom is available from www.icj-cij.org/en/case/95/written-proceedings.

conflict on treaties was examined thoroughly.²¹⁷ After arguing on the basis of the Institute of International Law resolution that "the outbreak of an armed conflict 'does not *ipso facto* terminate or suspend the operation of treaties in force between the parties to the armed conflict", ²¹⁸ the brief argued that this rule was specifically applicable to environmental treaties. ²¹⁹ Considering the provisions of individual environmental treaties, Solomon Islands noted that although the vast majority of such treaties are silent on the question, there are exceptions. First, treaties such as those establishing rules on civil liability for damage "include provisions excluding the operation of their provisions to damage occurring as a result of war and armed conflict." Second, some treaties permit their total or

²¹⁹ For example, the Solomon Islands brief (see footnote 217 above) argues that principle 24 of the 1992 Rio Declaration (see footnote 200 above), which provides that because "[w]arfare is inherently destructive of sustainable development[,] States shall ... respect international law providing protection for the environment in times of armed conflict and cooperate in its further development, as necessary", is applicable in times of armed conflict (Solomon Islands brief, para. 4.37, citing principle 24 of the Rio Declaration and noting that "[t]his approach is consistent with the rules of environmental protection provided by Articles 35 and 55 of 1977 Geneva Protocol I [Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 1949]"). The brief continues: "The support for the view that international obligations for the protection of human health and the environment survive the outbreak of hostilities is further reflected by the relevant provisions of Agenda 21, which call on the international community to consider measures in accordance with international law 'to address, in times of armed conflict, large-scale destruction of the environment that cannot be justified under international law." Both these United Nations Conference on Environment and Development texts imply that treaties protecting the environment should, as a general principle, continue to apply in times of war and other armed conflict. This conclusion can also be drawn from General Assembly resolution 47/37, of 25 November 1992, which stressed that destruction of the environment not justified by military necessity and carried out wantonly was "clearly contrary to ... international law". In this resolution, the General Assembly further urged States to "take all measures to ensure compliance with the existing international law applicable to the protection of the environment in times of armed conflict".

²²⁰ Solomon Islands brief (see footnote 217 above), para. 4.39 (citing the Convention on Third-Party Liability in the Field of Nuclear Energy, 1960, art. 9; the Vienna Convention on civil liability for nuclear damage, 1963, art. IV (3) (*a*); the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage, 1969, art. III (2) (*a*); the International Convention on the Establishment of an International Fund for Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage, 1971, art. 4 (2) (*a*) (which also does not apply to oil from warships used in non-commercial service); the Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage Resulting from Exploration for and Exploitation of Seabed Mineral Resources, 1977, art. 3 (3); the Convention on the Regulation of Antarctic Mineral

²¹¹ Simonds (footnote 114 above), p. 196 (citing the Convention for the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping from Ships and Aircraft, 1972, arts. 5–8). See also Vöneky (footnote 120 above), pp. 30–31 (discussing the non-derogable core of obligations protecting the environment).

²¹² Simonds (footnote 114 above), pp. 196–197 (citing the Convention for the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage, 1972).

²¹³ Simonds (footnote 114 above), p. 197 (citing the Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution, 1979, art. 3).

²¹⁴ Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion (see footnote 85 above), written submission of the United States (20 June 1995), pp. 34–42, at p. 34; the submission is available from www.icj-cij.org/en/case/95/written-proceedings.

²¹⁵ Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion (see footnote 85 above), written submission of France (20 June 1995), p. 38; the submission is available from www.icj-cij.org/en/case/95/written-proceedings.

²¹⁷ Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion (see footnote 85 above), written submission of Solomon Islands (19 June 1995), paras. 4.36 et seq.; the submission is available from www.icj-cij.org/en/case/95/written-proceedings. See also "Written observations on the request by the General Assembly for an advisory opinion: Government of the Solomon Islands", Criminal Law Forum, vol. 7, No. 2 (1996), p. 299, at pp. 383 et seq., paras. 4.36 et seq. (hereinafter "Solomon Islands brief").

²¹⁸ Solomon Islands brief (see footnote 217 above), para. 4.37 (citing Institute of International Law resolution of 1985 on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties (see footnote 19 above), art. 2). Continuously drawing on the Institute of International Law resolution, the brief continues that "a state of armed conflict 'does not entitle a party unilaterally to terminate or to suspend the operation of treaty provisions relating to the protection of the human person, unless the treaty provides otherwise,' and, as regards the outbreak of an armed conflict between some of the parties to a multilateral treaty, 'does not *ipso facto* terminate or suspend the operation of that treaty between other contracting States or between them and the States parties to the armed conflict.' Treaties establishing international organisations are considered not to be affected by the existence of an armed conflict between any of its parties" (*ibid.* (citing Institute of International Law resolution, arts. 4–6)).

partial suspension at the instigation of one of the parties.²²¹ Third, some treaties apparently do not apply during armed conflict since their provisions do not apply to certain military operations in peacetime.²²² Fourth and to the contrary, some environmental treaties specifically apply during armed conflict.²²³ Fifth, some such treaties implicitly apply during armed conflict.²²⁴ The Solomon Islands brief concludes that "[t]he silence of the great majority of treaties intended to protect human health and the environment allows the conclusion that they are designed to ensure environmental protection at all times, in peace and in war, unless expressly excluded."²²⁵

62. The International Court of Justice stated in its advisory opinion that the applicability of environmental treaties in times of armed conflict should be determined only in assessing what is necessary and proportionate:

[T]he issue is not whether the treaties relating to the protection of the environment are or are not applicable during an armed conflict, but rather whether the obligations stemming from these treaties were intended to be obligations of total restraint during military conflict. The Court does not consider that the treaties in question could have intended to deprive a State of the exercise of its right of self-defence under international law because of its obligations to protect the environment. Nonetheless, States must take environmental considerations into account when assessing what is necessary and proportionate in the pursuit of legitimate military objectives. Respect for the environment is one of the elements that go to assessing whether an action is in conformity with the principles of necessity and proportionality.²²⁶

63. In conclusion, the effect of armed conflict on environmental treaties has generated significant recent discussion by States, the International Court of Justice and commentators. While commentators are increasingly arguing that environmental treaties should be applicable

(Footnote 220 continued.)

Resource Activities, 1988, art. 8 (4) (b) (if no reasonable precautionary measures could have been taken); and the Commission's draft articles on international liability for injurious consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by international law).

- ²²¹ Solomon Islands brief (see footnote 217 above), para. 4.39 (citing the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution of the Sea by Oil, 1954, art. XIX (1) (allowing parties to suspend operation of the whole or part of the Convention in case of war or other hostilities if they consider themselves affected as a belligerent or as a neutral, upon notification to the Convention's Bureau)).
- ²²² Solomon Islands brief (see footnote 217 above), para. 4.39 (citing the London Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter, 1972, art. VII (4) (entered into force 30 August 1975) (non-applicability of Convention to vessels and aircraft entitled to sovereign immunity under international law)).
- ²²³ Solomon Islands brief (see footnote 217 above), para. 4.39 (citing the Protocol for the Prevention of Pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by Dumping from Ships and Aircraft, 1976, annex I (generally prohibiting dumping of materials produced for biological and chemical warfare); and the Protocol for the Prevention of Pollution of the South Pacific Region by Dumping to the Convention for the Protection of the Natural Resources and Environment of the South Pacific Region, 1986, arts. 10 (1) and (2) and annex I (prohibiting special dumping permits from being granted in respect of materials produced for biological and chemical warfare)).
- ²²⁴ Solomon Islands brief (see footnote 217 above), para. 4.39 (citing the International Convention between the United States of America, Canada and Japan for the High Seas Fisheries of the North Pacific Ocean, 1952, art. IV (2) (providing that decisions of the International Commission representing the Parties should make allowance, *interalia*, for wars, which may introduce temporary declines in fish stocks)).
- 225 Solomon Islands brief (see footnote 217 above), para. 4.40 (footnote omitted).
- ²²⁶ Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion (see footnote 85 above), para. 30.

during armed conflict, States are divided as to their applicability. The Court has skilfully drawn a middle ground, holding in its advisory opinion on *Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons* that "States must take environmental considerations into account when assessing what is necessary and proportionate in the pursuit of legitimate military objectives."²²⁷

3. EXTRADITION TREATIES

- 64. The effect of armed conflict on extradition treaties between belligerents is an unsettled area of law. On the one hand, extradition treaties primarily affect the rights of individuals, a characteristic generally favouring applicability during armed conflict as long as the treaty does not conflict with military strategy.²²⁸ On the other hand, the "subject matter … has clearly political aspects",²²⁹ a characteristic which generally favours abrogation or at least suspension.²³⁰
- 65. Commentary and State practice reflect this competing logic. On the one hand, the Netherlands Special Court of Cassation has held that the outbreak of the Second World War abrogated a pre-war extradition treaty, ²³¹ and a more recent decision of the Dutch Council of State reached the same result. ²³² An Italian court has also held an extradition treaty to be terminated by the Second World War. ²³³ Courts in the United States of America, however, have held such treaties to be merely suspended, ²³⁴ and even held that "where the offenses were committed during a period of suspension ... extradition will be allowed when the treaty is revived." ²³⁵ The Supreme Court of Seychelles has also held that an extradition treaty was suspended and not abrogated. ²³⁶

²²⁷ *Ibid*.

²²⁸ See footnotes 43–50 above and accompanying text.

²²⁹ Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 386.

 $^{^{230}}$ See, for example, Stone (footnote 2 above), p. 450 (arguing that "the only safe course is to assume that ... extradition treaties ... are abrogated on the outbreak of war").

 $^{^{231}}$ Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 386 (citing $\it In~re~Flesche, AD$ 1949, case No. 87 (27 June 1949)).

²³² Rijn-Schelde Verolme NV v. State Secretary of Justice, ILR, vol. 74 (1987), p. 118 (Netherlands, Council of State, Judicial Division, 20 December 1976).

²³³ Italian Yearbook of International Law, vol. 1 (1975), p. 233 (citing *In re Barnaton Levy and Suster Brucker*, Court of Appeal, Milan (see footnote 13 above)).

²³⁴ Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 386 (citing *In re Argento*, ILR, vol. 24, p. 883, 241 F.2d 258 (1957); *In re D'Amico*, ILR, vol. 28, p. 602, 177 F. Supp. 648 (1959); *In re Gallina*, ILR, vol. 31, pp. 356 and 367, 177 F. Supp. 856 (1959)). See also *United States v. Deaton*, 448 F. Supp. 532 (1978) (holding pre-war extradition treaty suspended but not abrogated by the Second World War); *In re Ryan*, 360 F. Supp. 270, 272, footnote 4 (2) (E.D.N.Y. 1973). But see *Chandler v. United States*, 171 F.2d 921 (1st Cir. 1948) (expressing doubts in dicta that the extradition treaty between Germany and the United States signed at Berlin on 12 July 1930 (U.S. Stat., vol. 47-II, p. 1862) had survived the Second World War).

²³⁵ In re Ryan (see preceding footnote), p. 272, footnote 4 (2) (citing Gallina v. Fraser, 177 F. Supp. 856, 864 (Dist. Conn. 1959)). The United States cases do sound a note of caution, generally holding that the decision between suspension and abrogation "can and must be decided against the background of the actual conduct of the two nations involved, acting through the political branches of their governments." See, for example, Argento (footnotes 9 and 234 above), p. 262; Deaton (footnote 234 above), p. 766.

²³⁶ R. v. Meroni, Seychelles Supreme Court (16 October 1973), reported in ILR, vol. 91 (1993), p. 386.

66. The views of commentators are also split between suspension and abrogation. McNair concluded that "in the absence of contrary provisions, express or implied, an extradition treaty between two States which find themselves at war with another is at least suspended for the duration of the war on the ground that the parties cannot have intended any other result; it may well be that it is automatically abrogated by the outbreak of war." Starke agrees, stating that "extradition treaties in the absence of any clear expression of intention otherwise, *prima facie* ... are suspended". ²³⁸

4. Border-crossing treaties

67. Like extradition treaties, treaties allowing nationals reciprocal passage over a land border also have the hybrid quality of applying to private rights but implicating political concerns. The security concerns raised by border-crossing treaties, however, are greater than those relating to extradition treaties, and courts have been more likely to hold them to be abrogated by armed conflict. For example, the United States Supreme Court held in *Karnuth v. United States*²³⁹ that a provision of the Jay Treaty of 1794, allowing reciprocal passage over the United States—Canadian border, was abrogated by the War of 1812,²⁴⁰ "the first time an American court had held a treaty provision terminated by war".²⁴¹ Although this decision

²⁴¹ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 48. See also *Meier v. Schmidt*, 150 Neb. 383, 34 N.W.2d 400 (1948), *rehearing denied*, 150 Neb. 647, 35 N.W.2d 500 (1948) (holding that a treaty provision providing for reciprocal access to the courts of justice to nationals of the United States and Germany was suspended but not abrogated by the Second World War). See additional border-crossing cases in the United States in McIntyre (*ibid.*), pp. 48–50. The United States Court of Customs and Patent Appeals later extended this decision to the Jay Treaty's customs

is often cited as a break with the Court's jurisprudence upholding reciprocal inheritance treaties, 242 it is better to acknowledge the unique political challenges that a treaty allowing border crossing presents. The United States Supreme Court has thus distinguished three potential levels at which treaties upholding private rights affect national policy: reciprocal inheritance treaties affect national policy the least, and have been held to continue during armed conflict; extradition treaties occupy a middle ground and have been held to be merely suspended; and treaties guaranteeing the private right to cross an international border during armed conflict have the largest effect on national policy and security, and have therefore been held to be abrogated.²⁴³ The Exchequer Court of Canada reached the same result on similar facts, holding in Francis v. The Queen that the border-crossing provision of the Jay Treaty had been abrogated by the War of 1812.²⁴⁴

5. Treaties of Friendship, Commerce and Navigation

68. In certain countries, particularly the United States of America, the use of bilateral treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation has become a common method to establish "the ground-rules governing day-to-day intercourse between two countries ... [and] secure reciprocal respect for their normal interests abroad, according to agreed rules of law."²⁴⁵ The United States of America has entered into well over 100 such agreements, including 16 since 1946.²⁴⁶

69. Treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation merit special examination as a changing area of international law. It was traditionally understood that treaties of a political²⁴⁷ or commercial²⁴⁸ nature would be abrogated

duties exemption, holding that "the duty exemption is logically dependent upon the free-passage provision. ... Abolishing physical passage to prevent treasonable intercourse dictates by necessity the abrogation of the duty exemption for personal goods" (*Akins v. United States*, 551 F.2d 1222, 1229 (1977)).

²⁴² See, for example, Lenoir (footnote 42 above), pp. 153–155; McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 48 (citing Harvard Research in International Law (J. W. Garner, Reporter), "Law of treaties" (footnote 17 above), p. 1187).

²⁴³ This logic is exemplified by the Court's distinction between article III of the Jay Treaty, providing border passage rights, and article IX of the same treaty, concerned with permanently vested property rights. See *Karnuth* (footnote 72 above), p. 239.

²⁴⁴ Francis v. The Queen (footnote 240 above).

²⁴⁵ H. Walker, "Modern treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation", Minnesota Law Review, vol. 42 (1957–1958), p. 805, at p. 805. Walker explains that "[i]n United States practice, although 'friendship' is attributed an honored place in the title and although the conclusion of a treaty presupposes friendliness and good-will between the signatories, these treaties are not political in character. Rather, they are fundamentally economic and legal. Moreover, though 'commerce' and 'navigation' complete the title and accurately describe part of their content, their concern nowadays is only secondarily with foreign trade and shipping. They are 'commercial' in the broadest sense of that term; and they are above-all treaties of 'establishment,' concerned with the protection of persons, natural and juridical, and of the property and interests of such persons. They define the treatment each country owes the nationals of the other; their rights to engage in business and other activities within the boundaries of the former; and the respect due them, their property and their enterprises" (*ibid.*, p. 806).

²³⁷ McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), p. 716.

 $^{^{238}\,\}text{Starke},~An~Introduction~to~International~Law$ (footnote 28 above), p. 410.

²³⁹ Karnuth (footnote 72 above). See also *United States v. Garrow*, 88 F.2d 318 (C.C.P.A. 1937), *certiorari denied*, 302 U.S. 695 (1937) (lower court following the *Karnuth* decision). In Canada, compare *Regina v. Vincent*, 11 TTR 210 (Ont. Ct. App. 1993) (choosing to deny protection of the treaty through a reading of the treaty language itself rather than ruling on the effect of armed conflict on treaties). See generally B. Nickels, "Native American free passage rights under the 1794 Jay Treaty: survival under United States statutory law and Canadian common law", *Boston College International and Comparative Law Review*, vol. 24 (2001), p. 313.

²⁴⁰ Karnuth (footnote 72 above), p. 241. Compare McCandless v. United States, 25 F.2d 71 (3d Cir. 1928). Although the fact scenario in McCandless was similar to Karnuth, the border-crosser in question was an Indian of the Iroquois tribe of the Six Nations. The Court held that article II of the Jay Treaty of 19 November 1794 giving Indians and British subjects from Canada freedom to pass and re-pass into the United States and to carry on trade there was not abrogated by the War of 1812, stating: "While it may be contended that in the nature of things treaties and treaty rights end by war, and if they are to again exist it must be by a new treaty, this reasoning does not apply to these Indians. If through the War of 1812 the Six Nations remained neutral, as they had through the Revolutionary War, there was no reason why either of the contending nations in 1812 should desire to change the status of the Six Nations and thereby anger and drive them into hostilities" (ibid., p. 72). The Exchequer Court in Canada later considered the difference between Karnuth and McCandless, arguing that "there was no authority which stated or indicated that any distinction must be made between the members of an Indian tribe and other immigrants: the Jay Treaty of 1794 was held to have been nullified by the War of 1812 in respect of both categories of persons since, although Indians were wards of the Canadian Government, they were certainly within the category of citizens or subjects" (Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 381 (In re Francis v. The Queen, ILR, vol. 22, p. 591, at p. 603, 4 DLR 760 (1955)); the Canadian Supreme Court dismissed the appeal on other grounds (discussed in Verzijl (footnote 6 above), pp. 379-381).

²⁴⁶ *Ibid*.

²⁴⁷ See footnote 278 below.

²⁴⁸ Traditional commentators believed that "the effect of the outbreak of war upon a pre-war commercial treaty between opposing belligerents

or at least suspended. In fact, the United States Supreme Court held that "treaties of amity, of alliance, and the like, having a political character, the object of which 'is to promote relations of harmony between nation and nation,' are generally regarded as belonging to the class of treaty stipulations that are absolutely annulled by war."²⁴⁹

- 70. A thorough examination of conflicts concerning treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation, however, shows that they are often unaffected by armed conflict. For example, in the recent decision of the International Court of Justice in Oil Platforms, 250 the Treaty of Amity, Economic Relations and Consular Rights between the United States and Iran played a central role. Because the Islamic Republic of Iran's application to the Court relied on the compromissory clause included in the Treaty, it argued extensively that the Treaty was still in force notwithstanding the incidents of hostile acts in 1979. First, it argued that under the terms of the Treaty, termination was proper only through one year's written notice. 251 Second, it cited a white paper prepared for the United States Congress in October 1983 by the Legal Adviser of the United States State Department, stating that "[b]ecause it has not been terminated in accordance with its terms of [sic] the provisions of international law, the Treaty of Amity remains in force between the United States and Iran."252 Finally, the Islamic Republic of Iran pointed to multiple decisions of the Islamic Republic of Iran-United States of America Claims Tribunal, a decision of a United States federal district court and a decision of the International Court of Justice in a separate case that all held the Treaty to be in force after 1979. 253
- 71. The Court followed this precedent and took the Treaty as applicable in *Oil Platforms*.²⁵⁴ In fact, far from viewing the Treaty as abrogated or suspended, the Court based its very jurisdiction upon the Treaty of Amity.²⁵⁵

(Footnote 248 continued.)

is automatic abrogation" (McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), p. 718). See also D. P. O'Connell, "Legal sspects of the Peace Treaty with Japan", BYBIL 1952, vol. 29, p. 423, at p. 429 ("Generally speaking, it may be assumed that only political treaties which do not contemplate suspension during a state of war fail to revive on the conclusion of peace, but there is in addition a body of opinion in favour of the view that commercial treaties either lapse or may be annulled by declaration at the discretion of either party"). But see McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 67 ("In 1941 the Department of State regarded as in force with one or more Axis Powers five treaties for the protection of nationals and their commercial activity in Africa"). For a more tempered view, see Tobin (footnote 23 above), pp. 82–87.

- ²⁴⁹ Karnuth (see footnote 72 above), p. 237.
- ²⁵⁰ Oil Platforms (Islamic Republic of Iran v. United States of America), Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 2003, p. 161.
- ²⁵¹ *Ibid.*, written proceedings, memorial submitted by the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran (8 June 1993), pp. 55–56, paras. 2.03–2.04 (citing the 1969 Vienna Convention, art. 54 (termination should take place "in conformity with the provisions of the treaty")). Available from www.icj-cij.org/en/case/90/written-proceedings.
 - ²⁵² *Ibid.*, p. 56, para. 2.05.
 - ²⁵³ *Ibid.*, pp. 56–57, paras. 2.06–2.07.
- ²⁵⁴ See, for example, *Yearbook* ... 2001, vol. II (Part Two) and corrigendum, p. 74, footnote 331 ("In *Oil Platforms* ... it was not denied that the 1955 Treaty of Amity, Economic Relations and Consular Rights remained in force, despite many actions by United States naval forces against the Islamic Republic of Iran").
- ²⁵⁵ Bekker (footnote 133 above), p. 557 (noting that this "was the first ICJ case ever to rely exclusively on a compromissory clause in a bilateral commercial treaty to establish jurisdiction. In the light of this limitation, which sets the *Oil Platforms* case apart from the *Nicaragua* case, one might have expected the Court to engage in a straightforward

The Treaty played an important part in the Court's merits decision as well: the Court held that the United States of America did not owe reparations because the attacks did not adversely affect freedom of commerce between the Islamic Republic of Iran and the United States of America as stipulated in the Treaty, even though the actions were not legitimate acts of self-defence under the Charter of the United Nations and customary international law.²⁵⁶

The International Court of Justice similarly based its jurisdiction on a treaty of friendship, commerce and navigation in the Case Concerning Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua. Although a majority of the Court found that it had jurisdiction over the matter under the Statute of the Court itself,²⁵⁷ an even larger majority found jurisdiction proper under the Treaty of Friendship, Commerce and Navigation of 1956 between the United States of America and Nicaragua.²⁵⁸ As in the *Oil Platforms* case, the Court considered the Treaty of Friendship, Commerce and Navigation to be in force notwithstanding the armed conflict between the two parties and considered potential breaches of the Treaty in detail.²⁵⁹ Whereas the Court concluded that the United States of America had breached the Treaty in several respects and ordered it to pay reparations, the United States refused to participate in the case beyond the jurisdictional phase, ²⁶⁰ did not comply with the reparation order²⁶¹ and denounced the Treaty of Friendship, Commerce and Navigation under its terms.²⁶² This

exercise in treaty interpretation. Instead, the ICJ, in judging the legality of the U.S. actions, interpreted the applicable provisions of the 1955 Treaty ... directly in the light of the international law on the use of force in self-defence embodied in the UN Charter and customary international law, sources of law lying outside the ambit of the Treaty's specific jurisdictional grant").

- ²⁵⁶ *Ibid.*, pp. 550–551 (citing *Oil Platforms* (footnote 250 above), para. 125).
- ²⁵⁷ Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua (Nicaragua v. United States of America), Jurisdiction and Admissibility, Judgment of 26 November 1984, *I.C.J. Reports 1984*, p. 392, at p. 442, para. 113 (1) (a) (11 votes to 5).
- ²⁵⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 113 (1) (*b*) (14 votes to 2). For the Treaty of Friendship, Commerce and Navigation between the United States of America and the Republic of Nicaragua, signed at Managua on 21 January 1956, see United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 367, No. 5224, p. 3.
- ²⁵⁹ Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua (Nicaragua v. United States of America), Merits, Judgment of 27 June 1986, I.C.J. Reports 1986, p. 14, at pp. 136 et seq., paras. 272–292. With respect to its ruling regarding the object and purpose of the Treaty of Friendship, Commerce and Navigation, however, the Court did not "consider that a compromissory clause of the kind included in article XXIV, paragraph 2, of the 1956 FCN Treaty, providing for jurisdiction over disputes as to its interpretation or application, would enable the Court to entertain a claim alleging conduct depriving the treaty of its object and purpose. It is only because in the present case the Court has found that it has jurisdiction, apart from Article XXIV, over any legal dispute between the Parties concerning any of the matters enumerated in Article 36, paragraph 2, of the Statute, that it can proceed to examine Nicaragua's claim under this head" (p. 136, para. 271).
- ²⁶⁰ J.I. Charney, "Disputes implicating the institutional credibility of the Court: problems of non-appearance, non-participation, and non-performance", in L.F. Damrosch (ed.), *The International Court of Justice* at a Crossroads (Dobbs Ferry, New York, Transnational, 1987), p. 288.
 ²⁶¹ Ibid., p. 289.
- ²⁶² Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua (Nicaragua v. United States of America), Merits, Judgment of 27 June 1986 (see footnote 259 above), dissenting opinion of Judge Sir Robert Jennings, p. 528, at pp. 538–539 ("Since [the Judgment on jurisdiction], the United States has denounced the Treaty by a Note of 1 May 1985, giving the year's notice of denunciation required by article XXV, paragraph 3, of the Treaty").

denunciation is in itself significant: if the United States of America had been of the view that the armed conflict had terminated the Treaty, it would not have felt obligated to follow the terms of the Treaty on formal denunciation.²⁶³

73. The vitality of treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation during wartime is not limited to the modern era or to decisions of international tribunals. As far back as 1794, the United States Attorney General concluded that an American-led ransacking by a French privateer fleet of the British colony of Sierra Leone violated the Treaty of Amity with Britain, and that the victims thus had a civil remedy against the American leader under the Alien Tort Claims Act, a domestic statute providing jurisdiction for violations of the "laws of nations". 264 Opinions during the Second World War, on the other hand, are conflicting. Although Germany believed that the treaty of friendship, commerce and consular relations signed between itself and the United States of America in 1923 had lapsed during the Second World War, the United States Supreme Court based its seminal ruling in Clark v. Allen on that treaty.265

74. Because treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation were viewed as being in force during and after armed conflict in the overwhelming majority of cases outlined above, it is time to re-examine the traditional understanding that armed conflict abrogated all treaties of a political 266 or commercial nature. 267 In this regard, special attention should be paid to Oppenheim's approach, which distinguishes political treaties not creating a permanent regime, which have a greater chance of suspension, and political treaties creating a permanent regime, which have a lower chance of suspension. Treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation are testament to Oppenheim's more nuanced approach.

6. Intellectual property treaties

75. The vast majority of literature regarding the effect of armed conflict on intellectual property treaties concerns the two World Wars. During the First World War, a majority of belligerents viewed industrial property conventions as being suspended during the hostilities, but continued to honour any parallel domestic law.²⁶⁸

The view as to literary and artistic property was slightly more tempered, and such conventions even received several new signatories among belligerents during the war.²⁶⁹ This distinction is logical, because with the latter "there is less chance that protecting the originator of the work will be prejudicial to the national interest."²⁷⁰ During the Second World War, conventions for the protection of industrial property were regarded by the United States of America as in force "as far as its relations with the International Bureau were concerned", but nationals of belligerent States were not able to use them as an effective protection of their intellectual property, especially when national policy demanded the use of a belligerent national's work.²⁷¹ At least two other countries during the Second World War viewed such conventions as being suspended.²⁷² One could assume that lesser conflicts would not affect intellectual property rights of individuals as long as those rights were consistent with national policy during the armed conflict.

7. PENAL TRANSFER TREATIES

76. Like extradition treaties and border-crossing treaties, penal transfer treaties are yet another area of treaty law where private rights and government policy are simultaneously at issue. Related to extradition treaties, penal transfer treaties create a mechanism by which individuals already sentenced and imprisoned in a foreign country can be transferred to their home country for enforcement of the sentence. Although penal transfer treaties have not received significant commentary, Gregory Gelfand argues that

[u]nder general rules of international law, war between parties to a treaty suspends only the operation of treaties ... inconsistent with a state of war. A penal transfer treaty's objectives, however, require that it remain in effect, at least retrospectively, during hostilities. Prospective operation of such a treaty is inconsistent with a state of war, as States at war avoid unnecessary intercourse. Because the treaty would require consent to each transfer, it could not remain fully effective during hostilities. Nonetheless, the treaty should at least provide certainty where international law is unclear. Thus, it should require continued operation of previously incurred responsibilities in the event of war.²⁷³

²⁶³ The International Court of Justice similarly relied on the jurisdictional clause of the Treaty of Amity, Economic Relations and Consular Rights of 1955 between the United States and Iran in the *United States Diplomatic and Consular Staff in Tehran* case (see footnote 132 above), p. 26, para. 50.

²⁶⁴ A.-M. Burley, "The Alien Tort statute and the Judiciary Act of 1789: a badge of honor", AJIL, vol. 83 (1989), p. 461, at p. 488, footnote 118.

²⁶⁵ R. Sonnenfeld, "Succession and continuation: a study on treaty-practice in post-war Germany", *Netherlands Yearbook of International Law*, vol. 7 (1976), p. 91, at p. 111 (citing *Clark v. Allen*, discussed in footnote 46 above and accompanying text).

²⁶⁶ See footnote 278 below.

²⁶⁷ For example, modern commentary by Professor Aust argues that commercial treaties are either merely suspended or completely unaffected (Aust (footnote 28 above), p. 244 ("Certain commercial treaties, such as air services agreements may be suspended. Treaties like investment protection agreements may not be suspended, given that their purpose is the mutual protection of nationals of the parties")).

²⁶⁸ Tobin (footnote 23 above).

²⁶⁹ *Ibid.*, pp. 108–112.

²⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, p. 109.

²⁷¹ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), pp. 243–244. See also Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 388 (citing a decision of the English Patents Appeal Tribunal, 22 June 1959, ILR, vol. 30, pp. 54 and 58 (holding that wartime Germany remained party to the Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property [of 1934] but that the Convention was inoperative between Britain and Germany during the war)). During the First World War, the German Reichsgericht went beyond this—albeit in dicta—suggesting that the intellectual property protections of the Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property [of 1883] were still in force as to enemy nationals, *S.H.H. v. L.CH.*, Germany, Reichsgericht, 1914, *Entscheidungen des Reichsgerichts in Zivilsachen*, vol. 85, p. 374 (reported in Briggs (ed.), *The Law of Nations*... (footnote 28 above), p. 934).

²⁷² Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 388 (citing a decision of a Norwegian court of 11 July 1959: *Fabrique des crayons Koh-I-Noor, L.&C. Hardmuth, S.A.R.L. v. Koh-I-Noor Tuskarna L.&C. Hardmuth*, ILR, vol. 30, p. 33, at p. 45 (holding that the Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property was suspended between Norway and Germany from 9 April 1940 to 28 February 1958)); see also a decision of the Exchequer Court of Canada of 15 March 1948: *Louvigny de Montigny v. Cousineau*, AD 1948, case No. 135.

²⁷³ G. Gelfand, "International penal transfer treaties: the case for an unrestricted multilateral treaty", *Boston University Law Review*, vol. 64 (1984), p. 563, at pp. 603–604 (footnotes omitted).

D. Treaties exhibiting a low likelihood of applicability

1. Treaties inapplicable through express provisions

77. Some treaties contain express provisions that armed conflict leads to the suspension or abrogation of some or all of their terms.²⁷⁴ For example, the Chicago Convention on International Civil Aviation has a provision stipulating that "[i]n case of war, the provisions of this Convention shall not affect the freedom of action of any of the contracting States affected, whether as belligerents or as neutrals."²⁷⁵ In such cases, the express terms of the treaty will be applied and suspension or abrogation will occur.²⁷⁶

2. Treaties incompatible in practice

78. It is generally accepted that treaties which are incompatible with armed conflict are suspended during the period of incompatibility.²⁷⁷ Formulating the parameters of incompatibility in the absence of an express provision is perhaps the most difficult question posed by the effect of armed conflict on treaties, but the present section can provide a few common examples to show the general trend. First, treaties of alliance not "concluded for the purpose of setting up a permanent condition of things" are at least suspended during armed conflict.²⁷⁸

Second, a treaty "seeking to hold constant a dynamic power relationship ... cannot remain effective during a war between the parties." 279

war terminates alliances as between opposing belligerents"). Commentators have classified such treaties under the somewhat imprecise term "political treaties". See, for example, McNair, The Law of Treaties (footnote 36 above), p. 703; Aust (footnote 28 above), p. 244; Kelsen, Principles of International Law, 2nd rev. ed. (Tucker, ed.) (footnote 28 above), p. 501; McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 52 ("It cannot be doubted that political treaties have traditionally been generally regarded as terminated as a result of war"); Stone (footnote 2 above), p. 448 ("It is almost unnecessary to observe that [treaties of friendship and commerce or arbitration] are abrogated as between the belligerents from the outbreak of war"); O'Connell, "Legal aspects of the Peace Treaty..." (footnote 248 above), p. 429. For example, the Austro-Germano-Italian Dreibund treaty, a treaty of alliance, "could not possibly remain in force after Italy's association with the warring Powers of the Entente against the Central Powers in 1915' (Verzijł (footnote 6 above), p. 371). McNair also includes treaties of neutrality, non-aggression, and disarmament in this group, noting that "if a neutral were a party, then the continued obligation of the treaty would probably depend upon other circumstances such as a change in conditions produced by the war" (McNair, The Law of Treaties (footnote 36 above), p. 703). Compare the treaties creating and guaranteeing the permanent neutralization of Switzerland, Luxembourg and Belgium, which are "certainly political but they were not abrogated by the outbreak of war because it is clear that their object was to create a permanent system or status" (*ibid*.). See also Delbrück (footnote 6 above), p. 1371 (arguing that "political treaties" are "generally considered to be terminated by the commencement of war" because they "depend on the existence of normal political and social relations between States for their proper functioning"); Karnuth (footnote 72 above), p. 237 ("[T]reaties of amity, of alliance, and the like, having a political character, the object of which 'is to promote relations of harmony between nation and nation,' are generally regarded as belonging to the class of treaty stipulations that are absolutely annulled by war"); and McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 52. Oppenheim's approach limiting the class of incompatibility to those treaties not setting up a permanent regime is consistent with the analysis above that treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation have often remained in force during armed conflict. See chapter II, section C above. This approach is superior to that of other commentators who view all treaties of alliance as a group.

²⁷⁹ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 85. See also Starke, *An Introduction to International Law* (footnote 28 above), p. 409 ("Treaties between the belligerent States which presuppose the maintenance of common political action or good relations between them, for example, treaties of alliance, are abrogated").

CHAPTER III

The effect of the Second World War on treaties

79. The present chapter considers the effect of the Second World War on treaties. Because of the sheer magnitude of the conflict, the Second World War certainly presents a unique case in the study of the effect of armed conflict on treaties.²⁸⁰ This creates a paradox in utilizing

²⁸⁰ McIntyre (footnote 7 above) provides an excellent and comprehensive analysis of the effect of the Second World War on treaties of the United States; see also McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), pp. 727–728. Even prior to the World Wars, courts distinguished between wars that "operated to abrogate treaties, to suspend private rights, or to authorize indiscriminate seizures and condemnations; [that is] ... public general war, [and] ... limited war ... similar to a prolonged series of reprisals" (*Gray v. United States*, 21 Ct. Cl. 340, 374–375 (1886) (citing Wheaton's distinction between two classes of war: "A *perfect* war is where one whole nation is at war with another nation, and all the members of both nations are authorized to commit hostilities against all the members of the other, in every case, and under every circumstance permitted by the general laws of war. An *imperfect* war is limited as to places, persons, and things" (H. Wheaton, *Elements*

the scholarly literature on the subject: although the effects of armed conflict on treaties received more attention from commentators²⁸¹ and courts²⁸² after the Second World War than in any other era, it would be disingenuous to develop standards of State practice directly from this literature without acknowledging the extremely special situation that a war of this magnitude entails—a special situation that has, thankfully, never presented itself again.

of International Law, 2nd annotated ed. (W.B. Lawrence) (Boston, Little, Brown and Co., 1863), pp. 518–519)). For a detailed description of the distinction between "general war" and "limited war" in United States practice, see J. G. Sidak, "To declare war", *Duke Law Journal*, vol. 41 (1991–1992), p. 27, at pp. 56–62.

 $^{^{274}\,\}mathrm{See},$ for example, the treaties cited in Tobin (footnote 23 above), pp. 41–49.

²⁷⁵ Convention on International Civil Aviation, opened for signature 7 December 1944, art. 89.

²⁷⁶ See, for example, Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 374; Tobin (footnote 23 above), p. 49.

²⁷⁷ Delbrück (footnote 6 above), p. 1369. See also *ibid.*, p. 1370 (arguing that "[t]here is also widespread agreement that certain treaties ... [are] ... suspended between the belligerents ... [including treaties where] the belligerent parties [are] ... unable to fulfil their obligations because of the impact of the war on the web of international intercourse").

²⁷⁸ Oppenheim (footnote 29 above), pp. 303–304. See also Tobin (footnote 23 above), p. 69 ("There appears to be almost unanimous acceptance among writers, both early and modern, of the theory that

²⁸¹ See, for example, McIntyre (footnote 7 above); Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)" (footnote 34 above); Institute of International Law study (see footnote 18 above), vol. 59-I, p. 255.

²⁸² See, for example, *In re Meyer's Estate* (footnote 72 above); *Clark v. Allen* (footnote 46 above); *Estate of Knutzen* (footnote 144 above).

- 80. Despite the above caveat about the atypical magnitude of the Second World War, an examination of treaty practice during that conflict yields some very surprising results: many fewer treaties were suspended than one might imagine, and, with respect to American practice, "[t]here is no instance in which the evidence is conclusive that the United States regarded any treaty as terminated by World War II." The French similarly held, at least with respect to multilateral treaties, that if the war had any effect it was suspension, not termination. He extensive commentary on the effect of the Second World War on treaties can be summarized as follows:
- (a) After a thorough examination of multilateral treaties regarding "the conduct of war, public health, narcotics, labor, the control of liquor in Africa, slavery, the trade in white women, the suppression of obscene publications, and the safety of life at sea", McIntyre concludes that "it appears that none of [these treaties] were terminated by the war. On the contrary it appears that most of them, notably those for the conduct of war, narcotics control, labor, and the convention which created the International Office of Public Health, continued in force, perhaps in some respects even between the belligerents"; 285
- (b) Treaties guaranteeing private rights to inheritance remained operative, but other treaty-created private rights were suspended, including freedom of movement, freedom from confiscation without compensation, the right of access to the courts by non-resident enemy aliens and reciprocal visa fee agreements;²⁸⁶
- (c) The 1890 treaty providing for an international union for the publication of customs tariffs—the Convention concerning the Formation of an International Union for the Publication of Customs Tariffs, the precursor treaty to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), signed by almost all of the States in the world—"may have been suspended in some respects between some of the parties to it during World War II, but it appears to have returned to full force with the cessation of hostilities";²⁸⁷
- (d) Finance conventions governing the payment of international debt were "never regarded ... as even suspended as a result of World War II, although actual payment may have been rendered impossible during the period of hostilities";²⁸⁸

- (e) The view among States on intellectual property conventions was mixed, with the United States of America generally considering them still in force but with at least two other countries considering them suspended;²⁸⁹
- (f) Multilateral maritime and air transport agreements were rendered essentially inoperative but remained legally in force;²⁹⁰
- (g) Communications conventions also remained legally applicable, even if "some of their provisions [were] inoperative when direct relations with the enemy [were] called for";²⁹¹
- (h) Multilateral humanitarian conventions remained in force; 292
- (i) As to conventions on civil procedure, the Netherlands Supreme Court originally held that the 1905 Hague Convention on procedure in civil cases (Convention relating to Civil Procedure) was suspended by the war, but the Court of Cassation "later narrowed the scope of the effect of war on treaties of this kind by holding that they are suspended only in so far as, and as long as, their provisions cannot, in fact, be executed." The District Court of Stuttgart held that the Hague Convention continued to be applicable between Switzerland and Germany. The Canadian Department of Foreign Affairs viewed a bilateral agreement on civil procedure between itself and Italy to have been suspended by the Second World War; 295
- (j) In the area of conflict of laws, courts in both the Netherlands and Luxembourg held the Hague Conventions of 1902 concerning conflicts of laws in matters of marriage, divorce and guardianship to be suspended but not abrogated; the Dutch Supreme Court later limited the suspension to provisions which had become unenforceable;²⁹⁶
- (k) Regarding economic treaties, McIntyre emphasizes that "there was no case in which an economic treaty

²⁸³ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 340.

²⁸⁴ See L. Muracciole, "Chronique de jurisprudence", AFDI, vol. 2, p. 718, at pp. 727–728 (citing Court of Aix decision of 1951, catalogued in same journal, *Revue du droit public*, 1953, p. 528).

²⁸⁵ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), pp. 88–157 (quotation at p. 156). Noting the multilateral character and nature of the subject matter, McIntyre concludes that treaties on public health "unquestionably continued in legal existence, although they were apparently in part suspended by the war, even among the Allied powers" (*ibid.*, p. 103). In the area of narcotics control, multilateral treaties remained operative between all countries except Germany, where they were suspended; bilateral treaties between belligerents, however, "were at least suspended by the war, and it is possible they were terminated" (*ibid.*, pp. 123–124). It is believed that treaties on labour rights remained in force, despite practical difficulties inherent to the war which made enforcement difficult or impossible, their multilateral character again regarded as important (*ibid.*, p. 134).

²⁸⁶ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), pp. 198 and 203.

²⁸⁷ Ibid., pp. 205–207 (noting the treaty's multilateral character).

²⁸⁸ *Ibid.*, p. 214.

²⁸⁹ See footnotes 271–272 above and accompanying text.

²⁹⁰ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), pp. 244–263.

²⁹¹ *Ibid.*, p. 283.

²⁹² *Ibid.*, p. 346.

²⁹³ Verzijl (footnote 6 above), pp. 388–389 (citing *Hecht*, AD 1919–1942, Suppl. vol., Case No. 133 (3 April 1941); and *Gevato v. Deutsche Bank*, ILR, vol. 19 (1952), p. 29, case No. 13 (18 January 1952)).

²⁹⁴ Verzijl (footnote 6 above) , pp. 389–390 (citing ILR, vol. 18 (1951), case No. 178, *Enforcement of Foreign Judgments (Switzerland)* (24 April 1951)).

²⁹⁵ Manitoba (Attorney General) v. Murray, 2003 MBQB 67, 172 Man. R. (2d) 191, (2004) 1 WWR 158, para. 8 (2003) (reporting that the Director of the "Criminal Security and Treaty Law Division [in the] Canadian Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade ... [advised] that the [Agreement on Legal Proceedings in Civil and Commercial Matters between Canada and Italy of 1935] was still in force and effect in Canada and in Italy, that it was suspended for a time during World War II but was reinstated in all provinces but Quebec in 1948 and was reinstated in Quebec in 1951"). For the Agreement by Exchange of Notes (17 May, 1 and 10 July 1935) extending to Canada as from 1 August 1935 the Convention between the United Kingdom and the Kingdom of Italy regarding Legal Proceedings in Civil and Commercial Matters, see Canada Treaty Series 1935/14, available from www.treaty-accord.gc.ca.

²⁹⁶ Verzijl (footnote 6 above), p. 390 (citing decision of Netherlands District Court, AD 1947, Case No. 83 (5 February 1947); *In re Utermohlen*, *ibid.*, case No. 129 (Neth. Supr. Court, 2 April 1948); decision of High Court of Luxembourg of 30 January 1952).

was definitely regarded by the United States as terminated by World War II" despite the widely held view that war abrogates treaties of commerce.²⁹⁷ Multilateral economic conventions creating unions with bureaux, such as the postal and telecommunications unions, continued in force throughout the war, with belligerent, allied and neutral States as parties;²⁹⁸

- (*l*) With regard to commercial arbitration, the Italian Court of Cassation held in 1971 that the 1923 Protocol on Arbitration Clauses was not terminated by the Second World War because "[a] declaration of war only brought to an end those international conventions whose observance became absolutely and finally impossible as a result of the outbreak of hostilities and not those conventions whose observance only became temporarily impossible, which were merely suspended for the duration of the hostilities."²⁹⁹ A United Kingdom court held in 1977 that the Convention on the Execution of Foreign Arbitral Awards of 1927 was a "multipartite law-making treaty" and thus not terminated by the Second World War;³⁰⁰
- (m) Germany made a general statement following the Second World War "to the effect that it considered treaties

signed before the outbreak of hostilities as suspended between the belligerents";³⁰¹

- (n) China, on the other hand, did not share the view held in Europe and the United States of America that treaties generally continued during the Second World War, or were at worst temporarily suspended. When China declared war on Japan on 8 December 1941, it formally declared "that all treaties with that country were abrogated". The 1952 Peace Treaty concluding the war similarly emphasized that the war had rendered all treaties, conventions and agreements between China and Japan null and void. 303
- 81. McIntyre concludes his analysis of the effect of the Second World War on treaties of the United States of America by highlighting the liberal attitude taken by the United States as to the effect of the war on its treaties, marking a partial reversal in the presumption that treaties were generally terminated by war.³⁰⁴ In conclusion, although both World Wars should be analysed with caution because of the more expansive magnitude of conflict they present, a detailed study of the effects of the Second World War on treaties reveals that surprisingly few were suspended, and arguably none, barring a few exceptions, were terminated by the conflict.

CHAPTER IV

Modern State practice

A. Selected countries

1. Greece

82. In one of the few examples of current State practice, the Greek High Administrative Court indirectly considered the effect of armed conflict on treaties on 5 October 2000 in the case Appeal Against the Appointment of the Religious Muslim Leader in the Region of Xanthi (Mufti) Mr. Mehmet Emin Sinicoglou. 305 In that case, the Court upheld a 1991 law providing for the appointment of Muslim religious leaders (muftis), even though it contradicted a provision of the 1913 Treaty of Athens providing that muftis be elected. Treaties prevail over domestic laws in the Greek legal order, but the Court held that the Treaty of Athens was no longer in force. The primary reason for this holding is that the relevant provision of the Treaty of Athens had been abolished by the subsequent Lausanne Treaty of Peace of 1923. The Court considered that, among other things, the "substantial and

unpredictable" change of circumstances—owing to the exceptional and important events, including the First World War, that took place between the signature of the Treaty of Athens and the conclusion of the Treaty of Lausanne—was an element of the determination of the intention of the contracting parties (Greece and Turkey) to abolish article 11 of the Treaty of Athens.³⁰⁶

2. France

83. According to a series of judicial opinions in France, it is not the effect of armed conflict itself but the mere declaration of war which can immediately affect treaty relations.³⁰⁷ This teleological approach appears at odds with both the resolution of the Institute of International

²⁹⁷ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), pp. 293–294.

²⁹⁸ *Ibid.*, p. 295. See also *ibid.*, p. 344 ("No State lost membership in any of the international unions or bureaus. When any of the conventions on which they were based came to an end, it was because they were replaced by a subsequent convention").

²⁹⁹ Lanificio Branditex v. Società Azais e Vidal, ILR, vol. 71 (1986), p. 595 (Italy, Court of Cassation, Joint Sess., 8 November 1971); see also Italian Yearbook of International Law, vol. 1 (1975), p. 232.

³⁰⁰ Crawford (footnote 14 above), pp. 333–335 (citing *Masinimport v. Scottish Mechanical Light Industries Ltd.*, 1976 (see footnotes 14 and 170 above)).

³⁰¹ Sonnenfeld (footnote 265 above), p. 111 (citing communications of the Federal Ministry of Economic Affairs, as quoted in *Heidelberg Journal of International Law*, vol. 18, p. 725 (1957–1958)).

³⁰² J. A. Cohen and H. Chiu, *People's China and International Law: A Documentary Study* (Princeton, Princeton University Press, 1974), p. 1282. For the Treaty of Peace between the Republic of China and Japan, signed at Taipei on 28 April 1952, see United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 138, No. 1858, p. 3.

³⁰³ Cohen and Chiu (footnote 302 above), p. 1282.

³⁰⁴ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 340.

³⁰⁵ High Administrative Court (Third Section), on file with the Codification Division, United Nations.

³⁰⁶ *Ibid*.

³⁰⁷ See L. Muracciole, "Jurisprudence française concernant le droit international public (année 1954)", AFDI, vol. 1 (1955), p. 533, at p. 550 (citing a current case in the Court of Appeal of Aix following *Lovera v. Rinaldi, Revue du droit public*, 1952, p. 1105, No. 26 (22 June 1949); *Gambino c. Arcens, ibid.*, 1955, p. 461, No. 38 (11 March 1953)). See additional cases cited in L. Muracciole, "Jurisprudence de l'année 1956", AFDI, vol. 3 (1957), p. 686, at p. 694.

Law³⁰⁸ and the theory elaborated in chapter I above that treaties are affected by armed conflict only when they are incompatible with national policy during the conflict.

3. Austria as permanent neutral

84. Stephen Verosta reports to the Institute of International Law that

[b]etween its liberation in 1945 and the conclusion of the Austrian State Treaty in 1955 Austria has, in principle, during armed conflicts continued its treaty-relations with both sides of the armed conflict. Having adopted on 26 October 1955 the international status of permanent neutrality, which subsequently was recognized by all States including the five permanent members of the Security Council, Austria has fulfilled and certainly will fulfill, should an armed conflict occur, its obligations under multilateral as well as under bilateral treaties in relation to its treaty-partners on both sides of the conflict, until supervening circumstances would make the performance impossible (Art. 61, para. 1, [Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties]). One could say that for Austria as a permanently neutral State the outbreak of hostilities as a rule had no effect on treaties. The Austrian courts, generally speaking, act in conformity with the legal standpoint of the government.³⁰⁹

4. Spain

85. In 1993, Spain suspended visa-waiver treaties with the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia and Bosnia and Herzegovina while that area was embroiled in armed conflict. It remains to be confirmed if this action represents an effect of the Yugoslav conflict on these treaties or is better categorized as an effect of State succession on treaties.

5. Australia

86. Treatment of the topic by Australia in 1966 is emblematic of the changing nature of the effect of armed conflict in an era of less formalized or alternative forms of conflict, in this case the effect of the cold war on treaties. In response to a question about the relationship between Australia and China, the Australian Ministry of External Affairs declared that "Australia is not in a state of hostilities with mainland China and we do not regard that country as being an enemy in that technical and legal sense", but emphasized that imports and exports of strategic materials would be subject to control. If this control were carried out in the form of increased tariffs or duties, it would conflict with a trade treaty maintained by China and Australia at that time, which absolutely limited restrictive tariffs and duties. Thus, it appears that even

the cold war, a most diffuse, non-traditional form of inter-State conflict, can affect treaties.

6. United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

87. In reply to a question regarding what obligations the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland still had under the Nootka Sound Convention of 1790 towards former Spanish colonies, the United Kingdom Minister of State wrote in 1983 that "the convention was terminated in 1795 as a result of the war between Britain and Spain."313 Although this declaration deals with an armed conflict which occurred almost 200 years earlier, it was made in the context of a current armed conflict, the 1982 war between the United Kingdom and Argentina over the control of the Falkland Islands (Malvinas). After emphasizing that the 1795 war had terminated the Nootka Sound Convention, the United Kingdom statement related this to the Falkland Islands (Malvinas): "In 1811 Spain evacuated the Falkland Islands and abandoned them, so that, although the convention was revived in 1814, it could not then be taken to apply to the Falkland Islands."314

7. SEYCHELLES

88. The Supreme Court of Seychelles considered the effect of armed conflict on treaties in a 1973 case involving the extradition of an Italian arrested in Seychelles. Counsel for the defendant argued that the relevant extradition treaty had been suspended by the Second World War and that on its revival it no longer applied to Seychelles, which had become a separate colony from Mauritius. The prosecution argued that the Second World War created an "automatic lapse" in the treaty, which revived as before at the war's conclusion, still applicable to Seychelles. The Court combined these two arguments, holding that the treaty was suspended by the war, but continued to apply to Seychelles after being revived by the peace treaty at the conclusion of the Second World War.³¹⁵

8. ITALY

89. The *Italian Yearbook of International Law* reports two relevant cases in the early 1970s. First, the Court of Cassation issued a judgment on the effects of armed conflict on treaties generally, holding that the effects of war are limited to suspending and not terminating treaties unless the treaty becomes "absolutely and finally impossible" to carry out.³¹⁶ The judgment is also significant

³⁰⁸ Institute of International Law resolution of 1985 on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties (footnote 19 above), art. 2 ("The outbreak of an armed conflict does not *ipso facto* terminate or suspend the operation of treaties in force between the parties to the armed conflict").

³⁰⁹ Institute of International Law study (footnote 18 above), vol. 59-I, pp. 255–256.

³¹⁰ See V. Bou Franch (ed.), "Práctica española en materia de tratados internacionales correspondiente al año 1993", *Anuario de Derecho Internacional* (Spain), vol. 10 (1994), p. 376, at pp. 487–488.

³¹¹ J. G. Starke, "Digest of Australian Practice in International Law 1965–1966", *Australian Year Book of International Law*, vol. 2 (1966), p. 149, at pp. 155–156.

³¹² Exchange of notes annexed to the Treaty between the Government of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the Government of the Republic of China relating to the Chinese Customs Tariff, etc., signed at Nanking on 20 December 1928, art. 2 (League of Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. XC, No. 2047, p. 337; also reported in *Australian Treaty Series*, 1929, No. 2). Entered into force for Australia 1 February 1929.

³¹³ G. Marston (ed.), "United Kingdom materials on international law 1983", BYBIL *1983*, vol. 54, p. 361, at p. 370 (citing *House of Commons Official Report*, 6th series, vol. 235, written answers, col. 275 (7 February 1983)).

³¹⁴ *Ibid.* A dispute exists between the Governments of Argentina and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland concerning sovereignty over the Falklands (Malvinas). See ST/CS/SER.A/42 of 3 August 1999.

³¹⁵ R. v. Meroni (see footnote 236 above).

³¹⁶ The Court stated that "a declaration of war only brings to an end those international conventions, observance of which would become absolutely and finally impossible as a result of the outbreak of hostilities; if, on the other hand, what is involved is merely temporary incompatibility limited in time to the duration of the hostilities in progress, the result is a more limited one: the effectiveness of the said conventions is simply suspended pending cessation of the state of war and the resumption of normal international relations" (*Italian Yearbook of International Law*, vol. 1 (1975), p. 233, citing *Lanificio Branditex v. Società Azais e Vidal* (see footnote 299 above)).

because the court held that armed conflict "cannot bring about the extinction of treaties, but may contribute to a 'supervening impossibility' and perhaps to a change in the circumstances (*rebus sic stantibus*)." Second, an Italian court held an extradition treaty to be terminated by the Second World War.³¹⁸

9. Netherlands

90. The *Netherlands Yearbook of International Law* reports an incident of Dutch practice in 1982 in which civil strife in Suriname affected treaties between Suriname and the Netherlands, with the Netherlands suspending all such bilateral treaties under the doctrine of *rebus sic stantibus*.³¹⁹ Like the Australian example discussed above, the circumstances of the Dutch action exemplify the changing nature of armed conflict; in this case, a limited internal conflict had an effect on inter-State treaty relations.

10. ISRAEL

91. The effect of armed conflict on the treaties of Israel was examined by Shabtai Rosenne, who reported to the Institute of International Law that

[a]s far as I can recall, the question [of the effect of armed conflict on treaties] has not really arisen for Israel, neither for the Courts nor for the Government. This is certainly a consequence of our position on the succession of Israel to the international treaties of Palestine, for that brought to an end from our point of view all possibility of the treaty relationships previously existing between Palestine and any of the Arab States with whom hostilities took place in 1948 and since, from becoming treaty relationships of Israel. ... In 1958, the Knesset (Parliament) passed the Obsolete Enactments (Repeal) Law, and included among enactments of the Mandatory Government thus repealed was the Palestine-Syria and Palestine-Lebanon Customs Agreement (Validation) Ordinance, 1940. In the Explanatory Memorandum accompanying the Bill, the Government simply states that the 1940 Ordinance was no longer applicable.³²⁰

B. Selected armed conflicts after the Second World War*

1. Korea, 1950 to 1953

92. In June 1953, forces of the Democratic People's Republic of Korea invaded the Republic of Korea, and in July of that year the United Nations Security Council recommended that United Nations Members assist the Republic of Korea in repelling the attack.³²¹ This began

the Korean War, a large-scale conflict in which 16 other countries contributed combat units and five countries contributed medical units on behalf of the United Nations.³²² Dietrich Schindler reported to the Institute of International Law that "we can assume that there were hardly any treaty relations, particularly no bilateral treaties, between the Northern and the Southern parts of [Korea] which could have been affected by the hostilities. As to the States which sent military forces to [Korea], the question whether [the Korean war] had any [effect] on their treaties needs a closer examination. One cannot assume, however, that there were any important effects."323 No treaties existed between the Democratic People's Republic of Korea and the United States of America at the time the war broke out.324 Although the effect of armed conflict on human rights treaties is now receiving increasing scholarly interest,325 no binding human rights treaty had entered into force at the time of the Korean conflict.³²⁶

2. Suez Canal Base incident, 1956

93. In 1954, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and Egypt concluded the Suez Canal Base Agreement, which provided that "in the event of attack on any member of the Arab League by an outside power, excluding Israel, Egypt would allow the return of British forces to the Suez Canal Base."327 In 1956, the United Kingdom and France launched an aerial bombardment of Egypt, and eventually landed ground troops. Egypt later asserted that this attack violated the Base Agreement and denounced the treaty.³²⁸ Analysing this incident, Robert Layton concludes that Egypt's denunciation of the treaty "rested upon the doctrine that breach by one state of the terms of an agreement affords the non-culpable state the right of denunciation. If the doctrine was correctly applied, the treaty came to an end because of the violation of its terms, rather than because of an inconsistency between its performance and the hostilities. It is therefore difficult to draw relevant conclusions from the incident."329

^{*} References, citations and quotations are provided in the present memorandum with sole regard to the issue of the effects of armed conflicts on treaties and have no bearing on the characterization of an armed conflict; the subject matter of the dispute, including the issue of the status of disputed territories; or any other similar issue.

³¹⁷ Ibid., pp. 232-233.

 $^{^{318}}$ In re Barnaton Levy and Suster Brucker, Court of Appeal, Milan (see footnote 13 above).

³¹⁹ R. C. R. Siekmann, "Netherlands State practice for the parliamentary year 1982–1983", *Netherlands Yearbook of International Law*, vol. 15 (1984), p. 267, at p. 321.

³²⁰ Institute of International Law study (footnote 18 above), vol. 59-I, p. 254 (citing *Yearbook ... 1950*, vol. II, p. 206; United Nations Legislative Series, *Materials on the Succession of States*, p. 38 (1967); S. Rosenne, "Israel and the international treaties of Palestine", *Journal du droit international*, vol. 77 (1950), p. 1140).

³²¹ Encyclopedia of the United Nations and International Agreements, 3rd rev. ed. (E. J. Osmańczyk, A. Mango (ed.)), vol. 2 (New York, Routledge, 2003), p. 1230.

³²² In addition to the Republic of Korea, the countries contributing combat units were Australia, Belgium, Canada, Colombia, Ethiopia, France, Greece, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, New Zealand, the Philippines, South Africa, Thailand, Turkey, the United Kingdom and the United States. Medical units were provided by Denmark, India, Italy, Norway and Sweden (*ibid.*, p. 1238).

³²³ Institute of International Law study (footnote 18 above), vol. 59-I, p. 269.

³²⁴ See M. K. Prescott, "How war affects treaties between belligerents: a case study of the Gulf War", *Emory International Law Review*, vol. 7, No. 1 (1993), p. 197, at pp. 197–198 (citing *United States Treaties Cumulative Index* 1950–1970 (1973)).

³²⁵ See chapter II, section A.5 above.

³²⁶ The Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment entered into force on 26 June 1987 (see *Multilateral Treaties Deposited with the Secretary-General* (available from https://treaties.un.org), *Status of Treaties*, chap. IV.9); the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights entered into force on 23 March 1976 (*ibid.*, chap. IV.4); the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights entered into force on 3 January 1976 (*ibid.*, chap. IV.3).

³²⁷ Layton (footnote 39 above), p. 117 (citing Suez Canal Base Agreement of 1954 (see footnote 194 above)).

³²⁸ Ibid. (citing also E. Lauterpacht (ed.), The Suez Canal Settlement: A Selection of Documents (London, Stevens and Sons, 1960); K. Mostofi, "The Suez dispute: a case study of a treaty", Western Political Quarterly, vol. 10, No. 1 (1957), p. 23, at p. 35).

³²⁹ Layton (footnote 39 above), p. 117.

3. China and India, 1962

94. A border dispute between China and India "led to a brief military conflict in 1962 and the occupation by Chinese forces of areas in the Himalayas claimed by both countries."³³⁰ Dietrich Schindler reported to the Institute of International Law with regard to this conflict that "since diplomatic relations between the two countries were not broken off there was probably no rupture of treaty relations either."³³¹

4. India and Pakistan, 1965

95. In 1965, India and Pakistan became involved in "serious clashes along the border between West Pakistan and India in the Rann of Kutch Desert". Schindler reported as to this conflict that "there was no effect on treaties in spite of Pakistan's claim that she was 'at war' with India", 333 citing an arbitration award of the International Chamber of Commerce, which states:

[N]one of the treaties concluded by India and Pakistan before September 1965 seems to have been considered, on either side, as cancelled; at least no contention and no evidence to that effect has been forthcoming from the Defendant. On the contrary, evidence may be found to show that both countries have viewed their treaties as still in force. On the claimant's side, reference was made to the fact that India continued to effect payments to Pakistan under the Indus River Treaty. It is common knowledge also that the Treaty concluded on June 30, 1965, in order to arbitrate the question of the Rann of Kutch, was finally implemented by both parties (if not actually during the hostilities, of course, but shortly after the Tashkent Declaration of January 10, 1966, i.e., on February 15, 1966). McNair writes on this point: "Both States apparently regarded the existing Kutch Arbitration Agreement between them as continuing in force, taking action under it in connection with the appointment of arbitrators." Moreover, this view finds a confirmation in Article VI of the Tashkent Declaration, whereby the Prime Minister of India and the President of Pakistan agreed "to take measures to implement the existing agreements between India and Pakistan"—and not, for instance, to "revive" former agreements cancelled by a "war".33

96. Rather than taking this State practice to signify an evolution of the law away from the original premise that war *ipso facto* abrogates treaties, the arbitrator accepted this traditional premise and concluded that the absence of treaty abrogation could only mean that Pakistan and India did not, in fact, go to war.³³⁵

5. India and Pakistan, 1971

97. India and Pakistan fought a 12-day war in December 1971 in which "Indian forces occupied East Pakistan, which became the independent state of Bangladesh." ³³⁶

Schindler reported as to this conflict that he "did not find any indications as to its effects on treaties. Different from the 1965 conflict, diplomatic relations were broken off in this conflict between the two countries."³³⁷

6. VIET NAM WAR, 1957 TO 1975

The Viet Nam war was a military conflict fought in 98 Viet Nam from 1959 to 1975 between South Viet Nam and the United States of America, on one side, and North Viet Nam and the National Liberation Front (NLF) on the other.338 As with Korea, Dietrich Schindler noted that "we can assume that there were hardly any treaty relations, particularly no bilateral treaties, between the Northern and the Southern parts of [Viet Nam] which could have been affected by the hostilities. As to the States which sent military forces to [Viet Nam], the question whether [the Viet Nam war] had any [effect] on their treaties needs a closer examination. One cannot assume, however, that there were any important effects."339 No treaties existed between North Viet Nam and the United States of America at the time because the United States did not recognize the North Vietnamese Government. 340 No binding human rights treaty had yet entered into force.341

7. Turkey and Cyprus, 1974

99. Tensions between Greece and Turkey reached boiling point in 1974 when the Greek Cypriot organization Ethnikí Orgánosis Kipriakoú Agónos (EOKA) overthrew the Government of Cyprus. Turkey reacted by landing troops and occupying portions of the island, quickly overtaking the newly installed regime. 342 Schindler reported as to this conflict that he was unable to find any "relevant information with regard to [the effect of armed conflict on treaties]". 343

8. Soviet Union and Afghanistan, 1979 to 1989

100. In December 1978, Afghanistan and the Soviet Union signed a 20-year Treaty of Friendship.³⁴⁴ Ironically, in response to a request from the Afghan Government for military aid under the terms of that very Treaty, the Soviet Union sent 80,000 troops to Afghanistan, who ultimately supported the overthrow of the Afghan Government and occupied the country for 10 years.³⁴⁵ There is little doubt that the Soviet intervention in Afghanistan

³³⁰ Encyclopedia of the United Nations... (footnote 321 above), vol. 2, p. 984.

³³¹ Institute of International Law study (footnote 18 above), vol. 59-I, pp. 267–268.

 $^{^{332}}$ Encyclopedia of the United Nations... (footnote 321 above), vol. 3, p. 1739.

³³³ Institute of International Law study (footnote 18 above), vol. 59-I, p. 268.

³³⁴ *Ibid.* (citing award of 18 December 1967, reproduced in S. P. Sharma, *The Indo-Pakistan Maritime Conflict, 1965: A Legal Appraisal* (Bombay, Academic Books, 1970), pp. 107–123). See also McNair and Watts (footnote 194 above), pp. 457–458. For the Tashkent Declaration, see S/7221, annex.

³³⁵ Institute of International Law study (footnote 18 above), vol. 59-I, p. 268.

³³⁶ Encyclopedia of the United Nations... (footnote 321 above), vol. 2, p. 983.

³³⁷ Institute of International Law study (footnote 18 above), vol. 59-I, p. 269.

³³⁸ www.britannica.com/event/Vietnam-War.

 $^{^{\}rm 339}$ Institute of International Law study (footnote 18 above), vol. 59-I, p. 269.

³⁴⁰ Prescott (footnote 324 above), p. 198.

³⁴¹ See footnote 326 above. In addition, neither Viet Nam nor the United States had yet ratified the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (see *Multilateral Treaties Deposited with the Secretary-General* (available from https://treaties.un.org), *Status of Treaties*, chap. IV.1).

³⁴² Encyclopedia of the United Nations... (footnote 321 above), vol. 4, p. 2386.

³⁴³ Institute of International Law study (footnote 18 above), vol. 59-I, p. 269.

³⁴⁴ Encyclopedia of the United Nations... (footnote 321 above), vol. 1, p. 13.

³⁴⁵ Ibid., pp. 13-15.

affected the 1978 Treaty of Friendship, which assured mutual "respect for national sovereignty and territorial integrity, and non-interference in each other's internal affairs", 346 and required the two States to "safeguard the security, independence and territorial integrity of the two countries". 347

101. The United States Department of State reports that it suspended its Fulbright exchange programme as a result of the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan,³⁴⁸ thus affecting the treaty governing that programme in Afghanistan, which lacks any provisions concerning armed conflict.³⁴⁹ It is unclear whether the suspension of the treaty was based on changed circumstances making it impossible to perform, or the armed conflict *per se*.

9. ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF IRAN-IRAQ WAR, 1980 TO 1988

102. A border dispute over the Shatt al-Arab waterway separating the Islamic Republic of Iran and Iraq escalated into full-scale war in the 1980s, in which "both sides attacked civilian targets, Iraq repeatedly used chemical weapons, and commercial shipping in the Gulf was attacked". The war brought "the abrogation of the various treaties establishing the border between the two antagonists". Despite the unilateral abrogation of boundary treaties by both sides prior to and during the war, it is the overwhelming view of commentators that "boundary agreements are recognized as belonging to that category of treaties which are not annulled upon the occurrence of war between two or more States."

The more interesting legal question is what effect, if any, the war had on other treaties incidental to the boundary treaty, such as the Agreement concerning the use of frontier watercourses of 1975.³⁵⁴ In that context, there does not seem to be any evidence of cooperation under the terms of this treaty since the outbreak of the Islamic Republic of Iran–Iraq war.³⁵⁵ Nevertheless, at least one commentator has argued that it is still in force.³⁵⁶

10. Argentina and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, 1982

103. A long-dormant territorial dispute between Argentina and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland over control of the Falkland Islands (Malvinas) erupted into a brief war in 1982 when "Argentina's military government invaded and occupied the islands."357 The United Kingdom reacted with military force, and Argentine forces surrendered several months after the initial invasion.³⁵⁸ The war over the Falkland Islands (Malvinas) had an effect on trade treaties between Argentina and the United Kingdom as well as between Argentina and third countries. At the United Kingdom's request, members of the European Economic Community, Australia, New Zealand and Canada adopted trade sanctions including "a temporary prohibition on all imports of Argentine products, which ran contrary to article XI:1 and possibly article III of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade. It was disputed whether the measures could be justified under the national security exception provided for in article XXI (b) (iii) of the Agreement. The embargo adopted by the European countries also constituted a suspension of Argentina's rights under two sectoral agreements on trade in textiles and trade in mutton and lamb, for which security exceptions of the Agreement did not apply."359 It might be argued, however, that such trade restrictions are not an effect of the armed conflict on treaties but rather sanctions imposed on Argentina for its action in the Falklands Islands (Malvinas).

104. In addition, it was in the context of the Falklands Islands (Malvinas) conflict that the United Kingdom argued that the Nootka Sound Convention of 1790 regarding former Spanish colonies had been terminated by

reiterates the continuing validity of the said agreement, or to conclude no agreement regarding boundaries at all" (Kaikobad, p. 102). See also H. H. G. Post, "Border conflicts between Iraq and Iran: review and legal reflections", in I. F. Dekker and H. H. G. Post (eds.), *The Gulf War of 1980–1988: The Iran–Iraq War in International Legal Perspective* (Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1992), p. 7, at pp. 33–34 (arguing that the treaty system of 1975 is still in force after the war).

³⁴⁶ Treaty of Friendship, Good-neighbourliness and Cooperation between Afghanistan and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, signed at Moscow on 5 December 1978, art. 1, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1145, No. 17976, p. 325 (reported in *Encyclopedia of the United Nations*... (footnote 321 above), vol. 1, p. 19).

³⁴⁷ Art. 4.

³⁴⁸ "Washington File, Fulbright Program Reestablished in Afghanistan" (1 May 2003); see https://af.usembassy.gov/education-culture/educational-exchanges/.

³⁴⁹ Agreement between the United States of America and Afghanistan relating to the Peace Corps Program, exchange of notes at Kabul, 6 and 11 September 1962; entered into force 11 September 1962, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 461, No. 6661, p. 169.

³⁵⁰ Encyclopedia of the United Nations... (footnote 321 above), vol. 2, p. 1161.

³⁵¹ T. Geraci, book review: *The Shatt-al-Arab Boundary Question: A Legal Reappraisal*, by Kaiyan Homi Kaikobad (Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1988), AJIL, vol. 85 (1991), p. 232, at p. 233. See also Kaikobad (footnote 107 above), pp. 92–102.

³⁵² See, for example, Kaikobad (footnote 107 above), p. 79 (Iran unilaterally abrogates the Shatt-al-Arab Boundary Treaty, signed at Tehran on 4 July 1937 (League of Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. CXC, No. 4423, p. 241) in April 1969); *ibid.*, p. 86 (Iraq abrogates the Treaty concerning the State frontier and neighbourly relations between Iran and Iraq, signed at Baghdad on 13 June 1975 (United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1017, No. 14903, p. 54), establishing the boundary); *ibid.*, p. 102 (Baghdad Treaty has been "mutually transgressed" by both nations).

³⁵³ Kaikobad (footnote 107), p. 93; see also the works cited in footnote 107 above. After reviewing the literature on the effect of armed conflict on treaties, Kaikobad, writing during the Islamic Republic of Iran–Iraq conflict, concludes that even though both belligerents mutually transgressed the Baghdad Treaty of 1975 establishing the boundary, this "will not affect the territory allocated by the Baghdad Treaty. At the end of the war, and in the absence of an agreement to the contrary the [boundary as established by the Baghdad Treaty] will once again become operational as the international boundary between the parties. Both States will be free to conclude an agreement which either modifies the Baghdad Treaty in terms of relocation of the frontier, or

³⁵⁴ Agreement between Iran and Iraq concerning the use of frontier watercourses, signed at Baghdad, 26 December 1975; entered into force 22 June 1976, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1017, No. 14907, p. 255.

³⁵⁵ For a discussion of the effects of the conflict on the Treaty of Amity, Economic Relations and Consular Rights between the United States and Iran, see footnotes 250–256 above.

³⁵⁶ Post (footnote 353 above), p. 33.

³⁵⁷ Encyclopedia of the United Nations... (footnote 321 above), vol. 1, p. 698. See Security Council resolution 502 (1982). See also footnote 314 above.

³⁵⁸ Encyclopedia of the United Nations... (footnote 321 above), vol. 1, p. 698.

³⁵⁹ Yearbook ... 2001, vol. II (Part Two) and corrigendum, p. 138 (para. (3) of the commentary to article 54 of the articles on responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts) (citations omitted).

the war between Great Britain and Spain in 1795. ³⁶⁰ After establishing that the Convention had been terminated, the United Kingdom argued that upon its revival in 1814, it no longer applied to the Falkland Islands (Malvinas) because Spain had evacuated the Islands in 1811, during the period of suspension. ³⁶¹ Thus, the Falkland Islands (Malvinas) conflict presents the unique case in which an armed conflict causes a State to argue that another armed conflict affected a treaty.

11. GULF WAR, 1991

105. The Gulf war was a "[m]ilitary operation ... conducted by an international force led by the United States, to put an end to Iraq's occupation of Kuwait." It is important to the topic of the effect of armed conflict on treaties for several reasons. First, a large number of opposing belligerents maintained treaties with Iraq. Second, the Gulf war created extensive scholarly debate as to the effect of armed conflict on environmental treaties, as discussed earlier in the present study. Third, because both the economic sanctions and military action against Iraq were authorized by the Security Council, the conflict raises important issues of the effect on treaties of actions taken in relation to Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations.

106. There would seem to be little doubt that the Iraqi invasion of Kuwait, which began the Gulf conflict, violated the treaty on friendly relations existing between the two nations.³⁶⁸ Under that treaty, Iraq "recognize[s] the independence and complete sovereignty of the State of Kuwait" and agrees to "work towards reinforcing the fraternal relations subsisting between the two sister countries ... [and to] work towards establishing cultural, commercial and economical co-operation between the two countries". However, there is no evidence as to whether this treaty is considered suspended or terminated by the parties as a result of the armed conflict, and both the Security Council and the Secretary-General of

360 See para. 87 above.

the United Nations have continued to refer to some of its provisions.³⁶⁹

107. Many other adversaries of Iraq also maintained treaty relations with it in areas potentially incompatible with armed conflict, *inter alia* the United States of America, France, Australia, the Netherlands, Egypt, Canada, Czechoslovakia and Romania. In contrast to the conflicts in Korea and Viet Nam—where the United States of America maintained no bilateral treaties with the opposing belligerents at the time of its entry into the conflict—13 bilateral treaties existed between the United States of America and Iraq during the 1991 Gulf war.³⁷⁰ Iraq maintained bilateral treaties with the

³⁶¹ Ibid.

³⁶² Encyclopedia of the United Nations... (footnote 321 above), vol. 2, p. 844.

³⁶³ See Uppsala Conflict Data Program, Uppsala University Department of Peace and Conflict Research, available from www.ucdp.uu.se (listing the belligerents allied with Kuwait as Argentina, Australia, Bahrain, Bangladesh, Belgium, Canada, Czechoslovakia, Denmark, Egypt, France, Greece, Honduras, Italy, Morocco, the Netherlands, the Niger, Norway, Oman, Pakistan, Portugal, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Sierra Leone, Spain, the Syrian Arab Republic, Turkey, the United Arab Emirates, the United Kingdom and the United States of America).

³⁶⁴ See chapter II, section C.2 above.

³⁶⁵ Security Council resolution 661 (1990), of 6 August 1990.

³⁶⁶ Security Council resolution 665 (1990), of 25 August 1990 (authorizing military forces to secure effective implementation of sanctions); Security Council resolution 678 (1990), of 29 November 1990 (authorizing Member States cooperating in Kuwait to use "all necessary means to uphold and implement resolution 660 (1990) and all subsequent relevant resolutions and to restore international peace and security in the area").

³⁶⁷ For a discussion of the effect on treaties of actions taken pursuant to Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations, see chapter VI, section A below.

³⁶⁸ Agreed Minutes between the State of Kuwait and the Republic of Iraq regarding the restoration of friendly relations, recognition and related matters, signed at Baghdad on 4 October 1963 and entered into force on that date, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 485, No. 7063, p. 321.

³⁶⁹ Security Council resolution 833 (1993), of 27 May 1993, fourth paragraph of the preamble ("Recalling ... that through the demarcation process the [United Nations Iraq–Kuwait Boundary Demarcation] Commission was not reallocating territory between Kuwait and Iraq, but it was simply carrying out the technical task necessary to demarcate for the first time the precise coordinates of the boundary set out in the 'Agreed Minutes between the State of Kuwait and the Republic of Iraq regarding the Restoration of Friendly Relations, Recognition and Related Matters' signed by them on 4 October 1963"); A/55/811, para. 4 (noting that the United Nations Iraq–Kuwait Observer Mission (UNIKOM) used the boundary established in the treaty on friendly relations as its reference).

³⁷⁰ United States Department of State, Treaties in Force (2003), Part 1, pp. 141-142, available from www.state.gov/documents/organ ization/24227.pdf (citing the following treaties: Agreement between the United States of America and Iraq concerning claims resulting from attack on U.S.S. Stark, Baghdad, 27-28 March 1989, United States Department of State, Treaties and Other International Acts Series 12030 (United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 2249, No. 40071, p. 117); Cultural Agreement between the United States of America and the Republic of Iraq, signed at Baghdad on 23 January 1961, entered into force on 13 August 1963, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 488, No. 7126, p. 163, United States Treaties and Other International Agreements, vol. 14, Part 1 (1963), p. 1168, Treaties and Other International Acts Series 5411; Exchange of notes constituting an Agreement between the United States of America and Iraq in relation to free entry privileges for consular officers, Washington, D.C., 14 March, 15 May, 19 June and 8 August 1951, United States Treaties and Other International Agreements, vol. 5, Part 1 (1954), p. 657, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 229, No. 3166, p. 185 (granting reciprocal privileges to consular officers to import duty-free articles for personal use); Agreement between the Government of the United States of America and the Government of Iraq for financing certain educational exchange programmes, signed at Baghdad on 16 August 1951, United States Treaties and Other International Agreements, vol. 2, Part 2 (1951), p. 1908, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 147, No. 1929, p. 65 (establishing the United States Educational Foundation in Iraq); Agreement between the Governments of the United States of America and the Kingdom of Iraq on the principles applying to aid for defence (with exchange of notes), signed at Washington, D.C., on 31 July 1945, U.S. Stat., vol. 59-I, p. 1535, United States Department of State, Executive Agreement Series 470, C.I. Bevans (ed.), Treaties and Other International Agreements of the United States of America 1776-1949, vol. 9, Washington, D.C., Department of State, 1972, p. 22 (relating to the Lend-Lease Act); International Express Mail Agreement between the United States Postal Service and the Postal Administration of Iraq, Baghdad and Washington, D.C., 6 April and 5 May 1989, Treaties and Other International Acts Series 11609; Exchange of notes constituting an Agreement between the United States of America and Iraq relating to the exchange of official publications, Baghdad, 16 February 1944, entered into force on 16 February 1944, U.S. Stat., vol. 58-I, p. 1253, Executive Agreement Series 403, Bevans (ed.), Treaties and Other International Agreements..., vol. 9, p. 14, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 109, No. 362, p. 223; agreement for the reciprocal reduction of passport visa fees for non-immigrants, exchange of notes at Baghdad, 27 February 1939, Bevans (ed.), Treaties and Other International Agreements..., vol. 9, p. 12; Exchange of notes constituting an Agreement between the United States of America and Iraq relating to passport visas, Baghdad, 6 June 1956, entered into force on 6 June 1956,

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland in areas as diverse as extradition;³⁷¹ civil procedure;³⁷² agriculture;³⁷³ air services;³⁷⁴ cooperation in education, science and culture;³⁷⁵ and economic and technical cooperation.³⁷⁶ France had nine bilateral treaties at the time of the outbreak of the conflict,³⁷⁷ including treaties covering trade,³⁷⁸ technical cooperation³⁷⁹ and cultural cooperation.³⁸⁰ Treaties existed between Australia and Iraq in areas including extradition;³⁸¹ civil

(Footnote 370 continued.)

United States Treaties and Other International Agreements, vol. 7, Part 1 (1956), p. 1067, Treaties and Other International Acts Series 3587, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 275, No. 3985, p. 265; Extradition Treaty between the United States of America and the Kingdom of Iraq, signed at Baghdad on 7 June 1934, entered into force on 23 April 1936, U.S. Stat., vol. 49-II, p. 3380, Treaty Series 907, Bevans (ed.), Treaties and Other International Agreements..., vol. 9, p 1, League of Nations, Treaty Series, vol. CLXX, No. 3942, p. 267; Point Four General Agreement for Technical Cooperation between the United States of America and Iraq, signed at Baghdad 10 April 1951, entered into force on 2 June 1951, *United States Treaties and Other* International Agreements, vol. 3, Part 1 (1952), p. 541, Treaties and Other International Acts Series 2413, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 151, No. 1993, p. 179, amended 18 December 1951 and 21 February 1952, United States Treaties and Other International Agreements, vol. 3, Part 4 (1952), p. 4748, Treaties and Other International Acts Series 2638, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 198, No. 2666, p. 225; Commercial, Economic and Technical Cooperation Agreement between the Government of the United States of America and the Government of the Republic of Iraq, signed at Washington, D.C., 26 August 1987, entered into force on 27 October 1987, *Treaties and* Other International Acts Series 12020 (United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 2243, No. 39945, p. 423)).

- ³⁷¹ Extradition Treaty, signed at Baghdad on 2 May 1932; entered into force on 5 May 1933, League of Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. CXLI, No. 3270, p. 277; *Treaty Series* No. 13 (1933) Cmd. 4317, available from http://treaties.fco.gov.uk/docs/fullnames/pdf/1933.
- ³⁷² Convention regarding Legal Proceedings in Civil and Commercial Matters, signed at Baghdad on 25 July 1935, exchange of ratifications carried out in London on 18 November 1936, League of Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. CLXXVI, No. 4064, p. 229; *Treaty Series* No. 8 (1937) Cmd 5369, available from http://treaties.fco.gov.uk/docs/fullnames/pdf/1937.
- ³⁷³ Exchange of notes constituting an agreement regarding the changes which the Government of the United Kingdom has introduced in its production and trade policies relating to cereals, signed at Baghdad on 18 March and 16 August 1965; entered into force on 16 August 1965 by the exchange of the said notes, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 689, No. 9878, p. 341.
- ³⁷⁴ Agreement for air services between and beyond their respective territories (with annex and exchange of notes), signed at Baghdad on 19 April 1951, *ibid.*, vol. 108, No. 1470, p. 121.
- ³⁷⁵ Agreement on cooperation in the fields of education, science and culture, at London on 26 April 1983; entered into force on that date by the exchange of the said notes, *ibid.*, vol. 1352, No. 22813, p. 189.
- ³⁷⁶ Agreement on economic and technical cooperation, signed at London on 24 June 1981, entered into force on 22 August 1981; *ibid.*, vol. 1316, No. 21922, p. 103.
- $^{\rm 377}$ See the $\it United\ Nations\ Treaty\ Series$ search engine, available from https://treaties.un.org.
- ³⁷⁸ Trade Agreement, signed at Paris on 25 September 1967; entered into force on 17 March 1969, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 754, No. 10822, p. 57.
- ³⁷⁹ Agreement on technical cooperation (with protocol and exchange of letters), signed at Baghdad on 19 June 1969; entered into force on 31 December 1969, *ibid.*, vol. 748, No. 10740, p. 193.
- ³⁸⁰ Agreement on cultural cooperation (with protocols and exchange of letters), signed at Baghdad on 24 April 1969; entered into force on 15 December 1969, *ibid.*, No. 10739, p. 155.
- ³⁸¹ Extradition Treaty between the United Kingdom and Iraq of 1932 (see footnote 371 above), to which Australia acceded on 31 August 1934, *Australian Treaty Series* 1934, No. 4; exchange of notes constituting an Agreement between the Governments of the United Kingdom

procedure;³⁸² war cemeteries;³⁸³ and trade, economic and technical cooperation.³⁸⁴ The Netherlands and Iraq maintained a treaty on cultural cooperation.³⁸⁵ Egypt and Iraq maintained a treaty on air services.³⁸⁶ Canada and Iraq maintained a treaty on trade and a treaty on economic and technical cooperation.³⁸⁷ Czechoslovakia and Iraq maintained bilateral treaties on air transport³⁸⁸ and consular relations.³⁸⁹ It is difficult to imagine that such treaties could survive the conflict completely unaffected, but a thorough understanding of the effect of armed conflict on these treaties will be possible only with submissions from Governments. Yet a further relevant factor is to what extent any effects on these treaties were due not to the conflict itself but to the sanctions imposed on Iraq by the Security Council.³⁹⁰

12. SIERRA LEONE CIVIL WAR, 1991 TO 2001

108. In 1991, a rebel group known as the Revolutionary United Front (RUF) invaded Sierra Leone from Liberia and attacked two Sierra Leonean towns, beginning a conflict that would last a decade and result in tens of thousands of deaths.³⁹¹ A power-sharing agreement was signed between the Government and RUF on 7 July 1999 at Lomé,³⁹² but conflict resumed soon thereafter, and this

- of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Canada, the Commonwealth of Australia and New Zealand and the Government of Iraq regarding the service of documents, signed at Baghdad on 8–28 February 1939, entered into force on 8 February 1939.
- ³⁸² Convention between the United Kingdom and Iraq regarding Legal Proceedings in Civil and Commercial Matters (see footnote 372 above), entered into force on 18 December 1936; Australia acceded on 7 October 1937.
- ³⁸³ Agreement between the Governments of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, the Union of South Africa, India and Pakistan and the Government of Iraq regarding War Cemeteries, Graves and Memorials of the British Commonwealth in Iraq resulting from the War of 1939–1945, amending Agreement of 15 March 1935, signed at Baghdad on 18 February 1954, entered into force on 15 June 1955; Agreement concerning the Mosul War Cemetery, signed at Baghdad on 30 October 1989, in force from that date.
- ³⁸⁴ Agreement on Trade, Economic and Technical Cooperation between the Government of Australia and the Government of the Republic of Iraq, signed at Canberra on 11 March 1980; entered into force on 29 April 1980, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1217, No. 19643, p. 287.
- ³⁸⁵ Agreement on economic and technical cooperation, signed at Baghdad on 31 October 1983; entered into force on 1 September 1986, *ibid.*, vol. 1458, No. 24652, p. 29.
- ³⁸⁶ Agreement (with annex) for the establishment of scheduled air services between and beyond their respective territories, signed at Cairo on 23 March 1955; entered into force on 7 June 1956, *ibid.*, vol. 311, No. 4504, p. 199.
- ³⁸⁷ Agreement on Trade, Economic and Technical Cooperation, signed at Baghdad on 12 November 1982; entered into force on 6 April 1983, *ibid.*, vol. 1471, No. 24954, p. 237.
- ³⁸⁸ Air Transport Agreement (with annex), signed at Prague on 11 March 1960; entered into force on 22 August 1961, *ibid.*, vol. 464, No. 6718, p. 267.
- ³⁸⁹ Consular Convention, signed at Prague on 16 August 1985; entered into force on 2 April 1987, *ibid.*, vol. 1486, No. 25480, p. 229.
- ³⁹⁰ See Security Council resolution 661 (1990) (authorizing sanctions). For a specific example, the air treaties discussed in this chapter may have been affected not by the conflict itself but by the sanctions. See Security Council resolution 670 (1990), of 25 September 1990 (authorizing suspension of air flights and landing rights as a mechanism to carry out the sanctions).
- ³⁹¹ See Uppsala Conflict Data Program, Uppsala University Department of Peace and Conflict Research, available from www.ucdp.uu.se.
- ³⁹² Peace Agreement between the Government of Sierra Leone and the Revolutionary United Front of Sierra Leone, S/1999/777, annex.

raised questions about the continuing validity of the Lomé Agreement.³⁹³ The President of Sierra Leone, in an address delivered on 22 June 2000 at a national conference organized by the Sierra Leone Labour Congress, commented on the status of the Lomé Peace Agreement.³⁹⁴ He accused RUF of failing to abide by the Agreement.³⁹⁵ He stated:

We have consistently maintained that the Agreement is a comprehensive document, and that it should be seen as a whole. It was not signed for the sole purpose of granting the RUF amnesty or for giving its members cabinet and other high-level posts.³⁹⁶

The President then stated:

[W]e have every reason to renounce our obligations under the Agreement and unilaterally declare them null and void. However, it would be irresponsible on our part to do so. In fact such a course of action would be detrimental to the safety and welfare of our people, and inconsistent with their desire, indeed their right to live in peace and security.

I would therefore take this opportunity to announce that while in principle we remain committed to the Lomé Peace agreement, we reserve the right not to be bound by *all* its provisions. However, because it is an instrument for sustainable peace, and because it contains, generally speaking, strategies for achieving some of the principal objectives of our post-conflict programmes, we shall take a selective approach towards its implementation. From now on, we shall unilaterally, but carefully make our own assessment of the situation and determine which of the provisions are still valid, those that have been rendered obsolete by recent developments and those that should, in the best interest of this nation be implemented.

We shall also set our own priorities. The security and humanitarian provisions of the Agreement will be our primary concern. For instance we attach special importance to the disarmament, demobilization and reintegration of ex-combatants—an activity which we had already launched long before the Lomé Peace Agreement, under the National Resettlement, Rehabilitation, and Reconstruction Programme (NRRRP). In this regard, we have left the door open for ex-combatants, especially those of the RUF, who want real peace, to come forward now and take advantage of the [disarmament, demobilization and reintegration] programme before it is too late. Their safety is assured. I should add here that we shall faithfully abide by the relevant provisions in the document for national reconciliation.

Implementation of article XVII of the Agreement, namely, the provision on the restructuring and training of a truly loyal national armed force is also at the top of the agenda.

There was nothing really wrong with the Lomé Peace Agreement, per se. The problem was the lack of commitment on the part of Mr. Foday Sankoh and some members of the RUF leadership to fulfil their obligations under the Agreement.³⁹⁷

109. It is not clear whether the President's comments were a response to the resumption of armed conflict by RUF in violation of the Agreement or whether he was referring to a broader change of circumstances, including the introduction of United Nations peacekeeping troops. The President noted that:

[T]he Agreement was reached in the context of certain subregional, regional and international imperatives. In other words, while it was an agreement between the Government and the RUF, it had international

implications. Some of these have manifested themselves in actions already taken or now being contemplated by the international community, including the United Nations Security Council.³⁹⁸

13. GUINEA-BISSAU CIVIL WAR, 1998

110. In 1998, government loyalists staged a successful coup in Guinea-Bissau.³⁹⁹ The United States of America reported that it had suspended its Peace Corps programme in 1998 "as the result of fighting in the capital between rebel soldiers and government troops", 400 thus affecting the bilateral treaty governing the programme. 401 The Peace Corps is a United States government programme established in 1961, which funds American volunteerism in Africa, Asia, the Caribbean, Central and South America, Europe and the Middle East. 402 As discussed in relation to this and other conflicts, 403 Peace Corps programmes are often suspended as a result of armed conflict, perhaps due to the nature of the Peace Corps, in which the United States of America provides a free aid programme to States; because the United States of America has funded and provided the programme, it does not hesitate to revoke it when its interests or the safety of its citizens are threatened.

14. Former Yugoslavia, 1998

111. With respect to the armed conflict in Croatia and Serbia beginning in 1991, 404 the Commission reported:

In the autumn of 1991, in response to resumption of fighting within the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia, European Community members suspended and later denounced the 1983 Cooperation Agreement with Yugoslavia. This led to a general repeal of trade preferences on imports and thus went beyond the weapons embargo ordered by the Security Council in resolution 713 (1991) of 25 September 1991. The reaction was incompatible with the terms of the Cooperation Agreement, which did not provide for the immediate suspension but only for denunciation upon six months' notice. Justifying the suspension, European Community member States explicitly mentioned the threat to peace and security in the region. But ... they relied on fundamental change of circumstances, rather than asserting a right to take countermeasures.

112. With respect to the internal armed conflict in Kosovo beginning in February 1998,⁴⁰⁶ the Inter Commission reported:

³⁹³ See Uppsala Conflict Data Program, Uppsala University Department of Peace and Conflict Research, available from www.ucdp.uu.se.

³⁹⁴ Letter dated 23 June 2000 from the Permanent Representative of Sierra Leone to the United Nations addressed to the President of the Security Council (S/2000/620 and Corr.1).

³⁹⁵ *Ibid.*, p. 2.

³⁹⁶ *Ibid.*, p. 3.

³⁹⁷ *Ibid.*, pp. 3–4.

³⁹⁸ *Ibid.*, p. 4.

³⁹⁹ Encyclopedia of the United Nations... (footnote 321 above), vol. 2, p. 844.

⁴⁰⁰ "Peace Corps suspends program in Guinea-Bissau; all volunteers evacuated safely", Peace Corps press release (13 June 1998), available from www.peacecorps.gov/news.

⁴⁰¹ Agreement relating to the establishment of a Peace Corps programme in Guinea-Bissau, exchange of notes at Bissau on 12 and 15 January 1988; entered into force on 15 January 1988, *Treaties and Other International Acts Series* 12104.

⁴⁰² See www.peacecorps.gov.

 $^{^{403}}$ See footnotes 421 (Morocco), 422 (Jordan) and 425 (Eritrea and Ethiopia) and accompanying text below.

⁴⁰⁴ See Uppsala Conflict Data Program (see footnote 393 above).

⁴⁰⁵ Yearbook ... 2001, vol. II (Part Two) and corrigendum, p. 139 (para. (4) of the commentary to article 54 of the articles on responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts) (footnotes omitted). For the text of the Cooperation Agreement between the European Economic Community and the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia, signed at Belgrade on 2 April 1980, see Council Regulation (EEC) No. 314/83, of 24 January 1983, enacting the Agreement, Official Journal of the European Communities, No. L 41, 14 February 1983, p. 1.

⁴⁰⁶ See Uppsala Conflict Data Program (see footnote 393 above).

In response to the humanitarian crisis in Kosovo, the member States of the European Community adopted legislation providing for the freezing of Yugoslav funds and an immediate flight ban. For a number of countries, such as France, Germany and the United Kingdom, the latter measure implied the non-performance of bilateral aviation agreements. Because of doubts about the legitimacy of the action, the British Government initially was prepared to follow the one-year denunciation procedure provided for in article 17 of its agreement with Yugoslavia. However, it later changed its position and denounced flights with immediate effect.⁴⁰⁷

113. Both of these cases exemplify situations where internal armed conflict can have an effect on treaties with third States. What is not clear is to what extent the effects could be explained as the result of "fundamental change of circumstances" or "countermeasures" rather than the effect of armed conflict *per se*.

15. Afghanistan, 2001

114. Following the terrorist attacks of 11 September 2001 on the World Trade Center in New York and the Pentagon in Washington, D.C., and the Taliban's refusal to hand over terrorist leader Osama bin Laden, the United States of America and the United Kingdom led air strikes against Afghanistan in 2001.408 At the time of the invasion of Afghanistan, the United States of America and Afghanistan maintained bilateral treaties relating to agriculture; cultural relations; defence; economic and technical cooperation; educational exchange; private investments; general relations; information media guarantees; narcotic drugs; the United States Peace Corps programme; exchange of official publications; relief supplies and packages; telecommunications; and rural health and development. 409 Notably, the treaty on private investments expressly provided for its continued applicability during war. 410 The treaty on educational exchange (Fulbright programme) had already been suspended because of the Soviet presence in Afghanistan in 1979, but it was officially reinstated soon after the close of the 2001 hostilities.⁴¹¹

115. Several United States allies also maintained multiple treaties with Afghanistan.412 The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and Afghanistan maintained treaties in the areas of financial and development assistance413 and cultural relations.414 It is difficult to imagine how the Cultural Convention—which promotes bilateral exchanges, for example, of researchers, scientists, scholars, youth, professors and athletic groups⁴¹⁵—could have continued unaffected by the war in Afghanistan. A similar cultural agreement existed between Japan and Afghanistan. 416 Both Germany and Turkey maintained bilateral treaties with Afghanistan in the potentially incompatible area of air transport; neither treaty makes provision for the outbreak of armed conflict.417 France and Afghanistan maintained a potentially incompatible treaty on road transport.418 Canada and Afghanistan maintained a trade agreement guaranteeing reciprocal most-favoured-nation status.419

116. Although one could speculate that the abovementioned treaties may have been affected, there is no evidence to support this speculation, and input from the

reparations received from enemy countries, that the Government of Afghanistan may make or pay for losses incurred by reason of war; if the Government of the United States of America makes payment in U.S. dollars to any national of the United States of America under a guaranty for losses by reason of war, the Government of Afghanistan will recognize the transfer to the United States of America of any right, privilege, or interest, or any part thereof, that such nationals may be granted or become entitled to as a result of the aforementioned treatment by the Government of Afghanistan").

⁴⁰⁷ Yearbook ... 2001, vol. II (Part Two) and corrigendum, p. 138 (para. (3) of the commentary to art. 54 of the articles on responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts) (footnotes omitted).

 $^{^{408}\,\}textit{Encyclopedia of the United Nations}...$ (footnote 321 above), vol. 1, p. 17.

⁴⁰⁹ United States Department of State, Treaties in Force (2003), Part 1, p. 1, available from www.state.gov/documents/organiza tion/24227.pdf. The *United Nations Treaty Series* online search engine lists additional subsequent and additional treaties; see https://treatie s.un.org. Some of these treaties, although technically "in force", were concluded with respect to relief supplies for a particular famine or commodity prices for a particular year. See, for example, the Agreement relating to a loan for the purchase of wheat and flour for famine relief in Afghanistan, exchange of notes, signed at Washington, D.C., on 8 January 1953, entered into force on that date, United States Treaties and Other International Agreements, vol. 4, Part 2 (1953), p. 2941; and the Agricultural Commodities Agreement, signed in accordance with the provisions of Title I of the Agricultural Trade Development and Assistance Act, as amended, signed at Kabul on 22 May 1965, entered into force on that date, United States Treaties and Other International Agreements, vol. 16, Part 2 (1965), p. 1078, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 579, No. 8396, p. 29.

⁴¹⁰ Exchange of notes constituting an Agreement relating to the guaranties of private investments, signed at Kabul on 5 and 9 June 1957; entered into force 9 June 1957, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 307, No. 4445, p. 97, para. (3) (c) ("[I]f the Government of the United States of America issues guaranties to cover losses by reason of war with respect to investments in Afghanistan, the Government of Afghanistan agrees that nationals of the United States of America to whom such guaranties have been issued, will be accorded by the Government of Afghanistan treatment no less favourable than that accorded, in like circumstances, to its nationals or nationals of third countries, with reference to any reimbursement, compensation, indemnification, or any other payment, including the distribution of

⁴¹¹ See footnote 348 above.

⁴¹² The Uppsala conflict database lists the following as United States allies: Australia, Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Jordan, the Netherlands, Poland, Turkey, the Russian Federation and the United Kingdom. See Uppsala Conflict Data Program, Uppsala University Department of Peace and Conflict Research, available from www.ucdp.uu.se.

⁴¹³ See, for example, the exchange of notes constituting an Agreement between the Government of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the Government of the Republic of Afghanistan concerning financial assistance by the Government of the United Kingdom to the Government of Afghanistan, signed at Kabul on 24 August and 30 September 1974 (United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 990, No. 14463, p. 11), amended on 14 August 1976 and 26 February 1977 (*ibid.*, vol. 1090, pp. 352 and 354) and entered into force on 26 February 1977. For a more complete list, see *United Nations Treaty Series* online search engine (https://treaties.un.org).

⁴¹⁴ Cultural Convention, signed at Kabul on 19 April 1965; entered into force on 30 November 1967, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 633, No. 9033, p. 45.

⁴¹⁵ Arts. II, IV, V, VII and VIII.

⁴¹⁶ Cultural Agreement, signed at Tokyo on 9 April 1969; entered into force on 3 June 1971, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 827, No. 11841, p. 21.

⁴¹⁷ Air Transport Agreement (with exchange of notes), signed at Bonn on 22 July 1959, entered into force on 10 July 1961, *ibid.*, vol. 464, No. 6715, p. 177; Air Transport Agreement (with annex), signed at Ankara on 8 February 1958, entered into force on 17 May 1961, *ibid.*, No. 6711, p. 39.

⁴¹⁸ Convention concerning the international carriage of goods by road, signed at Kabul on 17 April 1978, came into force on 30 November 1978, *ibid.*, vol. 1128, No. 17579, p. 319.

⁴¹⁹ Trade Agreement, signed at Kabul on 27 November 1974; entered into force on 27 December 1974, *ibid.*, vol. 978, No. 14217, p. 151.

relevant States would be necessary before further conclusions could be drawn. An additional problem is that many of these treaties are old and could have been affected not by the 2001 invasion but rather by the 1979 Soviet invasion of Afghanistan.

16. Iraq war, 2003

117. Although the United States of America and its two principal allies in the 2003 invasion of Iraq—the United Kingdom and Australia—were all involved in the 1991 Iraq war,⁴²⁰ there is little evidence of substantial changes in the treaty relations between these countries and Iraq between the two conflicts. It is of interest to note, however, that the war in Iraq caused the United States of America to suspend Peace Corps programmes in at least two other countries—Morocco⁴²¹ and Jordan⁴²²—thus affecting the treaties establishing these programmes.⁴²³ This is an ex-

ample of how the situation created by an armed conflict can sometimes affect treaties, even though the armed conflict itself may have no direct effect.

17. ETHIOPIA AND ERITREA, 1998 TO THE PRESENT

118. Ethiopia and Eritrea went to war in 1998 "after Ethiopia accused Eritrea of invading the border town of Badme; at least 80,000 people were reported to have died in this war, which intensified in May 2000 when Ethiopian troops entered western Eritrea." The United States of America reported that it had suspended the Peace Corps programme in Eritrea in 1998 and Ethiopia in 1999 as a result of this conflict, thus potentially having an effect on the bilateral treaties governing those programmes.

18. ETHIOPIA AND SOMALIA, PRESENT

119. Professor Schindler reported that he was unable to find any "relevant information with regard to the armed [conflict] between ... Ethiopia and Somalia at present."⁴²⁷

CHAPTER V

Relationship of the topic to other legal doctrines

120. Some commentators have questioned whether the effect of armed conflict on treaties is, in fact, a distinct legal problem. The present chapter will confront this question by examining several related doctrines: *rebus sic stantibus*; State responsibility; necessity and proportionality; neutrality; impossibility; and the Martens clause.

A. Rebus sic stantibus

121. Several commentators and at least one court have argued that the effect of armed conflict on treaties is similar or even identical to the doctrine of changed circumstances (*rebus sic stantibus*). First, Benedetto Conforti has long maintained that "the effects of war on treaties are not of independent significance but instead

constitute an application of the principle of *rebus sic* stantibus."⁴³⁰ Second, the Restatement (Third) of the Foreign Relations Law of the United States reported that "since the traditional effect of war on treaties derived from the fact that continuing treaty relations generally were deemed inconsistent with the state of war, perhaps as a special application of the doctrine of *rebus sic stantibus*, it is arguable that major hostilities are 'changed circumstances' providing a basis for suspending or terminating a treaty, regardless of whether there is a lawful state of war."⁴³¹ Third, McIntyre argues that "[t]he question of the legal effect of war on treaties is one aspect of the general

⁴²⁰ See Uppsala Conflict Data Program, Uppsala University Department of Peace and Conflict Research, available from www.ucdp.uu.se.

⁴²¹ "Peace Corps suspends program in Morocco", Peace Corps press release (3 April 2003), available from www.peacecorps.gov/news (stating that the programme was suspended "to evaluate the political and public climate in Morocco as a result of the events in Iraq"). The programme was renewed in 2004. See Peace Corps press release, "Morocco welcomes new Peace Corps volunteers to work in health and environment" (3 June 2004), available from www.peacecorps.gov/news.

⁴²² "Peace Corps suspends program in Jordan", Peace Corps press release (23 November 2002), available from www.peacecorps.gov/news. The programme in Jordan was expected to reopen in 2004. See Peace Corps press release, "Peace Corps program to reopen in Jordan" (22 July 2003), available from www.peacecorps.gov/news.

⁴²³ Agreement relating to the establishment of a Peace Corps programme in Morocco, exchange of notes at Rabat, 8 and 9 February 1963, entered into force on 9 February 1963, amended 10 March 1972, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 836, No. 11962, p. 171, *United States Treaties and Other International Agreements*, vol. 23, Part 1 (1972), p. 209, *Treaties and Other International Acts Series* 7297; Agreement concerning the programme of the Peace Corps in Jordan, signed at Amman on 28 October 1996 and entered into force on that date, *Treaties and Other International Acts Series* 12810.

⁴²⁴ Encyclopedia of the United Nations... (footnote 321 above), vol. 1, p. 652.

⁴²⁵ "Peace Corps suspends program in Eritrea; all volunteers are safe and sound", Peace Corps press release (5 June 1998); "Peace Corps suspends program in Ethiopia; all volunteers evacuated safely to Kenya", Peace Corps press release (11 February 1999), both available from www.peacecorps.gov/news.

⁴²⁶ Exchange of notes constituting an Agreement between the United States of America and Ethiopia relating to the establishment of a Peace Corps programme, signed at Addis Ababa, 23 May 1962, entered into force 23 May 1962, United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 456, No. 6563, p. 293, *United States Treaties and Other International Agreements*, vol. 13, Part 2 (1962), p. 1227, *Treaties and Other International Acrs Series* 5067; Agreement relating to the establishment of a Peace Corps programme in Eritrea, exchange of notes at Asmara on 20 May 1994, entered into force 20 May 1994, *Treaties and Other International Acts Series* 12103.

 $^{^{\}rm 427}$ Institute of International Law study (footnote 18 above), vol. 59-I, p. 269.

⁴²⁸ See, for example, O. J. Lissitzyn, book review: *Einwirkung des Krieges auf die nichtpolitischen Staatsverträge*, by Richard Ränk (Uppsala, Svenska Institutet för Internationell Rätt, 1949), AJIL, vol. 45 (1951), p. 205.

⁴²⁹ See also 1969 Vienna Convention, art. 62.

⁴³⁰ B. Conforti and A. Labella, "Invalidity and termination of treaties: the role of national courts", *European Journal of International Law*, vol. 1 (1990), p. 44, at p. 58 (citing B. Conforti, *Appunti dalle Lezioni di Diritto Internazionale* (Naples, Scientifica, 1976), p. 60; *Lezioni di Diritto Internazionale*, 2nd ed. (Naples, Scientifica, 1982), p. 105; *Diritto Internazionale* (Naples, Scientifica, 1987), p. 129).

⁴³¹ Restatement (Third)... (see footnote 80 above), sect. 336, reporters' note 4. See also Tarasofsky (footnote 71 above), pp. 65–66.

problem of change in the international community, and it might be possible to consider the legal effect of war on treaties as a special case of *rebus sic stantibus*."⁴³² Fourth, Brownlie notes that "war conditions may lead to termination of treaties on grounds of ... fundamental change of circumstances."⁴³³ Finally, the Italian Court of Cassation has reached a similar result in a judgment on the effects of armed conflict on treaties. It held that armed conflict "cannot bring about the extinction of treaties, but may contribute to a 'supervening impossibility' and perhaps to a change in the circumstances (*rebus sic stantibus*)."⁴³⁴

The rebus sic stantibus doctrine has been applied by States to armed conflict on at least three occasions. First, the French Ministry of Foreign Affairs argued that war constituted a changed circumstance sufficient to terminate its adhesion to the obligatory jurisdiction clause of the Permanent Court of International Justice in 1939.435 Second, the Court of Paris held that hostilities create a changed circumstance creating special rights and duties for the belligerent State. 436 Third, United States President Franklin D. Roosevelt invoked the rebus sic stantibus doctrine to suspend American obligations under the International Load Line Convention of 1930.437 Because that case has been the subject of extensive commentary, it is discussed in more detail below to test the theory of the above commentators that rebus sic stantibus is applicable to situations of armed conflict.

123. The International Load Line Convention was a multilateral convention ratified or acceded to by 36 States that aimed "to promote safety of life and property at sea by establishing ... limits to which ships on international voyages may be loaded". Faced with increased shipping needs during wartime, President Roosevelt acted on the advice of acting Attorney General Francis Biddle⁴³⁹ and declared that the Second World War constituted changed circumstances and that the Convention was "suspended or inoperative ... for the duration of the present emergency". Although "[t]he action by the

United States was followed in the war period by a number of other parties to the treaty",441 it has been heavily criticized by commentators. Herbert Briggs argued that the doctrine of rebus sic stantibus, if it exists at all, is "clearly based juridically upon the intention of the parties at the time of the conclusion of the treaty", and that according to the terms of the International Load Line Convention, the parties' intentions were not to allow suspension due to war per se, but only as a result of notification of all other parties and subject to a one-year waiting period.⁴⁴² Briggs wrote: "It is clear that no provision of the treaty authorizes the action taken by the United States Government, which was neither a denunciation subject to one year's notice, nor a proposed modification in the line of an improvement, subject to unanimous acceptance".443 He noted that the Harvard Research Draft on the Law of Treaties, a principal source used by acting Attorney General Biddle to support suspension, clearly states that "the preponderance of opinion among [commentators on rebus sic stantibus] is that one party to a treaty may not, under the rule of rebus sic stantibus, unilaterally declare its obligations thereunder to have ceased to be binding".444 Briggs concluded that "[t]he dangers inherent in a general resort by States to the doctrine of rebus sic stantibus for release from inconvenient treaty obligations could be no better illustrated than in the reasoning and methods employed by the Attorney General in this case."445

124. Professor Richard Rank also argued that the *rebus sic stantibus* doctrine does not justify the United States' action:

War might lead to changes that would justify invoking the theory of changed conditions. These changes, however, must meet the same requirements as any other changes in conditions. First, the change in conditions must be fundamental, that is to say, those conditions on which the very existence of the treaty was based must have disappeared. ... Second, the doctrine applies only to treaties of indefinite or perpetual duration that contain no express provision concerning the procedure by which they may be amended or abrogated. Third, the party wishing to invoke the doctrine to terminate the obligations of the treaty cannot denounce the treaty unilaterally, but must seek the consent of the other party or parties to its release. Fourth, without this consent, the party must submit his case to a competent international authority in order to secure recognition of the validity of his claim.

125. In this case, Rank's third and fourth requirements were expressly contradicted by acting Attorney General Biddle, who argued that the United States of America

⁴³² McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 25.

⁴³³ Brownlie (footnote 28 above), p. 592.

⁴³⁴ Lanificio Branditex v. Società Azais e Vidal, Italian Yearbook of International Law, vol. 1 (1975), pp. 232–233; see also footnote 299 above.

⁴³⁵ A.-C. Kiss, "L'extinction des traités dans la pratique française", AFDI, vol. 5 (1959), p. 784, at p. 795.

⁴³⁶ Ibid. (citing Ordonnance du 29 October 1940 (Compagnie Internationale des Wagons-Lits v. Société des Hôtels réunis, Revue critique de droit international, 1940–1946, p. 71; Civil Court of the Seine, ref., 10 January 1940 (Gazette du Palais, 22 February 1940), and 16 February 1940 (Gazette du Palais, 23 May 1940); Civil Court of Lille, ref., 16 November 1939 (Gazette du Palais, 1 February 1940)).

⁴³⁷ H. W. Briggs, "The Attorney General invokes *rebus sic stantibus*", AJIL, vol. 36 (1942), p. 89; Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties: a comparative study (part I)" (footnote 34 above), pp. 337–338. For additional uses of the doctrine during armed conflict, see also *ibid.*, pp. 338–339, footnote 82.

⁴³⁸ Briggs, "The Attorney General invokes *rebus sic stantibus*" (preceding footnote), p. 91 (citing J. T. Fowler (ed.), *Official Opinions of the Attorneys General of the United States Advising the President and Heads of Departments in Relation to their Official Duties*, vol. 40 (Washington, D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1949), opinion No. 24, p. 120).

⁴³⁹ Fowler (ed.), *Official Opinions* ... (preceding footnote), opinion No. 24, pp. 119–124.

⁴⁴⁰ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 26 (*Department of State Bulletin* 114 (1941), 6 Fed. Reg. 3999 (1941)).

⁴⁴¹ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 26.

⁴⁴² Briggs, "The Attorney General invokes *rebus sic stantibus*" (footnote 437 above), pp. 90–91 (citing C. Hill, "The doctrine of '*rebus sic stantibus*'in international law", *University of Missouri Studies*, vol. 9, No. 3 (July 1934), p. 7). See also Kiss (footnote 435 above), pp. 796–798 (providing extensive evidence that the *rebus sic stantibus* doctrine is not automatic).

 $^{^{443}}$ Briggs, "The Attorney General invokes *rebus sic stantibus*" (footnote 437 above), at p. 91.

⁴⁴⁴ *Ibid.*, p. 94 (citing Harvard Research in International Law (J. W. Garner, Reporter), "Law of treaties" (footnote 17 above), p. 1102, and also *ibid.*, p. 1124 (Professor Garner concluded his survey of State practice by stating: "The principle is well established that one party to a treaty does not have the right to terminate its treaty obligations unilaterally merely upon the ground that it believes that the doctrine of *rebus sic stantibus* is applicable to the treaty")).

⁴⁴⁵ Briggs, "The Attorney General invokes *rebus sic stantibus*" (footnote 437 above), p. 96.

⁴⁴⁶ Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties: a comparative study (part I)" (footnote 34 above), pp. 338–339 (footnotes omitted).

could unilaterally declare the Convention suspended, without consulting the other parties involved.⁴⁴⁷

126. Amid this criticism, however, Rank did accept that the rebus sic stantibus doctrine could apply to armed conflict if all of the conditions of the doctrine are met, emphasizing that this doctrine could never result in automatic termination of treaties.448 Applying Rank's conditions for the rebus sic stantibus doctrine to the situation of armed conflict yields interesting results. His first criterion for the rebus sic stantibus doctrine, that the very conditions on which the treaty was based have disappeared, seems quite consistent with the modern view on the effect of armed conflict on treaties "that provisions compatible with a state of hostilities, unless expressly terminated, will be enforced, and those incompatible rejected". 449 Rank's second criterion is consistent with the view, examined in chapter II, sections A.2 and D.1, above, that express provisions in treaties as to the outbreak of armed conflict will be honoured. An analysis of the true similarity between the effect of armed conflict on treaties and rebus sic stantibus should thus centre upon Rank's third and fourth criteria, prohibiting unilateral suspension and requiring the party to submit the case to a competent international authority for review. If the effect of armed conflict on treaties differs from the rebus sic stantibus doctrine and does not include these two requirements—if it is automatic rather than invokable—then it is of very great legal significance, making this question one of the most important of all the questions that a study of the effect of armed conflict on treaties presents. Ironically, the question of whether the effect of armed conflict is invokable or automatic is one that has generated surprisingly little discussion among commentators. 450

B. Circumstances precluding wrongfulness in the law of State responsibility

127. The chapter on circumstances precluding wrongfulness in the Commission's articles on responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts codifies several doctrines which could also apply with regard to treaties during armed

conflict, including self-defence (art. 21), countermeasures (art. 22), *force majeure* (art. 23), distress (art. 24) and necessity (art. 25).⁴⁵¹ Yet the Commission's commentary on those articles is very clear that all such circumstances "do not annul or terminate the obligation; rather they provide a justification or excuse for non-performance while the circumstance in question subsists." Thus, the articles on circumstances precluding wrongfulness constitute a body of law dealing with responsibility for non-performance, not a law of treaties dealing with the status of treaties.

Despite this fundamental difference, the doctrines codified in the articles are examined briefly here because of their potential to provide guidance regarding the types of considerations that come into play when a State takes an action in violation of a treaty obligation. First, article 21 states that "[t]he wrongfulness of an act of a State is precluded if the act constitutes a lawful measure of self-defence taken in conformity with the Charter of the United Nations." The Commission's commentary on that article begins by establishing that "a State exercising its inherent right of self-defence as referred to in Article 51 of the Charter is not, even potentially, in breach of Article 2, paragraph 4 [of the Charter]."453 The commentary goes on, of relevance to the present study, to state that "[s]elf-defence may [also] justify non-performance of certain obligations other than that under Article 2, paragraph 4, of the Charter of the United Nations, provided that such non-performance is related to the breach of that provision."454 As the commentary notes, this justification for non-performance creates a slippery slope because "[i]n the Charter period, declarations of war are exceptional and military actions proclaimed as self-defence by one or both parties occur between States formally at 'peace' with each other."455 Although legitimate self-defence may justify non-performance of certain treaty obligations, it cannot be assumed that a claim of self-defence alone is a licence to cease any inconvenient treaty obligations.

⁴⁴⁷ Acting Attorney General Biddle argued that "it may well be that ordinarily the procedure would call for the Government to inform the other parties to the treaty with respect to the matter and request agreement for termination or suspension of the treaty. The matter of procedure, however, does not affect the right of termination or suspension. Since a number of the contracting States have been overrun by military power, and normal international procedures, so far as here pertinent, are no longer available but are submerged in the swiftly changing conditions inherent in the world situation, the procedure by prior notification and consent preferred by some of the authorities need not be followed" (Opinion of Acting Attorney General Francis Biddle on Suspension of the International Load Line Convention (see footnotes 438–439 above and accompanying text), p. 123).

⁴⁴⁸ Rank, "Modern war and the validity of treaties: a comparative study (part I)" (footnote 34 above), pp. 340–341. For a discussion of whether the effect of armed conflict on treaties is automatic, see section F in this chapter, below.

⁴⁴⁹ *Techt* (see footnote 45 above), p. 241. See also Conforti and Labella, "Invalidity and termination of treaties..." (footnote 430 above), pp. 57–58.

⁴⁵⁰ The one notable exception is the article by Conforti and Labella, "Invalidity and termination of treaties…" (footnote 430 above), which argues that in fact all causes of treaty termination operate automatically. In order to establish that the *rebus sic stantibus* doctrine operates automatically, they first argue that the effect of armed conflict on treaties is automatic, and then argue that because the effect of armed conflict on treaties is merely a manifestation of *rebus sic stantibus*, then this latter doctrine must operate automatically as well (pp. 57–63).

⁴⁵¹ Yearbook ... 2001, vol. II (Part Two) and corrigendum, pp. 74–84. This study does not discuss consent (art. 20) or compliance with peremptory norms (art. 26) because there would appear to be little occasion for these remaining two circumstances precluding wrongfulness to become relevant to armed conflict.

⁴⁵² Ibid., p. 71, paras. (2)–(3) of the commentary to chapter V of Part One of the articles (citing Gabčikovo-Nagymaros Project: "Even if a state of necessity is found to exist, it is not a ground for the termination of a treaty. It may only be invoked to exonerate from its responsibility a State which has failed to implement a treaty. Even if found justified, it does not terminate a Treaty; the Treaty may be ineffective as long as the condition of necessity continues to exist; it may in fact be dormant, but-unless the parties by mutual agreement terminate the treaty—it continues to exist. As soon as the state of necessity ceases to exist, the duty to comply with treaty obligations revives" (Gabčíkovo-Nagymaros Project (Hungary/Slovakia), Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1997, p. 7, at p. 63, para. 101)). See also Yearbook ... 2001, vol. II (Part Two) and corrigendum, p. 128, para. (4) of the commentary to chapter II of Part Three of the articles "Countermeasures are to be clearly distinguished from the termination or suspension of treaty relations on account of the material breach of a treaty by another State"); ibid., p. 71, para. (4) of the commentary to chapter V of Part One of the articles (force majeure is an excuse for non-performance and cannot terminate or suspend treaties); ibid., p. 75, para. (4) of the commentary to article 22 ("Where countermeasures are taken in accordance with article 22, the underlying obligation is not suspended, still less terminated").

⁴⁵³ Yearbook ... 2001, vol. II (Part Two) and corrigendum, p. 74, para. (1) of the commentary to article 21.

⁴⁵⁴ *Ibid.*, para. (2).

⁴⁵⁵ *Ibid*.

- 129. Second, as to countermeasures (art. 22), the Commission's commentary to chapter II of Part Three of the articles is clear that this doctrine does not apply to cases of armed conflict. Nevertheless, the structure of the countermeasures chapter could be instructive in relation to a formulation of the effect of armed conflict on treaties, particularly the following elements:
- (a) Countermeasures must be "taken in such a way as to permit the resumption of performance of the obligations in question", 457
- (b) Countermeasures must not violate the obligation embodied in the Charter of the United Nations to refrain from the threat or use of force, human rights obligations, humanitarian obligations prohibiting reprisals, or peremptory norms of general international law;⁴⁵⁸
- (c) Countermeasures must not interfere with any dispute settlement procedures or interrupt any diplomatic channels;⁴⁵⁹
- (d) Countermeasures must be proportionate with the injury suffered;⁴⁶⁰
- (e) Countermeasures must cease immediately when the internationally wrongful act has ceased. 461
- 130. Although the law of countermeasures itself is inapplicable to situations of armed conflict, the above characteristics could prove relevant to the effect of armed conflict on treaties.
- 131. Third, regarding *force majeure* (art. 23), although the Commission's commentary indicates the applicability of the doctrine in some contexts of armed conflict, 462 it again reiterates that *force majeure* operates as an excuse for non-performance, not as an effect on treaties. 463 In this regard, the commentary distinguishes *force majeure* from the doctrine of impossibility:

While the same facts may amount, for example, to *force majeure* under article 23 and to a supervening impossibility of performance under article 61 of the 1969 Vienna Convention, the two are distinct. *Force majeure* justifies non-performance of the obligation for so long as the circumstance exists; supervening impossibility justifies the termination of the treaty or its suspension in accordance with the conditions laid down in article 61. The former operates in respect of the particular obligation, the latter with respect to the treaty which is the

- source of that obligation. Just as the scope of application of the two doctrines is different, so is their mode of application. *Force majeure* excuses non-performance for the time being, but a treaty is not automatically terminated by supervening impossibility: at least one of the parties must decide to terminate it. 464
- 132. Thus, the *force majeure* doctrine can operate automatically but serves merely as an excuse for non-performance; the impossibility doctrine must be invoked, but serves to justify termination or suspension of the treaty itself. The question remaining with regard to the effect of armed conflict on treaties is whether it fits one of these two paradigms, or whether it could both operate automatically and justify termination or suspension.
- 133. Fourth, distress (art. 24) is a narrow doctrine applying only to "the specific case where an individual whose acts are attributable to the State is in a situation of peril" and is "limited to cases where human life is at stake". Distress generally involves "aircraft or ships entering State territory under stress of weather or following mechanical or navigational failure". The only case outside this area discussed in the Commission's commentary was the *Rainbow Warrior* arbitration involving the health concerns of two detained agents of France. Health concerns of two detained agents of France.
- 134. Fifth, the doctrine of necessity (art. 25) precludes "the wrongfulness of an act not in conformity with an international obligation ... [when it] is the only way for the State to safeguard an essential interest against grave and imminent peril ... and does not seriously impair an essential interest of the State or States towards which the obligation exists, or of the international community as a whole."469 Although the doctrine has been applied in the context of armed conflict, 470 it appears distinct from the effect of armed conflict on treaties because it applies in cases where "the peril [has] ... not yet ... occurred".471 With the effect of armed conflict on treaties, by contrast, it is submitted that treaties are affected by either the past outbreak of hostilities or a present reality of the hostilities that is incompatible with national policy during the armed conflict.⁴⁷² Despite this difference, some aspects of

⁴⁵⁶ *Ibid.*, p. 128, para. (3) ("[T]raditionally the term 'reprisals' was used to cover otherwise unlawful action, including forcible action, taken by way of self-help in response to a breach. More recently the term 'reprisals' has been limited to action taken in time of international armed conflict; i.e., it has been taken as equivalent to belligerent reprisals. The term 'countermeasures' covers that part of the subject of reprisals not associated with armed conflict, and in accordance with modern practice and judicial decisions the term is used in that sense in this chapter" (footnotes omitted)).

⁴⁵⁷ Ibid., p. 129, art. 49, para. 3.

⁴⁵⁸ *Ibid.*, p. 131, art. 50, para. 1.

⁴⁵⁹ *Ibid.*, art. 50, para. 2.

⁴⁶⁰ Ibid., p. 134, art. 51.

⁴⁶¹ Ibid., p. 135, art. 52, para. 3, and p. 137, art. 53.

⁴⁶² *Ibid.*, p. 76, para. (3) of the commentary to article 23 (stating that the doctrine applies in cases of "human intervention (e.g. loss of control over a portion of the State's territory as a result of an insurrection or devastation of an area by military operations carried out by a third State)").

⁴⁶³ *Ibid.*, para. (4).

 $^{^{464}\, \}emph{Ibid.}$, p. 71, para. (4) of the commentary to chapter V of Part One of the articles.

⁴⁶⁵ *Ibid.*, p. 78, para. (1) of the commentary to article 24.

⁴⁶⁶ *Ibid.*, p. 79, para. (6). The commentary goes on to state that "more general cases of emergencies ... are more a matter of necessity than distress" (*ibid.*, p. 80, para. (7)).

⁴⁶⁷ *Ibid.*, p. 78, para. (2).

⁴⁶⁸ Ibid., pp. 79–80, paras. (4)–(6) (citing the Case concerning the difference between New Zealand and France concerning the interpretation or application of two agreements concluded on 9 July 1986 between the two States and which related to the problems arising from the Rainbow Warrior Affair, Decision of 30 April 1990, United Nations, Reports of International Arbitral Awards, vol. XX (Sales No. E/F.93.V.3), p. 215 (1990), at pp. 254–255 and 263, paras. 78–79 and 99).

 $^{^{469}\,} Yearbook \dots \, 2001,$ vol. II (Part Two) and corrigendum, p. 80, art. 25, para. 1.

⁴⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, p. 81, paras. (4) and (5) of the commentary to article 25 (describing application of the doctrine in the context of the Anglo–Portuguese dispute of 1832 and the *Caroline* incident of 1837).

⁴⁷¹ *Ibid.*, p. 83, para. (16). The Commission's commentary also makes clear that the doctrine of necessity codified in article 25 is distinct from the doctrine of military necessity (*ibid.*, p. 84, para. (20)). This latter doctrine is discussed in the next chapter.

⁴⁷² See paragraphs 11-12 above.

the necessity doctrine could prove relevant to the study of the effect of armed conflict on treaties, particularly the use of negative language by the Commission in framing its parameters to signal the rarity of its use.⁴⁷³

135. In conclusion, many of the provisions regarding circumstances precluding wrongfulness in the Commission's articles on the responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts raise issues somewhat similar to the question of the effect of armed conflict on treaties. This has led at least one commentator to conclude that the "most important approach to modify [treaties during armed conflict] is to rely on the justifications recognized in the general international law of State responsibility."474 Adopting this approach, however, would deny any separate legal effect of armed conflict on treaties. This should be considered carefully, because the circumstances precluding wrongfulness do not directly affect (suspend or abrogate) the treaty itself, but rather serve as "a justification or excuse for non-performance while the circumstance in question subsists". 475 Hence, the relevance of circumstances precluding wrongfulness in the law of State responsibility to situations of treaties in armed conflict should be viewed with caution.

C. Necessity and proportionality

136. As discussed above, 476 the International Court of Justice has stated with respect to environmental treaties that "the issue is not whether the treaties ... are or are not applicable during an armed conflict, but rather whether the obligations stemming from these treaties were intended to be obligations of total restraint during military conflict."477 Unable to accept the proposition that an environmental treaty could bar a State of its right to self-defence, the Court concluded that self-defence is a right notwithstanding contradictory environmental treaties, but that "[r]espect for the environment is one of the elements that go to assessing whether an action is in conformity with the principles of necessity and proportionality."478 The Court's reasoning with regard to environmental treaties incompatible with military objectives could be expanded to all treaties that are incompatible with the maintenance of armed conflict. Under such a paradigm, treaties compatible with armed conflict would continue in force, and treaties incompatible with the conflict would continue to apply as an element in determining military necessity and proportionality.

D. Neutrality

137. The principle of neutrality has long been considered an important consideration when codifying the effect of armed conflict on treaties. For example, the Harvard Research on the Law of Treaties concluded that "[w]riters on international law are in substantial agreement

that, in the case of multipartite treaties to which neutral States ... are parties, the outbreak of war between some of the parties does not ipso facto or otherwise terminate or even suspend the operation of such treaties as between the belligerent and neutral parties, nor, of course, as between the neutral parties themselves."479 This view was reiterated by the United Nations after the Second World War in its study of the legal validity of undertakings concerning minorities. That study concluded that whereas most multilateral treaties are terminated by armed conflict, the presence of neutral States parties leads to mere suspension of multilateral treaties during an armed conflict, with automatic renewal at its conclusion. 480 McNair reached a similar conclusion with regard to the treaties of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland during the Second World War. 481 The relevance of neutrality law to the effect of armed conflict on treaties was also acknowledged by Schwarzenberger in 1967:

While, in the relations between belligerents, the less stringent prohibitions of the laws of war replace those of the law of peace, the changes in relations between belligerent and non-belligerent Powers are less drastic. In principle, the law of peace continues to govern their relations. It is modified, however, by the law of neutrality: a set of enabling rules which give greater freedom to belligerent States and impose considerable duties of abstention on non-belligerent Powers. In the case of treaties between States which, subsequently, change into belligerent and neutral Powers, the typical intention of parties is that such treaties, especially those in the field of international economic law, should continue to apply, but subject to any overriding interests which arise from the position of the contracting parties as belligerent or neutral States. 482

138. More recent commentary continues to acknowledge the importance of neutrality when studying the effect of armed conflict on treaties, but does not reach conclusive results. For example, the resolution of the Institute of International Law acknowledged the importance of neutrality without specifically dealing with it, stating "[t]his Resolution does not prejudge rights and duties arising from neutrality." Similarly, the International Court of Justice emphasized the importance of neutrality law in its advisory opinion on *Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons*, stating that "as in the case of the principles of humanitarian law applicable in armed conflict, international law leaves no doubt that the principle of neutrality, whatever its content, which is of a fundamental character similar to that of the humanitarian

⁴⁷³ Yearbook ... 2001, vol. II (Part Two) and corrigendum, p. 80, art. 25, para. 1 ("Necessity may not be invoked by a State as a ground for precluding the wrongfulness of an act not in conformity with an international obligation of that State unless ...").

⁴⁷⁴ Vöneky (footnote 120 above), p. 30.

⁴⁷⁵ Yearbook ... 2001, vol. II (Part Two) and corrigendum, p. 71, para. (2) of the commentary to chapter V of Part One of the articles.

⁴⁷⁶ See paragraph 62 above.

⁴⁷⁷ Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion (footnote 85 above), para. 30.

⁴⁷⁸ *Ibid*.

⁴⁷⁹ Harvard Research in International Law (J. W. Garner, Reporter), "Law of treaties" (footnote 17 above), pp. 1197–1198.

⁴⁸⁰ "Study of the legal validity of the undertakings concerning minorities" (E/CN.4/367 and Corr.1 and Add.1) (see footnote 77 above), p. 8. See also Delbrück (footnote 6 above), p. 1370 (concluding that "treaties between belligerent and neutral States remain in force as a matter of course, since the commencement of war does not directly affect the legal relations between a belligerent and a neutral State").

⁴⁸¹ McNair, *The Law of Treaties* (footnote 36 above), p. 726.

⁴⁸² G. Schwarzenberger, *A Manual of International Law*, 5th ed. (London, Stevens and Sons, 1967), p. 192.

⁴⁸³ Institute of International Law resolution of 1985 on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties (footnote 19 above), art. 10. This is unfortunate, because article 5 of the resolution essentially codifies the earlier findings contained in the "Study of the legal validity of the undertakings concerning minorities" (E/CN.4/367 and Corr.1 and Add.1) (see footnote 77 above) and the Harvard Research in International Law (J. W. Garner, Reporter), "Law of treaties" (footnote 17 above). According to the second paragraph of article 5 of the resolution, "[t]he outbreak of an armed conflict between some of the parties to a multilateral treaty does not *ipso facto* terminate or suspend the operation of that treaty between other contracting States or between them and the States parties to the armed conflict."

principles and rules, is applicable (subject to the relevant provisions of the United Nations Charter), to all international armed conflict".⁴⁸⁴ The principle of neutrality thus remains an important consideration in any formulation of the effects of armed conflict on treaties.

E. Impossibility of performance

139. The doctrine of impossibility of performance, as codified in the 1969 Vienna Convention, article 61, allows a State to terminate a treaty in the case of a "permanent disappearance or destruction of an object indispensable for the execution of the treaty" or to suspend a treaty in the case of a temporary impossibility. 485 Like the *rebus sic* stantibus doctrine discussed above, the impossibility doctrine closely parallels the developing rules on the effects of armed conflict on treaties. For example, in his provisional report to the Institute of International Law on the effects of armed conflict on treaties, Rapporteur Bengt Broms concluded that "[i]n so far as bilateral treaties are concerned the basic rule to be recommended seems to be that only a supervening impossibility of performance should lead to their suspension during the armed conflict."486 Similarly, Sonnenfeld stated that when armed conflict affects a treaty, it "is not so much 'the fact that a war has broken out, but rather ... the impossibility to implement the treaty, owing to the change in the conditions which presided over its conclusion..." which affects the treaty.⁴⁸⁷ But, as with *rebus sic stantibus*, it is submitted that the impossibility doctrine must be invoked; it is not automatic. It is still an open question whether the effect of armed conflict on treaties operates automatically—thus distinguishing it from these other doctrines—or whether it must also be invoked by the States parties concerned.

F. Martens clause

140. Originally appearing in the preamble to the Hague Convention II of 1899 with respect to the laws and customs of war on land, 488 and restated in all four of the 1949 Geneva Conventions, 489 their 1977 Additional Protocols 490

and the preamble to the Convention on Prohibitions or Restrictions on the Use of Certain Conventional Weapons Which May Be Deemed to be Excessively Injurious or to Have Indiscriminate Effects,⁴⁹¹ the Martens clause provides that the "dictates of the public conscience" as they may have developed in customary law create additional protection for populations and belligerents which "will still apply for States no longer bound by the Geneva Conventions as treaty law."

141. The Nuremberg Tribunal confirmed the legal significance of the clause and emphasized that it was "much more than a pious declaration".⁴⁹⁴ The International Court of Justice has stated that the clause itself forms part of customary international law.⁴⁹⁵ Some scholars argue that the "dictates of the public conscience" provision of the Martens clause includes environmental concerns as codified in environmental treaties.⁴⁹⁶ Other scholars⁴⁹⁷ and Governments,⁴⁹⁸ however, argue that the Martens clause should not be given an overextended interpretation.

142. The International Court of Justice made clear in *Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua* that "even if two norms belonging to two sources of international law appear identical in content, and even

armed conflicts (Protocol I), art. 1 (2); and Protocol additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the protection of victims of non-international armed conflicts (Protocol II), fourth paragraph of the preamble.

⁴⁹¹ Convention on prohibitions or restrictions on the use of certain conventional weapons which may be deemed to be excessively injurious or to have indiscriminate effects, 10 October 1980, fifth paragraph of the preamble.

⁴⁹² The 1899 Martens clause reads: "Until a more complete code of the laws of war is issued, the High Contracting Parties think it right to declare that in cases not included in the Regulations adopted by them, populations and belligerents remain under the protection and empire of the principles of international law, as they result from the usages established between civilized nations, from the laws of humanity, and the requirements of the public conscience" (reproduced in Tarasofsky (footnote 71 above), p. 33). A few words are changed in the 1907 version, but the meaning is essentially unaltered. See T. Meron, "The Martens Clause, principles of humanity, and dictates of public conscience", AJIL, vol. 94 (2000), p. 78, at p. 79. In the 1949 Geneva Conventions and their Optional Protocols, the goal of the clause is focused on ensuring that humanitarian law applies as customary international law even to a State which attempts to denounce humanitarian law conventions. See Meron (*ibid.*), pp. 80–81.

- $^{\rm 493}$ Meron, "The Martens Clause..." (preceding footnote), p. 80.
- 494 Ibid. (citing In re Krupp and others, 15 A.D. 620, 622 (U.S. Mil. Trib. 1948)).
- ⁴⁹⁵ Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion (footnote 85 above), para. 84.
- ⁴⁹⁶ Tarasofsky (footnote 71 above), p. 35; Simonds (footnote 114 above), p. 188; Bothe (footnote 199 above), p. 56.
- ⁴⁹⁷ For a forceful critique of the Martens clause, see A. Cassese, "The Martens Clause: half a loaf or simply pie in the sky?", *European Journal of International Law*, vol. 11, No. 1 (2000), p. 187. See also Meron, "The Martens Clause…" (footnote 492 above), p. 88 ("Nevertheless, the Martens clause does not allow one to build castles of sand. … [P]rohibitions of particularly objectionable weapons and methods of war can better be attained by applying such generally accepted principles of humanitarian law as the requirements of distinction and proportionality and the prohibition of unnecessary suffering than by pushing the Martens clause beyond reasonable limits").
- ⁴⁹⁸ The United States Department of the Army stated in a publication that "[s]uch broad phrases in international law are in reality a reliance upon moral law and public opinion" (United States Department of the Army Pamphlet No. 27-161-2 (1962), *International Law*, vol. II, p. 15, cited in T. Meron, *Human Rights and Humanitarian Norms as Customary Law* (Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1989), p. 36).

⁴⁸⁴ Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion (see footnote 85 above), para. 89.

⁴⁸⁵ 1969 Vienna Convention, art. 61, para. 1. "Impossibility of performance may not be invoked by a party as a ground for terminating, withdrawing from or suspending the operation of a treaty if the impossibility is the result of a breach by that party either of an obligation under the treaty or of any other international obligation owed to any other party to the treaty" (art. 61, para. 2).

 $^{^{486}\,\}mathrm{Institute}$ of International Law study (footnote 18 above), vol. 59-I, p. 218.

⁴⁸⁷ Sonnenfeld (footnote 265 above), p. 109 (citing S. E. Nahlik, *Wstęp do nauki prawa międzynarodowego* (Warsaw, Państwowe Wydawnictwo Naukowe, 1967), p. 301).

⁴⁸⁸ Tarasofsky (footnote 71 above), p. 32 (citing J. B. Scott (ed.), *The Hague Conventions and Declarations of 1899 and 1907*, 2nd ed. (New York, Oxford University Press, 1915), p. 100.

⁴⁸⁹ Geneva Convention for the Amelioration of the Condition of the Wounded and Sick in Armed Forces in the Field (Convention I), art. 63; Geneva Convention for the Amelioration of the Condition of Wounded, Sick and Shipwrecked Members of Armed Forces at Sea (Convention II), art. 62; Geneva Convention relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War (Convention III), art. 142; and Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War (Convention IV), art. 158.

⁴⁹⁰ Protocol additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the protection of victims of international

if the States in question are bound by these rules both on the level of treaty-law and on that of customary international law, these norms retain a separate existence."⁴⁹⁹ For the purposes of the present study, the question is whether the Martens clause actually has a legal effect on treaties representing the "dictates of the public conscience"—making the treaties themselves apply during armed conflict⁵⁰⁰—or if it merely influences the extent to

which these treaties will become customary international law applicable during armed conflict, a unique source of law, without actually applying themselves. The wording of the Martens clause in the 1949 Geneva Conventions and 1977 Additional Protocols supports the view that its purpose is to clarify that customary international humanitarian law applies during an armed conflict, ⁵⁰¹ guiding the jurist to look for this law in the "dictates of public conscience", but what is the resultant effect on treaties codifying this public conscience? Even though environmental and human rights law would apply, they would do so as customary international law; the question of whether the treaties themselves apply during armed conflict would remain unanswered.

Law, vol. 17 (1996), pp. 685, 699 and 703 (discussing the oral statement by Australia).

⁵⁰¹ Meron, "The Martens Clause..." (footnote 492 above), p. 87 ("It is generally agreed that the clause means, at the very least, that the adoption of a treaty regulating particular aspects of the law of war does not deprive the affected persons of the protection of those norms of customary humanitarian law that were not included in the codification").

CHAPTER VI

Other contemporary issues

A. Armed conflict within operations under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations

143. Treaty obligations existing between Member States of the United Nations which are "inconsistent with enforcement measures taken pursuant to a Security Council decision need not be observed by cooperating Member States." Jessup wrote that "[i]t cannot be doubted that action taken by a Member [State of the United Nations] in compliance with [a decision of the Security Council under Chapter VII of the Chapter of the United Nations] would constitute justification for any incidental breach of a treaty obligation calling for freedom of commercial intercourse or of communications." Similarly, Goodrich and Hambro have noted that

it may happen that ... other international agreements such as trade agreements and postal conventions will be violated by the action required to give effect to the Council's decision [under Chapter VII] ... The ... situation is squarely faced by the Charter. Article 103 provides that in case of conflict between the obligations of Members under the Charter and under international agreements, the former will prevail. 504

144. An examination of the *travaux préparatoires* for the Charter of the United Nations indicates without doubt that the drafters intended Article 103 to apply not only to the Charter itself, but also to applications of the Charter, such as under Chapter VII. When Norway, at the San Francisco Conference, introduced a proposed addition to the section which eventually became Article 41, clarifying that action taken under it "takes precedence over the execution of stipulations contained in commercial or other

treaties",⁵⁰⁵ discussion was reserved until the Committee on Legal Problems, in charge of drafting Article 103, could consider the issue.⁵⁰⁶ That Committee stated in its report that in applying Article 103,

it is immaterial whether the conflict arise because of intrinsic inconsistency between the two categories of obligations [i.e. inconsistency between a treaty and the Charter itself] or as a result of the application of the provisions of the Charter under given circumstances: e.g., in the case where economic sanctions were applied against a State which derives benefits or advantages from previous agreements contrary to said sanctions. ⁵⁰⁷

145. Thus, the drafters of the Charter made it absolutely clear that obligations taken in application of Chapter VII will prevail⁵⁰⁸ over obligations under any other international agreement.⁵⁰⁹ The Institute of International Law resolution on the effects of armed conflict on treaties dedicated one of its 11 substantive articles to the question, stating that "[a] State complying with a resolution by the Security Council

⁴⁹⁹ Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua, Merits, Judgment of 27 June 1986 (see footnote 259 above), p. 95, para. 178.

⁵⁰⁰ This appears to be the position of Solomon Islands and Australia in the *Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons* advisory opinion of the International Court of Justice (see footnote 85 above). Both States invoked the Martens clause and used both international human rights treaties and environmental treaties to argue for the illegality of nuclear weapons from an environmental and human rights standpoint. See footnotes 217–225 above and accompanying text (discussing the written submission of Solomon Islands); see also Meron, "The Martens Clause..." (footnote 492 above), p. 84, citing International Court of Justice—Requests for Advisory Opinions on the Legality of Nuclear Weapons—Australian Statement, *Australian Year Book of International*

⁵⁰² Layton (footnote 39 above), p. 112.

⁵⁰³ P. C. Jessup, *A Modern Law of Nations: An Introduction* (New York, MacMillan, 1948), p. 153 (cited in Layton (footnote 39 above), p. 112).

⁵⁰⁴ L. M. Goodrich and E. Hambro, *Charter of the United Nations: Commentary and Documents*, 2nd rev. ed. (London, Stevens and Sons, 1949), p. 278 (cited in Layton (footnote 39 above), p. 112).

⁵⁰⁵ Layton (footnote 39 above), p. 110 (citing document 289, III/3/11, *Documents of the United Nations Conference on International Organization*, San Francisco, 1945, vol. XII, p. 607).

⁵⁰⁶ Layton (footnote 39 above), p. 111.

⁵⁰⁷ *Ibid.* (citing "Report of the Rapporteur of Committee IV/2" (document 933, IV/2/42), *Documents of the United Nations Conference on International Organization*, San Francisco, 1945, vol. XIII, p. 708).

⁵⁰⁸ Layton notes that Article 103 does not provide for automatic abrogation of conflicting treaties, but rather that Charter obligations "shall prevail". The Committee on Legal Problems, drafting Article 103, "decided that it would be inadvisable to provide for the automatic abrogation by the Charter of obligations inconsistent with the terms thereof. It has been deemed preferable to have the rule depend upon and be linked with the case of a conflict between the two categories of obligations. In such a case, the obligations of the Charter would be pre-eminent and would exclude any others" (Layton (footnote 39 above), pp. 111–112 (citing "Report of the Rapporteur of Committee IV/2" (footnote 507 above), p. 707)).

⁵⁰⁹ Layton notes, however, that "[a] significant problem with the Charter formula lies in the determination of when a 'conflict' between the two sets of obligations arises" (Layton (footnote 39 above), p. 113).

of the United Nations [under Chapter VII of the Charter] shall either terminate or suspend the operation of a treaty which would be incompatible with such resolution."⁵¹⁰ Against this background, it has been recently argued that because Chapter VII operations "are intended to restore the legal order, they are considered as suspending treaty obligations only in cases where the use of force renders their execution impossible in fact."⁵¹¹

B. Domestic hostilities

- 146. If the effect of armed conflict on treaties remains a vague area of international law, the effect of domestic hostilities on treaties is even more so.⁵¹² But, in the light of the "staggering increase in civil wars",⁵¹³ which now make up the vast majority of all armed conflicts in the world, any complete study of the effects of armed conflict on treaties cannot ignore domestic hostilities.
- 147. The most important point to be established is that domestic hostilities can and do affect international treaties. Although scholars regularly consider both the application of international humanitarian law⁵¹⁴ and human rights law⁵¹⁵ to domestic hostilities, it would be a mistake to end the enquiry here; domestic conflicts can have a significant effect on all classes of treaties by altering other circumstances necessary to the performance of the treaty in the county host to the domestic hostilities, or even neighbouring countries.⁵¹⁶ For example, Graham argued that if two countries

enter into a treaty for the sale of hydro-electric power and the generating plants have since fallen into the hands of the insurgents, then, there may be grounds for invoking *Rebus Sic Stantibus*.

The more difficult problem will arise where the treaty is not directly but only indirectly affected by the revolution. For example, if [countries] A and B agree to aid each other in case of attack by a foreign power and A is using all its military strength to fight a revolution at home, is this sufficient grounds for repudiation of the treaty? It would form a very strong argument for A, if it were to claim that the treaty presupposed that it would have a surplus of military strength and the existence of a revolutionary situation at home had materially altered that fact. 517

- 148. Thus, domestic hostilities can operate in much the same way as international conflict, affecting the whole gamut of treaty types discussed in chapter II above. Graham proceeded to consider the doctrine of *rebus sic stantibus* in relation to domestic hostilities in much the same way it is considered in chapter V, section A, above, in relation to international conflicts.
- 149. Several concrete examples of the effect of domestic conflicts exist. First, Bernard Firestone notes that the civil war in Yemen had effects on the entire Middle East.518 Second, Secretary-General Kurt Waldheim used his power under Article 99 of the Charter of the United Nations to raise the matter of the 1975 Lebanese civil war in the Security Council, arguing that "further deterioration in the Lebanese situation carried implications extending beyond that country's boundaries". 519 Although this reference is broad, it is possible that some of these implications included effects on treaties. Third, the Guinea-Bissau civil war caused the United States of America to suspend its Peace Corps aid programme in that country. 520 Fourth, the Netherlands suspended bilateral treaties with Suriname because of domestic hostilities occurring in Suriname in 1982.521 Finally, domestic hostilities in the former Yugoslavia affected multiple treaties between Yugoslavia and several European countries.⁵²² There is thus little doubt that internal conflicts can have a significant effect on inter-State treaty relations.

C. The distinction between bilateral and multilateral treaties

150. In discussing the effect of armed conflict on treaties, commentators have attempted to distinguish between bilateral treaties, as more susceptible to suspension or abrogation, and multilateral treaties, as more resilient. For example, Jenks argued that "[i]t is now generally admitted that war has not the same effect on multilateral legislative treaties as upon bilateral contractual ones".⁵²³ Similarly, Robert Tucker argued that:

⁵¹⁰ Institute of International Law resolution of 1985 on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties (see footnote 19 above), art. 8.

⁵¹¹ Delbrück (footnote 6 above), p. 1372. See also *Encyclopedia of the United Nations*... (footnote 321 above), vol. 3, p. 2141 (describing the suspension of Chapter VII operations in Somalia as a result of overwhelming interference with United Nations activities at the hands of Somali rebels. Thus, in this case domestic hostilities presumably had an effect on the treaty establishing a United Nations peacekeeping operation).

⁵¹² A. Graham, "The effects of domestic hostilities on public and private international agreements: a tentative approach", *Western Law Review*, vol. 3 (1964), p. 128, at p. 148 ("The problem of the effect of a revolution on treaties ... has not received adequate discussion ... [T]here remains a void in International Law in this respect").

⁵¹³ A. Cassese, "A tentative appraisal of the old and the new humanitarian law of armed conflict", in A. Cassese (ed.), *The New Humanitarian Law of Armed Conflict* (Naples, Scientifica, 1979), p. 461, at p. 462.

⁵¹⁴ See, for example, J. N. Moore (ed.), *Law and Civil War in the Modern World* (Baltimore/London, The Johns Hopkins University Press, 1974); K. Suter, *An International Law of Guerrilla Warfare: The Global Politics of Law-Making* (London, Frances Pinter, 1984); G. I. A. D. Draper, "Humanitarian law and internal armed conflicts", *Georgia Journal of International and Comparative Law*, vol. 13 (1983), p. 253.

⁵¹⁵ After noting the increasing convergence of human rights law and international humanitarian law (see footnote 114 above), Reinhard Hassenpflug argues that this "fusion of human rights law and humanitarian law corresponds to the need to give as much protection as possible particularly to the victims of non-international armed and internal conflicts" (R. Hassenpflug, "Comment", German Yearbook of International Law, vol. 45 (2002), p. 78, at p. 78. See also T. Meron, Human Rights in Internal Strife: Their International Protection (Cambridge, Grotius, 1987); C. Sepulveda, "Interrelationships in the implementation and enforcement of international humanitarian law and human rights law", Conference on International Humanitarian and Human Rights Law in Non-International Armed Conflicts, 12-13 April 1983, American University Law Review, vol. 33 (1983-1984), p. 117; H.-P. Gasser, "International humanitarian law and human rights law in noninternational armed conflict: joint venture or mutual exclusion?", German Yearbook of International Law, vol. 45 (2002), p. 149.

⁵¹⁶ Graham (footnote 512 above), p. 131 ("The incidents of civil war are highly analogous to those of a World War and in many respects the factual effects on contracts and treaties will be the same").

⁵¹⁷ *Ibid.*, p. 137.

⁵¹⁸ B. J. Firestone, *The United Nations Under U. Thant, 1961–1971* (Lanham/London, Scarecrow Press, 2001), p. 28.

⁵¹⁹ J. D. Ryan, *The United Nations Under Kurt Waldheim*, 1972–1981 (Lanham/London, Scarecrow Press, 2001), p. 75.

⁵²⁰ See paragraph 110 above.

⁵²¹ See paragraph 90 above.

⁵²² See paragraphs 111 to 112 above.

⁵²³ C. W. Jenks, "State succession in respect of law-making treaties", BYBIL *1952*, vol. 29, p. 105, at p. 120.

In considering the effects of war on treaties it is useful, and probably necessary, to distinguish between those treaties having a large number of States other than the belligerents as parties and bilateral treaties having as signatories only the belligerents. With respect to the latter category, recent practice appears to indicate that, apart from those treaties especially intended to operate in time of war, the outbreak of war has the effect of annulling them. Even in the case of those bilateral treaties intended to establish a permanent condition of things, there is nothing to prevent a victorious belligerent from dissolving them in the peace treaty. With respect to the former category, however, the outbreak of war cannot be seen to result in the abrogation of treaties that include as parties States not participating in war (for example, the treaty establishing the International Postal Union, the safety of navigation at sea, etc.). Such multilateral treaties remain binding not only between those States not participating in war but between the belligerents and the nonparticipants. Between the belligerents, they may be suspended in whole or in part as the necessities of war require.524

151. In the practice of States, however, this neat dichotomy between bilateral and multilateral treaties appears to be diminishing, as evidenced by a comparison of the peace treaties of the Second World War with those following the First World War:

The language of the 1947 [Treaty of Peace with Italy] and 1951 [Treaty of Peace with Japan] apparently reflects the increasing tendency to regard most treaties as surviving the outbreak of war. That is certainly true with respect to a number of bilateral treaties. After World War II the wording of the article for the revival of bilateral treaties was changed so as to include either the phrase "keep in force or revive" or the phrase "continue in force or revive" rather than just "revive" as was the case in the peace treaties after World War I. Also, where the World War I peace treaties had stated that unrevived treaties "are and shall remain abrogated," the World War II peace treaties stated that treaties not the subject of notification "shall be regarded as abrogated."

152. Thus, although following both world wars multilateral treaties were still viewed as more resilient than bilateral ones, 526 an increased resilience of bilateral treaties was acknowledged. This trend seems to have continued. Rather than adopting the former multilateral/bilateral distinction, several modern commentaries on the effect of armed conflict on treaties adopt a more nuanced approach, looking to the actual subject matter of the treaty rather than the number of parties. 527 This approach shows that although many of the most resilient treaties are

multilateral, one cannot assume that a multilateral treaty will always be more likely than a bilateral treaty to withstand armed conflict. For example, a bilateral treaty establishing a permanent regime could prove more resilient than a multilateral environmental treaty which is inconsistent with the principle of proportionality. Similarly, a bilateral treaty on reciprocal inheritance rights could easily prove more resilient than a multilateral extradition treaty which conflicts with national policy on the armed conflict. A thorough classification scheme is thus superior to generalizations about treaties based on the number of parties to them.

D. Separability of particular articles

153. Under the general law of treaties as codified in the 1969 Vienna Convention, article 44, treaty suspension or termination applies only to the treaty as a whole, "unless the treaty otherwise provides or the parties otherwise agree". 528 An exception is made with respect to grounds for termination or suspension that relate to particular clauses, but only if "[t]he said clauses are separable from the remainder of the treaty with regard to their application; ... those clauses [are] not an essential basis of the consent of the other party or parties to be bound by the treaty as a whole; and ... continued performance of the remainder of the treaty would not be unjust."529 One commentator has noted that "[s]ince 'these three conditions are cumulative,' the principle of the integrity of the treaty overwhelmingly prevails in case of a fundamental change of circumstances."530 Similarly, Aust commented in his recent treatise on treaties that the second condition alone would be quite difficult to meet "and would require an examination of the subject matter of the clauses, their relationship to the other clauses, and perhaps also the travaux and the circumstances of the conclusion of the treaty".531

154. Since, in accordance with article 73 of the 1969 Vienna Convention, the Convention "shall not prejudge any question that may arise in regard to a treaty from ... the outbreak of hostilities between States", the question arises as to what extent the separability doctrine established in article 44 of the Convention holds true. Influenced by the principle of *pacta sunt servanda*, it appears that courts and commentators examining the question of the effect of armed conflict on treaties have been more willing to allow separability of treaty provisions than the framers of the Convention. For example, McIntyre reports that in the Second World War,

⁵²⁴ Kelsen, *Principles of International Law*, 2nd rev. ed. (Tucker, ed.) (footnote 28 above), p. 501.

⁵²⁵ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), pp. 332–333 (noting that "there is no way of knowing for sure whether the abrogation took place at the time of the outbreak of war, the time of entry into force of the treaty of peace, or at the end of the period within which revival was permitted"). See also *ibid.*, p. 349.

⁵²⁶ O'Connell writes that at the conclusion of both world wars "[t]he general principle has been to regard all bilateral treaties as abrogated save such of them as each of the Allied Powers notifies the defeated signatory it wishes to continue in force or revive ... [whereas] multilateral conventions remain unaffected by war except in so far as the belligerents may suspend their execution in relation to themselves if the necessities of war compel them so to do" (O'Connell, "Legal aspects of the Peace Treaty..." (footnote 248 above), p. 429) (footnotes omitted).

⁵²⁷ See, for example, the 1982 approach of Delbrück (footnote 6 above) and the 1961 approach of McNair in *The Law of Treaties...* (footnote 36 above). Similarly, the Institute of International Law resolution makes no distinction between the effect of armed conflict on a bilateral treaty between a belligerent and a neutral and the effect of armed conflict on a multilateral treaty between belligerents and neutrals (Institute of International Law resolution of 1985 on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties (footnote 19 above), art. 5).

⁵²⁸ Article 44, para. 1; see also Aust (footnote 28 above), p. 248.

⁵²⁹ The full text of the exception states that if the ground for termination or suspension "relates solely to particular clauses, it may be invoked only with respect to those clauses where: (a) The said clauses are separable from the remainder of the treaty with regard to their application; (b) It appears from the treaty or is otherwise established that acceptance of those clauses was not an essential basis of the consent of the other party or parties to be bound by the treaty as a whole; and (c) Continued performance of the remainder of the treaty would not be unjust" (art. 44, para. 3).

⁵³⁰ E. Zoller, "The 'corporate will' of the United Nations and the rights of the minority", AJIL, vol. 81 (1987), p. 610, at p. 629 (citing I. Sinclair, *The Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties*, 2nd rev. ed. (Manchester, Manchester University Press, 1984), p. 166).

⁵³¹ Aust (footnote 28 above), p. 248.

the practice of the United States accepts the separability of the articles of a treaty unless they form part of an indissoluble whole which depends for its validity upon the continued operation of each of its components. This principle is now widely accepted by text writers as well as practitioners, and differs sharply from the view earlier held by writers, such as Vattel. The recent practice of the executive and the courts indicates that the principle of separability may be carried even one step further: that where the particular parts of a specific article are not closely interdependent, it is possible to consider the effect of war on the individual parts. ⁵³²

155. Similarly, in the landmark United States decision on the effect of armed conflict on treaties in *Techt v. Hughes*, Judge Cardozo stated:

It is not for them to denounce treaties generally, *en bloc*. Their part it is, as one provision or another is involved in some actual controversy before them, to determine whether, alone, or by force of connection with an inseparable scheme, the provision is inconsistent with the policy or safety of the nation in the emergency of war, and hence presumably intended to be limited to times of peace. The mere fact that other portions of the treaty are suspended or even abrogated is not conclusive. The treaty does not fall in its entirety unless it has the character of an indivisible act.⁵³³

156. Although these two examples could merely embody an earlier understanding on separability of treaty provisions generally which has since evolved, or may only represent the view of one State, there is reason to believe they signify a greater willingness to sever treaties when the effect of armed conflict on treaties is concerned. In its commentary on what became article 44 of the 1969 Vienna Convention, the Commission said:

The separability of treaty provisions was until comparatively recently considered almost exclusively in connexion with the right to terminate a treaty on the ground of a breach of the other party. Certain modern authorities, however, have advocated recognition of the principle of separability ... in determining the effect of war upon treaties. They have urged that in some cases one provision of a treaty may be struck out or suspended without necessarily disturbing the balance of the rights and obligations established by the other provisions of the treaty. These authorities cite in support of their contentions certain pronouncements of the Permanent Court of International Justice in regard to the interpretation of self-contained parts of treaties.⁵³⁴

157. It is thus possible that the separability of treaty provisions in the case of an effect of armed conflict on treaties is different from that found in general international law codified in the 1969 Vienna Convention. The opinions of States parties will be required to make this determination.

E. Length of treaty suspension

158. Another question related to treaty suspension in the case of armed conflict is its length. In his analysis of the effects of the First World War on treaties, Tobin included a thorough review of this question. He concluded that although there existed a tendency towards complete resumption of suspended treaty obligations as

soon as possible, the nature of the treaty was also a factor: whereas treaties of a technical nature will generally resume immediately, treaties whose drafting "involved political bargaining [are] apt to be revalued in the light of the changes brought about by the war, and either modified or terminated."535 In his comprehensive analysis of the effect of the Second World War on treaties, McIntyre concluded that "[a]s a general rule suspended bipartite treaties did not appear to revive automatically with the cessation of hostilities. Most returned to full effectiveness as a result of a special agreement or revival action under the peace treaties, and usually the latter procedure was the one which was followed."536 Multilateral treaties did not require this express revival; when they were suspended at all, it is submitted that they automatically revived at the conclusion of the hostilities.⁵³⁷ Thus, the general practice following the Second World War is that suspended multilateral treaties revive automatically after armed conflict, whereas suspended bilateral treaties require express renewal.538

159. Modern practice regarding the length of treaty suspension no longer focuses on the distinction between bilateral and multilateral treaties. Delbrück has written that "[t]he suspension will be considered to end, and treaty obligations to revive, at the earliest possible date after any such use of force has ended, the formal termination of the armed conflict not being a legal prerequisite to ending the suspension. It should be noted, however, that this forms a guiding principle for the States concerned rather than a hard and fast rule of international law."539 The Institute of International Law resolution agreed with this result, declaring that "[a]t the end of an armed conflict and unless otherwise agreed, the operation of a treaty which has been suspended should be resumed as soon as possible."540 Thus, whereas the number of parties to the treaty traditionally had a bearing on the length of treaty suspension in cases of armed conflict, modern practice avoids this distinction and aims for all treaties to resume as soon as possible following the close of hostilities.

⁵³² McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 22 (footnotes omitted).

⁵³³ *Techt* (footnote 45 above), p. 243 (followed for this proposition by the United States Supreme Court in *Clark* (footnote 46 above), pp. 509–510).

⁵³⁴ Yearbook ... 1966, vol. II, document A/6309/Rev.1 (Parte II), p. 238, para. (1) of the commentary to draft article 41 (citing Free Zones, P.C.I.J., Series A/B, No. 46, p. 140; and The S.S. "Wimbledon" (footnote 48 above), p. 24).

⁵³⁵ Tobin (footnote 23 above), pp. 190–193.

⁵³⁶ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), p. 298.

War provide the prime example of this phenomenon: whereas the provisions with regard to pre-war bilateral treaties in the Second World War peace treaties were similar to those at the conclusion of the First World War, requiring each revived bilateral treaty to be individually enumerated, the treatment of pre-war multilateral treaties was very different. "Rather than list the multilateral treaties which were to be applied again by the former enemy powers as the World War I peace treaties had done, the 1947 treaties made no mention of the pre-war multilateral treaties" (*ibid.*, p. 322). See also Sonnenfeld (footnote 265 above), p. 109 ("As a rule multilateral treaties have been treated differently from bilateral ones, the former being considered as remaining in force, even though their implementation between the belligerent countries was suspended during the war, while the latter, in principle, have required revival by express legal action").

⁵³⁸ McIntyre (footnote 7 above), pp. 322–323. But see *ibid.*, p. 328 ("The experience of the peace treaties would seem to indicate that non-political or technical multilateral conventions do revive automatically, but it is not clear what happens to the political multilateral conventions").

⁵³⁹ Delbrück (footnote 6 above), p. 1371.

⁵⁴⁰ Institute of International Law resolution of 1985 on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties (see footnote 19 above), art. 11.

CHAPTER VII

Conclusion

160. Just as the effect of armed conflict on treaties has always been a difficult and uncertain area of international law, so it remains today. The present study has attempted a comprehensive categorization of treaties considering their ability to withstand traditional war, and in this effort quite a few trends can be identified. First, armed conflict will rarely if ever affect humanitarian law treaties, treaties with express provisions as to their applicability during armed conflict, treaties creating a permanent status or regime, treaty provisions codifying jus cogens norms, non-derogable human rights treaties, treaties governing intergovernmental debt, and diplomatic conventions. Second, a smaller group of treaties exhibits a moderately high likelihood of applicability during armed conflict, including reciprocal inheritance treaties and multilateral "law-making" conventions. Third, a large group of treaties remains with an emerging, controversial or varied likelihood of applicability. This group includes international transport agreements; environmental treaties; extradition treaties; border-crossing treaties; treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation; intellectual property treaties; and penal transfer treaties. Finally, two kinds of treaties have a decidedly low likelihood of applicability during armed conflict: those treaties inapplicable through express provision and those treaties inapplicable in practice.

161. Yet, despite this seemingly neat set of rules, the question of the effect of armed conflict on treaties continues to be ridden with pitfalls. The norms stated above were generally developed in relation to traditional warfare, and it is unclear how relevant they will be in the new era of less formal, non-traditional and often domestic armed conflicts. These questions are complicated by the fact that courts and political departments often do not comment on the effect of a given armed conflict on treaties until significant time has passed, in some cases as much as 200 years.⁵⁴¹

162. Even in this new and uncertain era, however, some trends can be identified. First, there is significant

evidence that domestic hostilities in a given State can affect inter-State treaties between that State and another, or potentially even between two or more completely different States; other non-traditional forms of armed conflict, such as the cold war and small bilateral conflicts, have also been shown to affect treaties. Second, although many other legal doctrines are substantially similar to the effect of armed conflict on treaties, a strong argument can be made that the latter is distinguishable on the basis that it occurs automatically, whereas doctrines such as rebus sic stantibus and impossibility must be invoked. Third, there is strong support for the proposition that operations carried out pursuant to Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations will suspend or abrogate inconsistent treaties. Finally, whereas it was traditionally understood that armed conflict had a greater effect on bilateral treaties than on multilateral treaties, there is strong evidence that this distinction has diminished.

163. One important policy consideration in the law governing the effect of armed conflict on treaties is the vital role of treaties in the system of international law and the time and effort necessary for their negotiation and adoption. From the perspective of international law, armed conflict is a disruption, for a limited period of time, of the normal situation, which is peace. Therefore, as a policy matter, there are advantages to trying to make treaties resistant to intermittent armed conflict and, when that cannot be achieved, treating the effect of war *per se* on treaties as suspensive rather than terminative so that the treaties can return quickly to operation upon the cessation of armed conflict.

164. In conclusion, although significant State practice and doctrine exist, they are inconsistent and in flux. As traditional warfare gives way to modern non-traditional, domestic or informal armed conflicts, the parameters of the effect of armed conflict on treaties are left in a considerable state of uncertainty. With input from States as to current governmental views, codification could greatly advance international understanding on the topic and update a doctrine that has been written largely for another age.

⁵⁴¹ See footnote 12 above.

ANNEX

BIBLIOGRAPHY

A. Articles and chapters

- BAXTER, R. R., "Passage of ships through international waterways in time of war", BYBIL 1954, vol. 31, pp. 187–216.
- BEDERMAN, D. J., "The 1871 London Declaration, *rebus sic stantibus* and a primitivist view of the law of nations", AJIL, vol. 82 (1988), pp. 1–40.
- BORCHARD, E. M., "The effect of war on the Treaty of 1828 with Prussia", AJIL, vol. 26 (1932), pp. 582–586.
- BOTHE, M., "The protection of the environment in times of armed conflict: legal rules, uncertainty, deficiencies and possible developments", *German Yearbook of International Law*, vol. 34 (1991), pp. 54–62.
- Briggs, H. W., "The Attorney General invokes *rebus sic stantibus*", AJIL, vol. 36 (1942), pp. 89–96.
- Castel, J. G., "International law—effect of war on bilateral treaties—Comparative study" (comment), *Michigan Law Review*, vol. 51, No. 4 (1953), pp. 566–573.
- CHINKIN, C. M., "Crisis and the performance of international agreements: the outbreak of war in perspective", *Yale Journal of World Public Order*, vol. 7 (1980–1981), pp. 177–208.
- CONFORTI, B., and A. LABELLA, "Invalidity and termination of treaties: the role of national courts", *European Journal of International Law*, vol. 1 (1990), pp. 44–66, especially p. 57, footnote 39 (for an extensive list of cases in national courts dealing with the effect of armed conflict on treaties) and p. 58 (discussing the effect of armed conflict as a subset of the *rebus sic stantibus* doctrine).
- COSTA, P., "Les effets de la guerre sur les traités relatifs au Danube, dans le cadre d'une étude globale du droit conventionnel du Danube", in R. ZACKLIN and L. CAFLISCH (eds.), *The Legal Regime of International Rivers and Lakes*, Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1981, pp. 203–245.
- De La Pradelle, A., "The effect of war on private law treaties", *International Law Quarterly*, vol. 2, No. 4 (1948–1949), pp. 555–576.
- DINSTEIN, Y., "The reform of the protection of human rights during armed conflicts and periods of emergency and crisis", in *The Reform of International Institutions for the Protection of Human Rights, First International Colloquium on Human Rights, La Laguna, Tenerife, 1st–4th November 1992*, Brussels, Bruylant, 1993, pp. 337–355.
- FALK, R., "The Iran hostage crisis: easy answers and hard questions", AJIL, vol. 74 (1980), pp. 411–417

- (discussing the International Court of Justice ruling in the *Case Concerning United States Diplomatic and Consular Staff in Tehran* on the effect of undeclared hostilities on consular relations treaties).
- Garner J. W., and V. Jobst III, "The unilateral denunciation of treaties by one party because of alleged non-performance by another party or parties", AJIL, vol. 29, No. 4 (October 1935), pp. 569–585.
- Graham, A., "The effects of domestic hostilities on public and private international agreements: a tentative approach", *Western Law Review*, vol. 3 (1964), pp. 128–148.
- Green, L. C., "The environment and the law of conventional warfare", *Canadian Yearbook of International Law*, vol. 29 (1991), pp. 222–237.
- GROSS, L., "Passage through the Suez Canal of Israel-bound cargo and Israel ships", AJIL, vol. 51, No. 3 (July 1957), pp. 530–568 (discussing the effect of armed conflict on the Convention to guarantee the free use of the Suez Canal for all powers and at all times).
- Harvard Research in International Law (J. W. Garner, Reporter), "Law of treaties", AJIL, vol. 29 (1935), Supp., pp. 973 *et seq.*, at pp. 1183–1204.
- Hurst, C. J. B., "The effect of war on treaties", BYBIL *1921–1922*, vol. 2, pp. 37–47.
- KEARNEY, R. D., and R. E. DALTON, "The treaty on treaties", AJIL, vol. 64, No. 3 (1970), pp. 495–561, at p. 557 (discussing article 73 of the 1969 Vienna Convention).
- Kelly, K. M., "Declaring war on the environment: the failure of international environmental treaties during the Persian Gulf War", *American University Journal of International Law and Policy*, vol. 7, No. 4 (1991–1992), pp. 921–950.
- Khadduri, M., "The closure of the Suez Canal to Israeli shipping", *Law and Contemporary Problems*, vol. 33, No. 1 (1968), pp. 147–157 (discussing the effect of armed conflict on the Convention to guarantee the free use of the Suez Canal for all powers and at all times).
- Kiss, A.-C., "L'extinction des traités dans la pratique française", AFDI, vol. 5 (1959), pp. 784–796 (discussing the effect of armed conflict on treaties in French practice as a subset of the *rebus sic stantibus* doctrine).
- LAPIDOTH, R., "The reopened Suez Canal in international law", *Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce*, vol. 4 (1976), pp. 1–49 (discussing the effect of armed conflict on the Convention to guarantee the free use of the Suez Canal for all powers and at all times).

- LAYTON, R., "The effect of measures short of war on treaties", *University of Chicago Law Review*, vol. 30 (1962–1963), pp. 96 et seq.
- Lenoir, J. J., "The effect of war on bilateral treaties, with special reference to reciprocal inheritance treaty provisions", *Georgetown Law Journal*, vol. 34, No. 2 (1946), pp. 129–177.
- Lesser, S. T., "International law—treaty provisions dealing with the status of pre-war bilateral treaties" (comment), *Michigan Law Review*, vol. 51, No. 4 (February 1953), pp. 573–582.
- LIJNZAAD, L., and G. J. TANJA, "Protection of environment in times of armed conflict: the Iraq-Kuwait War", *Netherlands International Law Review*, vol. 40, No. 2 (August 1993), pp. 169–199.
- Lissitzyn, O. J., "Treaties and changed circumstances (*rebus sic stantibus*)", AJIL, vol. 61, No. 4 (October 1967), pp. 895–922.
- MACDONALD, R. St. J., "Derogations under Article 15 of the European Convention on Human Rights", *Columbia Journal of Transnational Law*, vol. 36 (1997), pp. 225 *et seq.* (describing the operation of the derogation clause of the European Convention, which determines the effect of armed conflict on the convention, among other emergencies).
- Marks, S. P., "Principles and norms of human rights applicable in emergency situations: underdevelopment, catastrophes and armed conflicts", in K. Vasak and P. Alston (eds.), *The International Dimensions of Human Rights*, vol. 1, Paris, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, 1982, pp. 175–212.
- McNair, A. D., *The Law of Treaties*, Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1961, pp. 695–728.
- ———, "Les effets de la guerre sur les traités", Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye, 1937-I, vol. 59, pp. 527 et seq.
- MERKIN, D. B., "The efficacy of chemical-arms treaties in the aftermath of the Iran–Iraq War", *Boston University International Law Journal*, vol. 9, No. 1 (1991), pp. 175–196.
- MERON, T., "The Martens Clause, principles of humanity, and dictates of public conscience", AJIL, vol. 94 (2000), pp. 78–89.
- -----, "The humanization of humanitarian law", AJIL, vol. 94 (2000), pp. 239–278.
- Nahlik, S. E., "The grounds of invalidity and termination of treaties", AJIL, vol. 65, No. 4 (October 1971), pp. 736–756.
- PRESCOTT, M. K., "How war affects treaties between belligerents: a case study of the Gulf War", *Emory International Law Review*, vol. 7, No. 1 (1993), pp. 197–231.

- RANK, R., "Modern war and the validity of treaties: a comparative study (part I)", *Cornell Law Quarterly*, vol. 38, No. 3 (1953), pp. 321 et seq.
- ——, "Modern war and the validity of treaties (part II)", *Cornell Law Quarterly*, vol. 38, No. 4 (1953), pp. 511 *et seq*.
- ROBERTS, A., "Environmental issues in international armed conflict: the experience of the 1991 Gulf War", in R. J. GRUNAWALT, et al. (eds.), International Law Studies, vol. 69 (1996), Protection of the Environment During Armed Conflict, pp. 222–227.
- SCHMITT, M. N., "Green war: an assessment of the environmental law of international armed conflict", *Yale Journal of International Law*, vol. 22, No. 1 (1997), pp. 1–109, at pp. 37–41 (describing the applicability of peacetime environmental treaties during armed conflict, favouring the "theory of differentiation" contextualizing treaty obligations within the armed conflict and asking "whether continued vitality [of the treaty] is consistent with the larger context in which the agreement will operate").
- SIMONDS, S., "Conventional warfare and environmental protection: a proposal for international legal reform", *Stanford Journal of International Law*, vol. 29 (1992), pp. 165–221, at pp. 188–198.
- SMITH, R. H., "Beyond the treaties: limitations on neutrality in the Panama Canal", *Yale Studies in World Public Order*, vol. 4 (1977–1978), pp. 1–37.
- Sonnenfeld, R., "Succession and continuation: a study on treaty practice in post-war Germany", *Netherlands Yearbook of International Law*, vol. 7 (1976), pp. 91–130, at pp. 108–116 (discussing the influence of war on the validity of international treaties concluded by the German Reich).
- Tarasofsky, R. G., "Legal protection of the environment during international armed conflict", *Netherlands Yearbook of International Law*, vol. 24 (1993), pp. 17–79.
- TOBIN, H. J., *The Termination of Multipartite Treaties*, New York, Columbia University Press, 1933, pp. 13–193.
- VÖNEKY, S., "A new shield for the environment: peacetime treaties as legal restraints of wartime damage", *Review of European Community and International Environmental Law*, vol. 9, No. 1 (2000), pp. 20–32.
- State responsibility for environmental damages caused by war", in J. Austin and C. Bruch (eds.), *The Environmental Consequences of War*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 2000, pp. 190–225.
- WALKER, G. K., "Information warfare and neutrality", *Vanderbilt Journal of Transnational Law*, vol. 33, No. 5 (November 2000), pp. 1079–1202, at pp. 1135–1141.

- "The interface of criminal jurisdiction and actions under the United Nations Charter with admiralty law", *Tulane Maritime Law Journal*, vol. 20, No. 2 (1996), pp. 217–256.
- ——, "Integration and disintegration in Europe: reordering the treaty map of the Continent", *Transnational Lawyer [Pacific McGeorge Global Business and Development Law Journal*], vol. 6 (1993), pp. 1–79, at pp. 57–79.
- "Effects of war upon treaties and international conventions: a project adopted by the Institute of International Law at its Session in Christiania in August 1912" (editorial comment), AJIL, vol. 7 (1913), pp. 149–155.
- "The effects of armed conflicts on treaties", *Yearbook of the Institute of International Law*, vol. 59-I (Session of Dijon, 1981), pp. 201–284; vol. 59-II, pp. 175–245; vol. 61-I (Session of Helsinki, 1985), pp. 1–27; vol. 61-II, pp. 199–255 ["Institute of International Law study"].
- "The effects of war on treaties", proposed study of the British Institute of International and Comparative Law. This proposed comprehensive study of State practice and doctrine on the effects of armed conflict on treaties, concentrating on the period from 1945 to the present, is expected to produce a book of more than 300 pages. The editors of the latest draft edition of Oppenheim's International Law, volume II (Sir Arthur Watts and Professor Christopher Greenwood), have not yet begun work on the topic and are content for the Institute to carry out the study. In an e-mailed message dated 22 March 2004, Susan C. Breau, Dorset Fellow in Public International Law and Director of the Commonwealth Legal Advisory Service at the British Institute of International and Comparative Law, stated that the study is currently on hold due to resource constraints.
- "Privilege of alien enemies to inherit under treaty" (note), *Yale Law Journal*, vol. 30, No. 2 (December 1920), pp. 176–180.

B. Books, treatises and theses

- AMERICAN LAW INSTITUTE, Restatement (Third) of the Foreign Relations Law of the United States, St. Paul, Minnesota, 1987, vol. 1, sect. 336 (e) and reporters' notes 2 and 4.
- Aust, A., *Modern Treaty Law and Practice*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 2000, pp. 243–244.
- BAXTER, R. R., *The Law of International Waterways—With Particular Regard to Interoceanic Canals*, Cambridge, Massachusetts, Harvard University Press, 1964 (a full discussion of the effect of war on transit though waterways).
- Brownlie, I. (ed.), *Principles of Public International Law*, 6th ed., Oxford, Oxford University Press, 2003, p. 592.

- DAILLIER, P., and A. PELLET, *Droit international public*, 5th ed., Paris, Librairie générale de droit et de jurisprudence, 1994, pp. 303–305.
- Delbrück, J., "War, effect on treaties", *in* R. Bernhardt (ed.), *Encyclopedia of Public International Law*, vol. 4, Amsterdam, Elsevier, 2000, pp. 1367–1373.
- ERADES, L., De Invloed van Oorlog op de Geldigheid van Verdragen, Rijksuniversiteit, Leiden, 1938, (an exhaustive 400-page doctoral thesis on the effect of armed conflict on treaties surveying all available provisions governing the issue up to 1938, abundant data on State practice, official Government statements, and case law going back to the seventeenth century. Contrary to the title, the study relates more to the suspension/termination of treaties in armed conflict than to their validity).
- GIALDINO, A. C., Gli Effetti della Guerra sui Trattati, Milan, Giuffrè, 1959.
- HENKIN, L., Foreign Affairs and the Constitution, Mineola, New York, The Foundation Press, 1972, p. 80 ("[W]ar terminates relations with the enemy, and abrogates or suspends treaty obligations and the bulk of rights and duties under international law").
- HULME, K., War Torn Environment: Interpreting the Legal Threshold, Leiden, Martinus Nijhoff, 2004.
- JACOMET, R., La guerre et les traités: Étude de droit international et d'histoire diplomatique, Paris, H. Charles-Lavauzelle, 1909.
- Jennings, R., and A. Watts (eds.), *Oppenheim's International Law*, 9th ed., vol. I, *Peace*, Harlow, Longman, 1992, p. 1310 (current edition, which includes very little material and refers to 7th edition).
- Kelsen, H., *Principles of International Law*, 2nd rev. ed. (R. W. Tucker, ed.), New York, Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1966, pp. 499–501.
- McIntyre, S. H., Legal Effect of World War II on Treaties of the United States, The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1958 (claims to be the first full treatment of the effect of a particular armed conflict on all the treaties of a particular country).
- McNair, A. D., and A. D. Watts, *The Legal Effects of War*, 4th ed., Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1966.
- OPPENHEIM, L., *International Law: A Treatise*, 7th ed., publication directed by H. Lauterpacht, London, Longmans, 1952, vol. II, *Disputes, War and Neutrality*, pp. 302–306.
- RÄNK, R., Einwirkung des Krieges auf die nichtpolitischen Staatsverträge, Uppsala, Svenska Institutet för Internationell Rätt, 1949.
- ROSENNE, S., *Developments in the Law of Treaties 1945–1986*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1989, pp. 68–72.

- Schwarzenberger, G., *International Law as Applied by International Courts and Tribunals*, vol. II, London, Stevens and Sons, 1968, pp. 71–74 (discussing the dissenting opinion in the *North Atlantic Coast Fisheries* case of 1910 before the Permanent Court of Arbitration, arguing that commerce and communications treaties inconsistent with the duties of national defence or neutrality would be terminated by armed conflict).
- ———, *A Manual of International Law*, 5th ed., London, Stevens and Sons, 1967, pp. 190–196.
- SHEARER, I. A. (ed.), *Starke's International Law*, 11th ed., London, Butterworths, 1994, pp. 492–494.
- STARKE, J. G., An Introduction to International Law, 5th ed., London, Butterworths, 1963, pp. 408–410.
- Stone, J., Legal Controls of International Conflict: A Treatise on the Dynamics of Disputes- and War-Law, London, Stevens and Sons, 1959, pp. 447–450.
- "Study of the legal validity of the undertakings concerning minorities", Commission on Human Rights, sixth session (1950), E/CN.4/367 and Corr.1 and Add.1, pp. 7–9.
- VERZIJL, J. H. W. (ed.), International Law in Historical Perspective, vol. VI: Juridical Facts as Sources of International Rights and Obligations, Leiden, Sijthoff, 1973, pp. 371–391.
- VÖNEKY, S., *The Applicability of Peacetime Environmental Law in International Armed Conflicts*, Berlin, Springer, 2001, pp. 193–211 (dealing with the effect of armed conflict on treaties generally), pp. 312–545 (dealing specifically with the effect of armed conflict on environmental treaties), pp. 546–579 (extensive bibliography) and pp. 543–546 (summary in English).
- ———, Doctoral thesis on the application of environmental treaties during wartime, Max Planck Institute for Comparative Public Law and International Law (Heidelberg, circa 2000).
- WHITEMAN, M. M. (ed.), *Digest of International Law*, Washington, D.C., Department of State Publications, vol. 14 (1970), pp. 490–510.
- Opinion of Acting Attorney General Francis Biddle on Suspension of the International Load Line Convention, in J. T. Fowler (ed.), Official Opinions of the Attorneys General of the United States advising the President and Heads of Departments in relation to their Official Duties, Washington, D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1949, vol. 40, opinion No. 24, pp. 119–124.

C. References to the topic in national journals

Annuaire français de droit international (AFDI)

- Vol. 31 (1985), pp. 1228–1230 (describing the Institute of International Law study).
- Vol. 12 (1966), pp. 658–660 (describing an appellate case in Madagascar).

- Vol. 6 (1960), p. 140 (describing United Kingdom declaration that the First World War abrogated a treaty, leading to United Kingdom acquisition of Cyprus).
- Vol. 5 (1959), pp. 784 and 794–796 (describing the effect of armed conflict on treaties as a part of *rebus sic stantibus*).
- Vol. 4 (1958), pp. 775–776 (describing French practice).
- Vol. 3 (1957), p. 694 (describing French practice).
- Vol. 2 (1956), p. 727 (describing French practice).
- Vol. 1 (1955), p. 550 (describing French practice).

British Year Book of International Law (BYBIL)

- 1997, vol. 68, p. 181, at pp. 183–186 (analysing the effect of armed conflict on environmental treaties and the International Court of Justice's advisory opinion on Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons).
- 1991, vol. 62, p. 119, at pp. 268–271 (discussing the effect of armed conflict on treaties in the context of Judge Jennings's dissenting opinion in the International Court of Justice *Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua* case).
- 1983, vol. 54, p. 370 (Government of the United Kingdom declares that the Nootka Sound Convention of 1790 was terminated in 1795 as a result of war between Great Britain and Spain).
- 1981, vol. 52, p. 171, at pp. 199–200 (commentator arguing that extradition treaties do not survive war).
- 1976–1977, vol. 48, pp. 333–335 (judgment holding the Convention on the Execution of Foreign Arbitral Awards of 1927 was not terminated by the Second World War).

Italian Yearbook of International Law

Vol. 1 (1975), pp. 232–233 (discussing judgment of the Court of Cassation in *Lanificio Branditex v. Società Azais e Vidal*, holding that the effects of war are limited to suspending and not terminating treaties unless the treaty becomes "absolutely and finally impossible" to carry out, and the judgment of the Court of Appeal of Milan in *In re Barnaton Levy and Suster Brucker*, holding an extradition treaty to be terminated by the Second World War).

Anuario de Derecho Internacional (Spain)

Vol. 10 (1994), pp. 487–488 (reporting Spain's suspension of three visa-waiver treaties with countries of the former Yugoslavia at the time of the armed conflict in that region).

International Law Reports (ILR)

Vol. 96 (1994), pp. 279 and 305 (arbitral tribunal decision between a private company and the Republic of Burundi citing the Institute of International Law resolution of 1985 on the effects of armed conflicts on

- treaties to argue that because armed conflict does not *ipso facto* terminate or suspend treaties, then the mere severance of diplomatic relations should not affect treaties either).
- Vol. 91 (1993), pp. 386–393 (discussing a case in the Supreme Court of Seychelles holding that an extradition treaty was suspended but not terminated by the Second World War).

Australian Year Book of International Law

Vol. 2 (1966), pp. 155–156 (discussing the effect of the cold war on treaties).

Digest of United States Practice in International Law

- 1978, pp. 765–766 (discussing a United States case).
- 1977, pp. 405–411 (discussing a United States case and a Canadian case).
- 1976, pp. 236-240 (discussing a United States case).

American Journal of International Law (AJIL)

- Vol. 61 (1967), p. 261 (discussing the consideration of the topic by the Commission in the course of the preparation of the draft articles on the law of treaties).
- Vol. 53 (1959), pp. 711–712 (book review of *Legal Effect of World War II on Treaties of the United States*, by Stuart Hull McIntyre, The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1958).
- Vol. 53 (1959), pp. 987–988 (book review of *Gli Effetti della Guerra sui Trattati* by Agostino Curti Gialdino, Milan, Giuffrè, 1959).
- Vol. 51 (1957), pp. 634–637 (reporting on a United States case).
- Vol. 50 (1956), pp. 140–144 (reporting two United States cases).
- Vol. 49 (1955), pp. 90–93 (reporting a United States case).

- Vol. 49 (1955), pp. 424–425 (discussing a United States case and citing several European cases).
- Vol. 49 (1955), p. 583 (discussing a German case).
- Vol. 48 (1954), pp. 247–251 (commentator discussing the issue).
- Vol. 46 (1952), pp. 532–537 (commentators discussing the issue in the context of the Peace Treaty with Japan at the conclusion of the Second World War).
- Vol. 46 (1952), pp. 573–575 (discussing a United States case).
- Vol. 45 (1951), pp. 205–206 (book review of *Einwirkung des Krieges auf die nichtpolitischen Staatsverträge* by Richard Ränk, Uppsala, Svenska Institutet för Internationell Rätt, 1949).
- Vol. 43 (1949), pp. 177–178 (discussing a United States case).
- Vol. 43 (1949), pp. 184–185 (discussing a United States case).
- Vol. 43 (1949), pp. 819-820 (discussing a French case).
- Vol. 42 (1948), pp. 201–208 (reporting a United States case).
- Vol. 36 (1942), pp. 89–96 (describing the United States' suspension of the International Load Line Convention during the Second World War based on the *rebus sic stantibus* doctrine).
- Vol. 26 (1932), pp. 582–586 (commentator discussing the effect of war on the Treaty of Commerce and Navigation between the United States of America and Prussia of 1928).
- Vol. 23 (1929), pp. 602–605 (discussing a United States case).
- Vol. 6 (1912), pp. 765–766 (book review of *La guerre et les traités: Étude de droit international et d'histoire diplomatique* by Robert Jacomet, Paris, H. Charles-Lavauzelle, 1909).

CHECKLIST OF DOCUMENTS OF THE FIFTY-SEVENTH SESSION

Document	Title	Observations and references
A/CN.4/546	Sixth report on diplomatic protection, by Mr. John Dugard, Special Rapporteur	Reproduced in <i>Yearbook</i> 2005, vol. II (Part One).
A/CN.4/547	Responsibility of international organizations: comments and observations received from Governmentss	Idem.
A/CN.4/548	Provisional agenda	Mimeographed. For agenda as adopted, see <i>Yearbook</i> 2005, vol. II (Part Two), p. 10.
A/CN.4/549 and Add.1	Topical summary of the discussion held in the Sixth Committee of the General Assembly during its fifty-ninth session, prepared by the Secretariat	Mimeographed.
A/CN.4/550 [and Corr.1-2]	The effect of armed conflict on treaties—an examination of practice and doctrine: a memorandum prepared by the Secretariat	<i>Idem</i> . The final text appears in the present volume.
A/CN.4/551 and Add.1	Third report on shared natural resources: transboundary groundwaters, by Mr. Chusei Yamada, Special Rapporteur	Reproduced in <i>Yearbook 2005</i> , vol. II (Part One).
A/CN.4/552	First report on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties, by Mr. Ian Brownlie, Special Rapporteur	Idem.
A/CN.4/553	Third report on responsibility of international organizations, by Mr. Giorgio Gaja, Special Rapporteur	Idem.
A/CN.4/554	Preliminary report on the expulsion of aliens, by Mr. Maurice Kamto	Idem.
A/CN.4/555 and Add.1	Shared natural resources: comments and observations received from Governments and relevant intergovernmental organizations	Idem.
A/CN.4/556	Responsibility of international organizations: comments and observations received from Governments and international organizations	Idem.
A/CN.4/557	Eighth report on unilateral acts of States, by Mr. Víctor Rodríguez Cedeño, Special Rapporteur	Idem.
A/CN.4/558 [and Corr.1] and Add.1 [and Corr.1]–2	Tenth report on reservations to treaties, by Mr. Alain Pellet, Special Rapporteur	Idem.
A/CN.4/L.665	Reservations to treaties: titles and texts of the draft guidelines adopted by the Drafting Committee	Mimeographed. See also <i>Yearbook</i> 2005, vol. I, summary record of the 2842nd meeting (para. 50).
A/CN.4/L.666/Rev.1	Responsibility of international organizations: titles and texts of the draft articles adopted by the Drafting Committee	<i>Idem</i> , summary record of the 2848th meeting (para. 1).
A/CN.4/L.667	Draft report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-seventh session: chapter IV (Shared natural resources)	Mimeographed. For the adopted text, see <i>Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Supplement No. 10</i> (A/60/10). The final text appears in <i>Yearbook</i> 2005, vol. II (Part Two).
A/CN.4/L.668	Idem: chapter V (Effects of armed conflicts on treaties)	Idem.
A/CN.4/L.669 and Add.1	Idem: chapter VI (Responsibility of international organizations)	Idem.

Document	Title	Observations and references
A/CN.4/L.670	Idem: chapter VII (Diplomatic protection)	Idem.
A/CN.4/L.671 and Add.1–2 [and Corr.1]	<i>Idem</i> : chapter X (Reservations to treaties)	Idem.
A/CN.4/L.672 and Add.1-2	Idem: chapter IX (Unilateral acts of States)	Idem.
A/CN.4/L.673	Idem: chapter I (Organization of the session)	Idem.
A/CN.4/L.674	Idem: chapter VIII (Expulsion of aliens)	Idem.
A/CN.4/L.675 [and Corr.1]	Programme, procedures and working methods of the Commission, and its documentation: report of the Planning Group	Mimeographed.
A/CN.4/L.676 [and Corr.1]	Report of the Study Group on fragmentation of international law: difficulties arising from the diversification and expansion of international law	<i>Idem.</i> Reproduced in <i>Yearbook</i> 2005, vol. II (Part Two), chap. XI, sect. C.
A/CN.4/L.677	Draft report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-seventh session: chapter XI (Fragmentation of international law: difficulties arising from the diversification and expansion of international law)	Mimeographed. For the adopted text, see Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Supplement No. 10 (A/60/10). The final text appears in Yearbook 2005, vol. II (Part Two).
A/CN.4/L.678	<i>Idem</i> : chapter XII (Other decisions and conclusions of the Commission)	Idem.
A/CN.4/L.679	<i>Idem</i> : chapter II (Summary of the work of the Commission at its fifty-seventh session)	Idem.
A/CN.4/L.680	<i>Idem</i> : chapter III (Specific issues on which comments would be of particular interest to the Commission)	Idem.
A/CN.4/L.681[and Corr.1]	Report of the Working Group on shared natural resources (groundwaters)	Mimeographed.
A/CN.4/SR.2831– A/CN.4/SR.2866	Provisional summary records of the 2831st to 2866th meetings	Idem. The final text appears in Yearbook 2005, vol. I.